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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
Dear Shareholders, 

My Hearty Greetings to all of you!

It gives me great pleasure in placing before you the 28th Annual Report of the Company for the financial year  
2023-24 and to present the financials for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

I am pleased to inform you that during the year ended 31.03.2024 the company achieved a total income of  `403 
crores and Net Profit was ̀ 44 crores. I assure you that the Board of Directors are taking corrective action to improve 
the patient care, patient satisfaction and patients’ confidence. I am pleased to announce that the Board of Directors 
has decided to recommend a dividend of `1.70 per share (17%) and the dividend will be disbursed immediately after 
approval at the ensuing annual general meeting. 

During the year under report, we have delivered health care services to 3,40,852 out-patients and 20,932  
in-patient’s. During the year, the number of international patient’s also gone up from 20,047 to 20074. The major 
contributors of the revenue were from Nephrology, Medical Oncology, Orthopedics, GI Surgery, Neuro Surgery, 
Urology and transplant, Cardiology and Surgical Oncology. 

The Kozhikode Medical Centre during the reporting year provided healthcare delivery to over 24000  
patients compared to 12000 of the previous year.   

During the reporting year more importance was given to digitalization to achieve better patient satisfaction and few 
measures that were implemented include introduction of AI Chat GPT for appointment, registration, lab reports, 
feedback collection etc. I am happy to inform you that all invoices have been digitalized and the patients have been 
given option to choose between physical or digital bill. Also, we have started WhatsApp payment gateway and 
messaging gate way for digital marketing. 

The outlook for the current financial year (2024-25) looks good for healthcare sector. The major focus during the 
year would be adding new specialties, promoting robotic surgery systems, strengthening the marketing of the 
existing facilities, conversion of all patient files to electronic medical records (EMR), renovation of main building etc.

During the financial year ended March 31, 2024, we had spent `66 lakhs for CSR activities and the funds were 
mainly utilised for projects related to education, care for women, preventive healthcare, support to senior citizens, 
support to oncology patients and other community support projects. During the reporting year a CSR project called 
“Ammakkoru Karuthal” (Care for Mothers) at a total cost of over `40 lakhs was initiated on all Kerala basis. Under 
the said project Gynecology, Urology and Gynec Oncology check-ups and free treatment to economically backward 
mothers are offered and so far, three medical camps were completed and free surgeries were provided to over 50 
mothers so far. The project was well accepted by the public. 

We have also provided concession in treatment charges amounting to `12.67 crores during the reporting year  
(`9.08 crores previous year) to the needy and economically backward patients. 

I would like to express my sincere thanks to all our doctors, nurses and support staff for their excellent service and 
with their support, I am sure that the company will reach greater heights. 

On behalf of the Company, I thank all the shareholders, the Board of Directors, Bankers, the Central and State 
Governments for their support. I look forward to your continued support in the years ahead. 

My warm personal regards to all of you,
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 NOTICE
Notice is hereby given that the 28th Annual General Meeting of the members of the company will be held at 12.00 Noon (IST) on 
Saturday, the 28th September 2024 through Video Conferencing (VC) to transact the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. Adoption of Accounts, Report of Board of Directors and Auditors thereon.
 To receive, consider and adopt audited financial statements (including consolidated financial statements) for the year ended 

March 31, 2024 together with the Report of the Board of Directors and Independent Auditors report thereon.

2. Declaration of Dividend.
 To declare dividend on equity shares. 

3. Re-appointment of Director.
 To appoint a director in the place of Mr. Job Varghese (DIN: 02839141) who retires by rotation in compliance with the 

provisions of Section 152 of the Companies Act, 2013 and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

4. Re-appointment of Director. 
 To appoint a director in the place of Mr. Kaivilayil Varghese Johny (DIN: 00903258) who retires by rotation in compliance with 

the provisions of Section 152 of the Companies Act, 2013 and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

5.  Remuneration to Cost Auditor:
 To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s) the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

 RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 148 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, and 
read with the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof, 
for the time being in force), M/s BBS & Associates, Cost Accountants, Kochi (FRN: 00273) the cost auditors appointed by the 
board of directors of the Company, to conduct the audit of cost records of the company for the financial year ending March 31, 
2025, be paid the remuneration of `1,25,000/- (Rupees one lakh twenty five thousand only) plus tax as applicable.

 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the board of directors of the company be and are hereby authorised to do all such acts and take 
such steps as may be necessary, proper or expedient to give effect to this resolution.

6. Appointment of Mr. Reuben George Joseph as an Independent Director:
 To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s) the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

 RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 150, 152, read with Schedule IV and other applicable provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) read with the Rules framed thereunder (including any statutory modification(s) or 
re-enactment(s) thereof, for the time being in force) Mr. Reuben George Joseph. (DIN: 02777012), who was appointed as 
an Additional Director with effect from August 08, 2024, who hold office up to the date of this Annual General Meeting in 
respect of whom the Company has received a notice in writing from a member under Section 160 of the Act, be and is hereby 
appointed as an Independent Director of the Company for a period of 3 (three) years till August 07, 2027, and that he shall not 
be liable to retire by rotation.
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7. Appointment of Mr. Hari Mohan Haritas as a Director.
 To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s) the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution:

 “RESOLVED THAT Mr. Hari Mohan Haritas, (DIN: 10650876), who was appointed as an Additional Director of the Company, by 
the Board of Directors with effect from 08th August 2024, under the provisions of Section 161 (1) of the Companies Act, 2013 
and other applicable provisions, if any, (including any modification or re-enactment thereof) and the Articles of Association 
of the Company and who hold office upto the date of this Annual General Meeting and in respect of whom the Company 
has received a notice in writing under Section 160 of the Act from a member proposing his candidature for the office of the 
director, be and is hereby appointed as a Director of the Company liable to retire by rotation.

By Order of the Board

Sd/-
R Muraleedharan

Company Secretary

NOTES:
1. A statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 relating to the Special Business to be transacted at the 

Meeting is annexed hereto.

2. In terms of the circulars issued by the MCA, a copy of the notice along with the Annual Reports for the financial year ended 31st 
March 2024 consisting of financial statements including Board’s Report, Auditor’s Report and other documents required to be 
attached therewith (collectively referred to as the Notice) have been sent to those members    whose-mail ids are registered 
with the Company or the Registrars & Share Transfer agents or the Depository Participant(s) through electronic means and 
no physical copy of the notice has been sent by the Company to any others. The Notice of the meeting and Annual Report are 
available on the website of the Company at www.vpslakeshorehospital.com

3. The Company has sent communication for all shareholders whose email addresses are not registered, for registering their 
email address with the Company. The members who have not yet registered their e-mail ids may sent their email ID’s to  
cs@lakeshorehospital.org for registering their email address.

4. In view of the MCA Circulars, no proxy shall be appointed by the members. However, Corporate Members are requested to 
send to the Company/RTA a duly certified copy of the Board Resolution authorizing their representative to attend and vote at 
the meeting through VC. 

5. The record date for the annual general meeting will be September 21, 2024. The register of members and share transfer 
books of the Company will be closed from September 22, 2024 to September 28, 2024 (both days inclusive) for the purpose 
of payment of dividend on equity shares subject to approval by the Members, at the 28th Annual General Meeting to be held 
on 28th September 2024.

6. Change of Address: Members are requested to notify any change of address, email address and bank details to their 
depository participants in respect of their holdings in electronic form and in respect of shares held in physical form, to the 
secretarial department at the registered office of the Company or to the Registrar and Share Transfer Agent, M/s. Integrated 
Registry Management Services Private Limited, 2nd Floor, Kences Towers, No: 1, Ramakrishna Street, North Usman Road, T. 
Nagar, Chennai - 600017. E-mail: corpserv@integratedindia.in  Members whose shareholdings are in electronic mode are 
requested to approach their respective depository participants for effecting change of address.

Place : Kochi

Date : 08th August 2024

Regd. Office: XVI/ 612, Maradu, 

Nettoor P.O, Kochi – 682040
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7. The Company has engaged CDSL to provide VC/OAVM facility to its shareholders for participation in the e-AGM.

8. Shareholders will be able to attend the AGM by using their e-Voting login credentials.

9. The deemed venue for the 28th AGM shall be the Registered office of the Company. 

10. All documents referred to in the accompanying Notice and Explanatory Statement setting out material facts are open for 
inspection by the members only in electronic format on all working days from 07th September 2024 to 27th September 2024 
between 02.00 PM and 05.00 PM up to the date of the 28th Annual General Meeting.

11. TDS on Dividend:

 Pursuant to amendment made to the provisions relating to taxability of dividend, in the Finance Act, 2020, dividend income 
is taxable in the hands of Shareholders w.e.f. April 01, 2020 and the Company is required to deduct tax at source on dividend 
paid to Shareholders at the prescribed rates. For prescribed rates of TDS on various categories of persons, the Shareholders 
are requested to refer the amended provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

 The Shareholders are requested to furnish their PAN to the Company (in case of shares held in physical mode) or to the 
Depositories (in case of shares held in demat mode). A Resident individual Shareholder with PAN, enjoying exemption under 
one or the other provisions of the Income Tax Act can submit a yearly declaration in Form No.15G/15H, to avail the benefit of 
non-deduction of tax at source, by email to Company at the email Id: cs@lakeshorehospital.org on or before 21st September 
2024.  Shareholders are requested to note that in case their PAN is not furnished, the tax will be deducted at a higher rate of 20%.

 Non-resident Shareholders can avail beneficial rates under tax treaty between India and their country of residence, subject 
to providing necessary documents viz., declaration of No Permanent Establishment in India and declaration of Beneficial 
Ownership, Tax Residency Certificate (TRC), Form 10F, any other document which may be required to avail the tax treaty 
benefits, by sending an email to the company at the email  Id: cs@lakeshorehospital.org on or before 21st September 2024. 

12. Dividend of prior years: In terms of Sections 124 of the Companies Act, 2013, the dividend which remains unclaimed for a 
period of seven years from the date of transfer to the Unpaid Dividend Account is required to be transferred to the “Investor 
Education and Protection Fund” established by the Central Government. According to the relevant provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013, no claim shall lie against the said Fund or the Company for the amount of dividend so transferred to the said Fund. 
Members, who have not encashed the dividend warrant so far for the Financial Year ended 31st March 2021, 31st March 2022 
and 31st March 2023 are requested to send their claim directly to the Company.

13. Pursuant to the provisions of Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) 
Rules, 2016 the Company has uploaded the details of unpaid and unclaimed dividend lying with the Company as on  
29th September 2023. (Date of last annual general Meeting) on the website of the Company (www.vpslakeshorehospital.
com/investors zone/Details of Unpaid or Unclaimed Dividend) and on the website of the Ministry of Corporate Affairs. 

14. Members holding shares in physical form are requested to consider converting their holding to dematerialized form to eliminate 
all risks associated with physical shares and for ease in portfolio management. Members can contact the Company or to  
M/s Integrated Registry Management Services Private Limited. The Company entered into agreement with NSDL and CDSL 
to enable Members to demat and hold the shares of the Company in electronic form. Any member desirous to dematerialise 
his holding may do so through any of the depository participants who is connected to NSDL & CDSL. The ISIN of the equity 
shares of the Company is INE01TI01010.
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CDSL E-VOTING SYSTEM – FOR E-VOTING AND JOINING VIRTUAL MEETINGS.

1. Pursuant to the General Circular Nos. 20/2020 dated 05.05.2020, No.14/2020 dated 08.04.2020; 17/2020 dated 
13.04.2020; 22/2020 dated 15.06.2020; 33/2020 dated 28.09.2020; 39/2020 dated 31.12.2020; 10/2021 dated 
23.06.2021; 20/2021 dated 08.12.2021; 03/2022 dated 05.05.2022, 10/2022 and 11/2022 dated 28.12.2022 and 
09/2023 dated 25.09.2023 issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) , Companies are allowed to hold AGM through 
Video Conferencing (VC), without the physical presence of members at a common venue. In compliance with the above 
Circulars the AGM of the Members of the Company is being held through VC.

2. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the Companies (Management 
and Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended) and MCA Circulars dated April 08, 2020, April 13, 2020, May 05, 2020, May 
05 2022, December 28, 2022 and 25.09.2023 and the Company is providing facility of remote e-voting to its Members in 
respect of the business to be transacted at the AGM/EGM. For this purpose, the Company has entered into an agreement 
with Central Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) for facilitating voting through electronic means, as the authorized                        
e-Voting’s agency. The facility of casting votes by a member using remote e-voting as well as the e-voting system on the 
date of the EGM/AGM will be provided by CDSL.

3. The Members can join the AGM in the VC/OAVM mode 15 minutes before and after the scheduled time of the commencement 
of the Meeting by following the procedure mentioned in the Notice. The facility of participation at the EGM/AGM through VC/
OAVM will be made available to at least 1000 members on first come first served basis. This will not include large Shareholders 
(Shareholders holding 2% or more shareholding), Promoters, Institutional Investors, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, the 
Chairpersons of the Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Stakeholders Relationship Committee, 
Auditors etc. who are allowed to attend the EGM/AGM without restriction on account of first come first served basis.

4. The attendance of the Members attending the AGM through VC/OAVM will be counted for the purpose of ascertaining the 
quorum under Section 103 of the Companies Act, 2013.

5. Pursuant to MCA Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 08, 2020, the facility to appoint proxy to attend and cast vote for the 
members is not available for this AGM/EGM. However, in pursuance of Section 112 and Section 113 of the Companies Act, 
2013, representatives of the members such as the President of India or the Governor of a State or body corporate can attend 
the AGM/EGM through VC/OAVM and cast their votes through e-voting.

6. In line with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) Circular No. 17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, the Notice calling the AGM/EGM 
has been uploaded on the website of the Company at www.vpslakshorehospitl.org. The AGM/EGM Notice is also disseminated 
on the website of CDSL (agency for providing the Remote e-Voting facility and e-voting system during the AGM/EGM) i.e. 
www.evotingindia.com.

7. The AGM/EGM has been convened through VC/OAVM in compliance with applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
read with MCA Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 8, 2020 and MCA Circular No. 17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, MCA Circular 
No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020, Circular No. 02/2022 dated May 05, 2022 and Circular No. 10/2022 dated December 
20, 2022.

8. In continuation of this Ministry’s General Circular No. 20/2020, dated 05th May, 2020 and General Circular No. 02/2022 
dated 05th May, 2022 and Circular No.09/2023 dated 25th September 2023 after due examination, it has been decided 
to allow companies whose AGMs were due to be held in the year 2024,to conduct their AGMs on or before 30.09.2024, in 
accordance with the requirements provided in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the General Circular No. 10/2022.
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Voting Process and Instructions: Remote e-Voting (Voting through electronic means)

(i) In compliance with provisions of Section 108 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 20 and Rule 22 of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 the Company is pleased to provide its Members facility to exercise their 
right to vote at the 28th Annual General Meeting (AGM) by electronic means. The facility of casting votes by a member using 
an electronic voting system from a place other than the venue of the AGM (remote e-Voting) will be provided by Central 
Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) and the items of business as detailed in this Notice may be transacted through 
remote e-Voting. 

(ii) A person whose name is recorded in the Register of Members or in the Register of Beneficial owners maintained by the 
depositories as on the cut-off date of September 21, 2024 only shall be entitled to avail the facility of Remote e-Voting.

(iii) The Members who have cast their votes through Remote e-Voting prior to the AGM may also attend / participate in the AGM 
through VC, but shall not be entitled to cast their vote again.

(iv) The Remote e-voting period commences on September 25, 2024 (9:00 AM) and ends on September 27, 2024 (5:00 PM).  
During this period, Members of the Company holding shares either in physical form or in dematerialised form, as on the  
cut-off date of September 21, 2024, may cast their vote electronically. The Remote e-Voting module shall be disabled by 
CDSL for voting thereafter.

(v) The voting rights of Members shall be in proportion to their share of the Paid-up Equity Share Capital of the Company as on 
the cut-off date of September 21, 2024. 

THE INTRUCTIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS FOR E-VOTING AND JOINING VIRTUAL MEETINGS ARE AS UNDER:

Step 1 : Access through Depositories CDSL/NSDL e-Voting system in case of individual shareholders holding shares in demat 
mode. 

Step 2 : Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical mode and non-individual 
shareholders in demat mode. 

 (i) The venue voting begins at 12.00 noon on Saturday, 28th September 2024 and ends at 02.00 PM During this period 
shareholders of the Company, holding shares either in physical form or in dematerialized form, as on the cut-off date 
(record date) of 21st September 2024 may cast their vote electronically. The e-voting module shall be disabled by CDSL 
for voting thereafter.

 (ii) Shareholders who have already voted prior to the meeting date would not be entitled to vote at the meeting venue.

 (iii) Pursuant to SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated 09.12.2020, under Regulation 44 of 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, listed 
entities are required to provide remote e-voting facility to its shareholders, in respect of all shareholders’ resolutions. 
However, it has been observed that the participation by the public non-institutional shareholders/retail shareholders is 
at a negligible level. 

  Currently, there are multiple e-voting service providers (ESPs) providing e-voting facility to listed entities in India. This 
necessitates registration on various ESPs and maintenance of multiple user IDs and passwords by the shareholders. 

  In order to increase the efficiency of the voting process, pursuant to a public consultation, it has been decided to enable 
e-voting to all the demat account holders, by way of a single login credential, through their demat accounts/ 
websites of Depositories/ Depository Participants. Demat account holders would be able to cast their vote without 
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having to register again with the ESPs, thereby, not only facilitating seamless authentication but also enhancing ease 
and convenience of participating in e-voting process. 

 (iv) In terms of SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated December 9, 2020 on e-Voting facility 
provided by Listed Companies, Individual shareholders holding securities in demat mode are allowed to vote through 
their demat account maintained with Depositories and Depository Participants. Shareholders are advised to update 
their mobile number and email Id in their demat accounts in order to access e-Voting facility.

Pursuant to abovesaid SEBI Circular, Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for Individual shareholders holding 
securities in Demat mode CDSL/NSDL is given below:

Type of shareholders  Login Method
Individual 
Shareholders holding 
securities in Demat 
mode with CDSL 
Depository

1) Users who have opted for CDSL Easi / Easiest facility, can login through their existing user id and 
password. Option will be made available to reach e-Voting page without any further authentication. 
The users to login to Easi / Easiest are requested to visit CDSL website www.cdslindia.com and click 
on login icon & New System Myeasi Tab.

2) After successful login the Easi / Easiest user will be able to see the e-Voting option for eligible 
companies where the e-voting is in progress as per the information provided by company. On clicking 
the evoting option, the user will be able to see e-Voting page of the e-Voting service provider for casting 
your vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting. 
Additionally, there is also links provided to access the system of all e-Voting Service Providers, so that 
the user can visit the e-Voting service providers’ website directly.

3) If the user is not registered for Easi/Easiest, option to register is available at cdsl website www.
cdslindia.com and click on login & New System Myeasi Tab and then click on registration option.

4) Alternatively, the user can directly access e-Voting page by providing Demat Account Number 
and PAN No. from a e-Voting link available on  www.cdslindia.com home page. The system will 
authenticate the user by sending OTP on registered Mobile & Email as recorded in the Demat Account. 
After successful authentication, user will be able to see the e-Voting option where the evoting is in 
progress and also able to directly access the system of all e-Voting Service Providers.

Individual 
Shareholders holding 
securities in demat 
mode with NSDL 
Depository

1) If you are already registered for NSDL IDeAS facility, please visit the e-Services website of NSDL. Open 
web browser by typing the following URL: https://eservices.nsdl.com either on a Personal Computer 
or on a mobile. Once the home page of e-Services is launched, click on the “Beneficial Owner” icon 
under “Login” which is available under ‘IDeAS’ section. A new screen will open. You will have to enter 
your User ID and Password. After successful authentication, you will be able to see e-Voting services. 
Click on “Access to e-Voting” under e-Voting services and you will be able to see e-Voting page. Click 
on company name or e-Voting service provider name and you will be re-directed to e-Voting service 
provider website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & 
voting during the meeting.

2) If the user is not registered for IDeAS e-Services, option to register is available at https://eservices.nsdl.
com.  Select “Register Online for IDeAS “Portal or click   at https://eservices.nsdl.com/SecureWeb/
IdeasDirectReg.jsp
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Individual 
Shareholders holding 
securities in demat 
mode with NSDL 
Depository

3) Visit the e-Voting website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following URL: https://www.
evoting.nsdl.com/ either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. Once the home page of e-Voting 
system is launched, click on the icon “Login” which is available under ‘Shareholder/Member’ section. A 
new screen will open. You will have to enter your User ID (i.e. your sixteen digit demat account number 
hold with NSDL), Password/OTP and a Verification Code as shown on the screen. After successful 
authentication, you will be redirected to NSDL Depository site wherein you can see e-Voting page. 
Click on company name or e-Voting service provider name and you will be redirected to e-Voting 
service provider website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual 
meeting & voting during the meeting.

Individual 
Shareholders (holding 
securities in demat 
mode) login through 
their Depository 
Participants (DP)

You can also login using the login credentials of your demat account through your Depository 
Participant registered with NSDL/CDSL for e-Voting facility.  After Successful login, you will be 
able to see e-Voting option. Once you click on e-Voting option, you will be redirected to NSDL/
CDSL Depository site after successful authentication, wherein you can see e-Voting feature. Click 
on company name or e-Voting service provider name and you will be redirected to e-Voting service 
provider website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & 
voting during the meeting.

Important note : Members who are unable to retrieve User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget User ID and Forget Password 
option available at above mentioned website.

Helpdesk for Individual Shareholders holding securities in demat mode for any technical issues related to login through 
Depository i.e. CDSL and NSDL

Login type Helpdesk details

Individual Shareholders holding securities in 
Demat mode with CDSL

Members facing any technical issue in login can contact CDSL helpdesk by 
sending a request at helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 
1800 21 09911 

Individual Shareholders holding securities in 
Demat mode with NSDL

Members facing any technical issue in login can contact NSDL helpdesk by 
sending a request at evoting@nsdl.co.in or call at : 022 - 4886 7000 and 022 
- 2499 7000.

Step 2 : Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical mode and non-individual 
shareholders in demat mode.

 (v) Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for Physical shareholders and shareholders other than 
individual holding in Demat form.

 1) The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com

 2) Click on “Shareholders” module.

 3) Now enter your User ID 

  a. For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID, 

  b. For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID, 

  c. Shareholders holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered with the Company.
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 4) Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.

 5) If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted on an earlier e-voting of 
any company, then your existing password is to be used. 

 6) If you are a first-time user follow the steps given below:

For Physical shareholders and other than individual shareholders holding shares in Demat.

PAN

Enter your 10-digit alpha-numeric *PAN issued by Income Tax Department (Applicable for both demat 
shareholders as well as physical shareholders)

•	 Shareholders who have not updated their PAN with the Company/Depository Participant are requested 
to use the sequence number sent by Company/RTA or contact Company/RTA.

Dividend Bank 
Details  
OR Date of Birth 
(DOB)

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) as recorded in your demat account or 
in the company records in order to login.

•	 If both the details are not recorded with the depository or company, please enter the member id / folio 
number in the Dividend Bank details field.

After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab.

8) Shareholders holding shares in physical form will then directly reach the Company selection screen. However, shareholders 
holding shares in demat form will now reach ‘Password Creation’ menu wherein they are required to mandatorily enter their 
login password in the new password field. Kindly note that this password is to be also used by the demat holders for voting for 
resolutions of any other company on which they are eligible to vote, provided that company opts for e-voting through CDSL 
platform. It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your 
password confidential.

9) For shareholders holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for e-voting on the resolutions contained in this 
Notice.

10) Click on the EVSN for the Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Limited on which you choose to vote.

11) On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against the same the option “YES/NO” for voting. Select 
the option YES or NO as desired. The option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution and option NO implies that you 
dissent to the Resolution.

12) Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire Resolution details.

13) After selecting the resolution, you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A confirmation box will be displayed. If you wish 
to confirm your vote, click on “OK”, else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and accordingly modify your vote.

14) Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

15) You can also take a print of the votes cast by clicking on “Click here to print” option on the Voting page.

16) If a demat account holder has forgotten the login password then Enter the User ID and the image verification code and click 
on Forgot Password & enter the details as prompted by the system.

17) There is also an optional provision to upload BR/POA if any uploaded, which will be made available to scrutinizer for verification.
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Additional Facility for Non – Individual Shareholders and Custodians –For Remote Voting only.

• Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodians are required to log on to  
www.evotingindia.com and register themselves in the “Corporates” module.

• A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp and sign of the entity should be emailed to helpdesk.evoting@
cdslindia.com

• After receiving the login details a Compliance User should be created using the admin login and password. The Compliance 
User would be able to link the account(s) for which they wish to vote on.

• The list of accounts linked in the login will be mapped automatically & can be delink in case of any wrong mapping.

• It is Mandatory that, a scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of Attorney (POA) which they have issued in favour of 
the Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF format in the system for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

• Alternatively, non-individual shareholders are required mandatory to send the relevant Board Resolution/ Authority letter 
etc. together with attested specimen signature of the duly authorized signatory who are authorized to vote, to the Scrutinizer 
and to the Company at the email address viz; cs@lakeshorehospital.org (designated email address by company), if they have 
voted from individual tab & not uploaded same in the CDSL e-voting system for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS ATTENDING THE AGM/EGM THROUGH VC/OAVM & E-VOTING DURING MEETING ARE 
AS UNDER:

1. The procedure for attending meeting & e-Voting on the day of the AGM/ EGM is same as the instructions mentioned above 
for e-voting.

2. The link for VC/OAVM to attend meeting will be available where the EVSN of Company will be displayed after successful login 
as per the instructions mentioned above for e-voting.

3. Shareholders who have voted through Remote e-Voting will be eligible to attend the meeting. However, they will not be 
eligible to vote at the AGM/EGM.

4. Shareholders are encouraged to join the Meeting through Laptops/IPads for better experience.

5. Further shareholders will be required to allow Camera and use Internet with a good speed to avoid any disturbance during the 
meeting.

6. Please note that Participants Connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptop connecting via Mobile Hotspot 
may experience Audio/Video loss due to Fluctuation in their respective network. It is therefore recommended to use Stable 
Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

7. Shareholders who would like to express their views/ask questions during the meeting may register themselves as a speaker 
by sending their request in advance at least three days prior to meeting mentioning their name, demat account number/
folio number, email id, mobile number at cs@lakeshorehospital.org. The shareholders who do not wish to speak during the 
AGM but have queries may send their queries in advance three days prior to meeting mentioning their name, demat account 
number/folio number, email id, mobile number at cs@lakeshorehospital.org These queries will be replied to by the company 
suitably by email. 

8. Those shareholders who have registered themselves as a speaker will only be allowed to express their views/ask questions 
during the meeting.
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9. Only those shareholders, who are present in the AGM/EGM through VC/OAVM facility and have not casted their vote on the 
Resolutions through remote e-Voting and are otherwise not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to vote through e-Voting 
system available during the EGM/AGM.

10. If any Votes are cast by the shareholders through the e-voting available during the EGM/AGM and if the same shareholders 
have not participated in the meeting through VC/OAVM facility, then the votes cast by such shareholders may be considered 
invalid as the facility of e-voting during the meeting is available only to the shareholders attending the meeting.

PROCESS FOR THOSE SHAREHOLDERS WHOSE EMAIL/MOBILE NO. ARE NOT REGISTERED WITH THE COMPANY/
DEPOSITORIES.

1. For Physical shareholders- please provide necessary details like Folio No., Name of shareholder, scanned copy of the share 
certificate (front and back), PAN (self-attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self-attested scanned copy of Aadhar 
Card) by email to Company/RTA email id.

2. For Demat shareholders -, Please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository Participant (DP) 

3. For Individual Demat shareholders - Please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository Participant 
(DP) which is mandatory while e-Voting & joining virtual meetings through Depository.

If you have any queries or issues regarding attending AGM & e-Voting from the CDSL e-Voting System, you can write an email to 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 1800 21 09911

All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be addressed to Mr. Rakesh Dalvi, Sr. Manager, (CDSL,) 
Central Depository Services (India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, Marathon Futurex, Mafatlal Mill Compounds, N M Joshi Marg, Lower 
Parel (East), Mumbai - 400013 or send an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or call  toll free no. 1800 21 09911.

PROCESS FOR THOSE SHAREHOLDERS WHO’S EMAIL/MOBILE NUMBERS ARE NOT REGISTERED WITH THE COMPANY/
DEPOSITORIES.

1. For Physical shareholders- please provide necessary details like Folio No., Name of shareholder, scanned copy of the share 
certificate (front and back), PAN (self attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self attested scanned copy of Aadhar 
Card) by email to Company/RTA email id.

2. For Demat shareholders - please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository Participant (DP) 

3. For Individual Demat shareholders – Please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository Participant 
(DP) which is mandatory while e-Voting & joining virtual meetings through Depository.

 If you have any queries or issues regarding attending AGM & e-Voting from the CDSL e-Voting System, you can write an email 
to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 1800 22 55 33.

 All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be addressed to Mr. Rakesh Dalvi, Sr. Manager, 
(CDSL, ) Central Depository Services (India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, Marathon Futurex, Mafatlal Mill Compounds, N M Joshi 
Marg, Lower Parel (East), Mumbai - 400013 or send an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or call  toll free no. 1800 22 
55 33.
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STATEMENT
(PURSUANT TO SECTION 102(1) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013)

ITEM NO. 05: Ratification of remuneration payable to Cost Auditor for the financial year 2024-25.

The Board, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee has approved the appointment of M/s BBS & Associates, Cost 
Accountants, Kochi (FRN:00273) as the Cost Auditor to conduct the audit of the cost records of the Company for the financial year 
ending 31.03.2025 on a remuneration of `1,25,000/- (Rupees One lakh Twenty-Five Thousand only) plus tax as applicable.

In terms of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, the remuneration 
payable to the cost auditors has to be ratified by the shareholders of the Company.

Accordingly, consent of the shareholders is sought for passing an ordinary resolution as set out at item No. 05 of the notice for 
ratification of the remuneration payable to the Cost Auditors for the financial year ending 31.03.2025.

No Director or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company or their relatives are concerned or interested in this item of business.

The Board of Directors recommends the aforesaid resolution for the approval by the members as an Ordinary Resolution.

ITEM NO. 06: Appointment of Mr Reuben George Joseph as an Independent Director of the Company.

The Board of Directors appointed Mr. Reuben George Joseph as an Additional/Independent Director of the Company on 
08.08.2024 in the vacancy cause due to retirement of Mr. A Janardhana Pai (DIN: 00115688) as Independent Director on 31.03.24.  
Mr Reuben George Joseph will hold office as such until conclusion ensuing Annual General Meeting. Necessary resolution for appointment  
of Mr Reuben George Joseph as an Independent Director for a term of three years is placed before the members for approval. 

Mr. Reuben George Joseph (DIN:02777012) is a Chartered Accountant by profession with over 19 years of extensive experience in 
audit, taxation, valuation, financial accounting and reporting also he is registered as Insolvency professional under Insolvency and 
Bankruptcy Board of India and also recognizes as a Registered Valuer for securities and financial assets under IBC. Mr Reuben George 
Joseph is a Partner with G. Joseph & Associates, Chartered Accountants, Kochi since April 2006.

Mr Reuben George Joseph has given his consent in writing to act as Independent Director in Form DIR-2 pursuant to Rule 8 of the  
Companies (Appointment & Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014. He has also given a declaration in Form DIR-8 in terms 
of Companies (Appointment & Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 to the effect that he is not disqualified under sub-section 
(2) of Section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013 and he has also furnished a declaration to the effect that he meets the criteria of 
independence as provided in sub-section (6) of Section 149 of the companies Act, 2013.

In the opinion of the Board, Mr. Reuben George Joseph fulfills the conditions specified in the Companies Act, 2013, and the Rules 
made thereunder and is independent of the management.

The resolution seeks the approval of members at item No.6 of the notice for the appointment of the notice for the appointment 
of Mr Reuben George Joseph as an Independent Director of the Company for a term of three years from 08th August 2024 to 07th 
August 2027 pursuant to Section 149 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made hereunder. The 
appointee shall not be liable to retire by rotation.

The copy of the letter of appointment of Mr Reuben George Joseph as an Independent Director would be available for inspection at the 
Registered Office of the company during normal business hours on any working day up to the date of the Annual General Meeting. The 
letter of appointment is also available on the website of the Company for the information of the shareholders.
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The Resolution seeks the approval of members at item No.6 of the notice for the appointment of Mr Reuben George Joseph as an 
Independent Director of the Company. 

No Director or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company or their relatives other than Mr Reuben George Joseph is concerned or 
interested in the said Resolution. Mr Reuben George Joseph is not related to any other Director or KMP of the Company. 

ITEM NO. 07: Appointment of Mr Hari Mohan Haritas as Director of the Company.

The Board of Directors of the Company, at their meeting held on August 08, 2024 appointed Mr Hari Mohan Haritas (DIN: 10650876) 
as an Additional Director of the Company who holds office upto the date of this Annual General meeting of the Company under 
Section 161 (1) of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and Article 103  of the Articles of Association of the Company, who is eligible 
for appointment in respect of whom the Company has received a notice in writing under Section 160 (1) of the Act, from a member 
proposing his candidature for appointment as a Director of the Company. 

The Board is of the view that the appointment of Mr. Hari Mohan Haritas (DIN:10650876) as the Director of the Company subject to 
the approval of the members would be desirable, beneficial and in the best interest of the Company.

Mr. Hari Mohan Haritas, a Chartered Accountant by profession, brings with him an experience over 35 years in healthcare industry 
in financial leadership role across India, Middle east including UAE, KSA and Oman and his association with the Company will be 
of immense value. Mr Hari Mohan is presently occupying the position of Group CFO of VPS Healthcare LLC, Dubai from May 2023 
onwards. 

Mr Hari Mohan has given his consent in writing to act as Director in Form DIR-2 pursuant to Rule 8 of the Companies (Appointment 
& Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014. He has also given a declaration in Form DIR-8 in terms of Companies (Appointment & 
Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 to the effect that he is not disqualified under sub-section (2) of Section 164 of the Companies 
Act, 2013.

The Resolution seeks the approval of members at item No.7 of the notice for the appointment of Mr Hari Mohan as a Director of the 
Company liable to retire by rotation. 

No Director or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company or their relatives other than Mr Hari Mohan Haritas and Dr V P Shamsheer, 
Chairman of the Company and the promoter of the VPS Healthcare LLC, UAE is concerned or interested in the said Resolution.  
Mr Hari Mohan Haritas is not related to any other Director or KMP of the Company. 

By Order of the Board

Sd/-
R Muraleedharan

Company Secretary

Place : Kochi

Date   : 8th August 2024

Regd. Office: XVI/ 612, Maradu, 

Nettoor P O, Kochi - 682040
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DETAILS OF DIRECTORS SEEKING APPOINTMENT/RE-APPOINTMENT AS REQUIRED UNDER SECRETARIAL STANDARD-2 ON 
GENERAL MEETINGS IS FURNISHED BELOW:

Name of Director
Mr JOB VARGHESE 

(DIN: 02839141)
Mr KAIVILAYIL VARGHESE JOHNY

(DIN: 00903258)

Date of Birth, Age 22.06.1951 - 73 Years 21.07.1938 - 86 Years

Date of First Appointment 27.01.2010 30.12.1999

Qualifications Engineer

MBBS
MD (General Medicine)-Fellow in 
Nephrology-Queen Elizabeth Adelaide, 
South Africa
FRCPC – Royal college of Physicians

Nature of experience/
Expertise:

Mr Job Varghese is a businessman 
of Indian Origin and a citizen of U S. 
He owns a electronic manufacturing 
and investment companies with 
multinational integration in USA. 

Mr. K V Johny is a pioneer in Nephrology 
in the country who held very senior 
position in India, Canada, and Kuwait 
Universities as professor for more than 
47 years. He also held position as vice 
dean of Kuwait Universities for Few 
years

Terms and conditions of appointment or  
re-appointment and details of remuneration

NIL NIL

Relationship with other Directors NIL NIL

Number of Meetings of the Board attended 
during the year

2 out of 4 meetings 4 out of 4 meetings

Number of other listed Cos. in which 
Directorship is held:

NIL NIL

Names of the committees of the Board of 
Other Companies in which Membership/ 
Chairmanship are held:

NIL
Director in Lakeshore Food and 
Beverages Private Limited

Shareholding in the company 3.93% 1.17%
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Name of Director
Mr Reuben George Joseph 

(DIN: 02777012 )
Mr Hari Mohan Haritas

(DIN: 10650876)
Date of Birth, Age 22.05.1983 - 41 Years 30.04.1966 - 58 Years

Date of First Appointment 08.08.2024 08.08.2024

Qualifications
Fellow member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India.

Fellow member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India.

Nature of experience/
Expertise:

Mr. Reuben George Joseph is a Chartered 
Accountant with 19 years of extensive 
experience in audit, taxation, valuation, 
financial accounting and reporting. He 
is registered as Insolvency professional 
under Insolvency and Bankruptcy 
Board of India and also recognizes as 
a Registered Valuer for securities and 
financial assets under IBC.

Mr. Hari Mohan Haritas is a  Chartered 
Accountant with 35 years of experience 
in financial leadership roles in India and 
in Middle East. Expertise in strategic 
finance, business partnering, and 
risk management. Proficient in Fin 
Tech, e-payment solutions and digital 
transformation, with strong capabilities 
in in financial modeling and investment 
evaluation.

Terms and conditions of appointment or  
re-appointment and details of remuneration

Appointed as Additional & Independent 
Director

Appointed as Additional Director

Relationship with other Directors NIL NIL

Number of Meetings of the Board attended 
during the year

NIL NIL

Number of other listed Cos. in which 
Directorship is held:

NIL NIL

Names of the committees of the Board of 
Other Companies in which Membership/ 
Chairmanship are held:

Director, PIL Technologies Private 
Limited. 

Group CFO of VPS Healthcare LLC.

Shareholding in the company NIL NIL
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the 28th Annual Report and the audited financial statements for the year ended  
March 31, 2024. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
The highlights of results for the financial year 2023-24 with respect to the previous year are tabled hereunder.

(` in lakhs) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
Standalone Consolidated

31.03.2024 31. 03. 2023 31.03.2024 31.03.2023

Income from Operations 39622 41904 39622 41918

Other Income 667 542 667 536

Gross Income 40289 42446 40289 42454

Gross Operating Expenses 11333 11004 11333 11005

Finance Charges 93 211 93 211

Depreciation 2370 2269 2370 2269

Total Expenses 34788 34204 34789 34212

Profit before tax 5501 8242 5500 8241

Provision for tax 1113 2490 1113 2490

Profit for the year 4389 5752 4387 5751

During the year under review, the Company has made profit before tax of `5501 lakhs as against `8242 lakhs of the previous year 
and a Net Profit of `4389 lakhs as against `5752 lakhs of the previous year. 

DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors has recommended a dividend of `1.70 (17%) on the equity share capital of the Company for the year subject to 
approval of the shareholders. The outflow on account of payment of dividend would be `17 cr.

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Company. 

SHARE CAPITAL
During the year under report the Authorised Capital of the Company remained unchanged consisting of `100 crores equity share 
capital (divided into 10 crores Equity Shares of `10/- each).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
The hospital patient inflow, reputation, market share has started gaining momentum despite the challenges of newer competition. 
We have managed to sail through this challenging phase with improved service quality, effective cost control measures, stringent 
infection control practices and clinical & non-clinical excellence and coordination. 

As part of our commitment to ensure quality patient care, hospital went through multiple Audits - ISO 9001 in January 2024, Green 
OT Certification in February 2024, NABL for Lab services in March 2024, ISO 22001 in June, NABH Surveillance audit respectively. 
Our Transplantations Program is successfully functioning at a success rate of more than 95% .
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Our International patient number is slowly progressing as we have managed to enter an agreement with “Aasandha” to open our 
hospital doors to Maldives patients. We have initiated Tie ups with Bangladesh for Transplant cases . We would soon be closing a tie 
up in Srilanka. Efforts are on to increase our visibility in CSI countries. We have recently initiated a formal MOU with Kyrgyzstan for 
Medical Tourism and also exploring the possibility of building synergies through Knowledge sharing and exchange programs . We 
crossed record revenue in International Business in the month of February.

Renovations of various areas of the hospital is ongoing. We have recently launched our Labour Suite and it has already started 
showing traction and good positive feedbacks from patients. NICU work is completed and the PICU work has started . Lobby work is 
going in a good pace and the second phase would start by October, 2024. Radiology /Imaging Work is almost completed except for 
small waiting area and Front Reception. Emergency & Trauma care Department upgradation work would commence soon after the 
completion of Radiology .

The Hospital has treated over 340852 outpatients. We have treated over 20932 inpatients in 2024. Surgeries numbers for the year 
is 6911 surgeries.. Hospital has performed over 191 organ transplantations, which include 163 renal and 28 liver transplant surgeries 
in 2023-24. Number of Dialysis Conducted is 19654 dialysis in 2023-24. The number of international patients availing treatment in 
the year 23-24 is 20074 . With the new tie ups and affiliations this number is expected to increase substantially.

We have started peripheral Gastroenterology clinics in various places to start with Indo American Hospital, Charis Hospital and 
Nirmala Medical Centre. Lakeshore IVF clinic in association with CIMAR hospital was recently launched. The referral marketing team 
has been assigned the responsibility of increasing the Periphery Centres for various specialties which would help to increase the  
traction and footfalls. 

Digital and social media promotions have helped us increase our market share . New Creative and Branding agency has been recruited 
to increase our Social media presence and this has helped us in increasing our Google ratings. Hoardings are now being placed in 
various strategic location to increase our Branding and showcasing the capabilities of various specialties. 

Focus is to develop Centre of Excellence in various specialties by adding all sub specialties under one umbrella which would help 
patients choose us a preferred healthcare partner. Oncology is another focus area with an intent to develop multiple infusion centres 
across Kerala. Discussions are on with a leading hospital in Edappal and is expected to close by this month. We are also exploring the 
possibility of tie up with Oncohelix, State of the Art clinically accredited Laboratory Testing for precision in Oncology.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
According to the provisions of Section 129 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS 110), the consolidated 
audited financial statements together with Auditors Report are provided in the Annual Report. 

In compliance with Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 8 of the Companies (Account) Rules, 2014, a report on the 
performance and the financial position of the subsidiary is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements is annexed in the Annual 
Report in Form AOC -1. Annexure I.

OUTLOOK
During the reporting year the company has achieved a turnover of `402.89 crores (last year `424.45 crores) and made a net  
profit of `43.89 crores (last year `57.52 crores). We have projected a turn over `503.72 crores and profit before tax of `56.93 crores 
for the financial year 2024-25.

ACCEPTANCE OF DEPOSITS
The company has not accepted/renewed fixed deposit during the year under consideration.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS
The Board consists of the Chairman, Managing Director, two Independent Directors and eight non-executive directors including a 
woman director. 

DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL
Mr. Job Varghese (DIN: 02839141) and Mr. Kaivilayil Varghese Johny (DIN: 00903258), Directors of the company, retires by rotation 
at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offer themself for re-appointment. Necessary resolution (s) for their 
appointment are being placed before the members for approval.

The Board of Directors appointed Mr. Reuben George Joseph as an Additional/Independent Director of the Company on 08.08.2024 
in the vacancy caused due to retirement of Mr. A Janardhana Pai (DIN: 00115688) on 31.03.24. Mr Reuben George Joseph will hold 
office as such until conclusion of ensuing Annual General Meeting.  Necessary resolution for appointment of Mr Reuben George 
Joseph as an Independent Director for a term of three years is being placed before the members for approval. 

The Board of Directors appointed Mr. Hari Mohan Haritas (DIN: 10650876) as an Additional Director of the Company on 08.08.2024 
who will hold office upto the date of this Annual General Meeting. Necessary resolution for appointment of Mr Hari Mohan Haritas as 
Director is being placed before the members for approval.  

The Board placed its appreciation on record for the valuable contributions and counsel rendered by Mr A Janardhana Pai during his 
tenure as Director of the Company. 

Mr Gireesh Kumar E took over as Chief Financial Officer of the Company with effect from 13th May 2024 in the place of Mr R Narayanan 
who resigned from the post and relieved on 15th November 2023.

None of the Directors are disqualified under Section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The 27th Annual General Meeting of the members of the company was held on Friday, the 29th September 2023 at the Registered 
Office of the Company. 

BOARD MEETINGS
During the reporting year 4 (Four) Board Meetings were held on 24th June 2023, 14th August 2023, 5th December  2023 and 18th March 
2024.

GENERAL MEETINGS
During the reporting period 27th Annual General Meeting was held on 29th September 2023.

Attendance of each Director, at the Board Meetings held during the financial year 2023-24 and at the 27th Annual General Meeting, 
is furnished hereunder:

Sl.No Name of the Director
Board meetings

Last Annual General Meeting (Yes/No)
Held Attended

1 Dr. V P Shamsheer 4 4 Yes

2 Mr. Sebastian P M 4 2 Yes

3 Mr. K N Prabhakaran Nair 4 3 Yes

4 Dr. K V Johny 4 4 Yes

5 Mr. P D Mathew 4 4 Yes
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6 Mr. A Janardhana Pai* 4 4 No

7 Mr. M M Mathai 4 4 Yes

8 Mr. Job Varghese 4 2 No

9 Dr K Chithrathara 4 4 Yes

10 Mr V Venugopal 4 4 Yes

11 Mr. S.K Abdulla 4 4 Yes
* Retired on 31.03.2024. 

A separate meeting of the Independent Directors of the Company was held on 18th March 2024. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
The Audit Committee constituted in terms of Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013 with two Independent Directors and a  
Non-Executive Director as member. During the Financial Year 2023-24, the Committee members met 4 times i.e., on 19th June 
2023, 09th August 2023, 30th November 2023 and 07th March 2024.

The composition of the committee and attendance at the meetings during the year under report is given hereunder:

Sl No Name Position
Audit Committee Meetings

Held Attended
1 Mr A Janardhana Pai* Chairman 4 2

2 Dr K V Johny Member 4 4

3 Mr V Venugopal Member 4 4
*Retired on 31.03.24. 

The Board of Directors at their meeting held on 08th August 2024 re-constituted the audit committee with Mr V Venugopal, Mr Hari 
Mohan and Mr Reuben George Joseph as members of the committee and Mr V Venugopal to be the Chairman of the Committee. 

The Audit Committee confirms to Section 177 of the Act in all respects concerning its constitution, meetings, functioning, role 
and powers, mandatory review of required information, related party transactions and accounting treatment for major items. 
Appointment of Statutory Auditor, Cost Auditor, Secretarial Auditor and Internal Auditor are being done on the recommendations of 
the Audit Committee. 

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company has a Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board which consists of two Independent Directors and one 
Non- Executive Director as members. During the Financial Year 2023-24 the Committee members met only once on 19th June 2023. 
The composition of the committee and attendance of directors at the said meeting is given hereunder:

Sl No Name Position
Nomination & Remuneration

Committee Meetings
Held Attended

1 Mr A Janardhana Pai* Chairman 1 No

2 Dr K V Johny Member 1 1

3 Mr V Venugopal Member 1 1
*Retired on 31.03.24. 
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The Board of Directors at their meeting held on 08th August 2024 re-constituted the Nomination and Remuneration Committee with 
Mr V Venugopal, Mr Hari Mohan and Mr Reuben George Joseph as members of the committee and Mr V Venugopal to be the Chairman 
of the Committee. 

The powers, role and terms of reference of the Committee cover the areas as contemplated under Section 178 of the Companies Act, 
2013 besides other terms as may be referred by the Board of Directors.

The salient features of the Nomination and Remuneration policy is attached as Annexure II to the Board’s Report. The Nomination 
and Remuneration policy approved by the Board of Directors in terms of provision 178(4) of the Companies Act, 2013 is available on 
the website of the company www.vpslakeshorehospital.com.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) COMMITTEE 
The Company has a Corporate Social Responsibility Committee, as required under Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 which 
consists of two Independent Directors and one non-executive director as members. During the reporting year, the Company had 
implemented CSR projects as per policy approved by the Board of Directors of the Company and the Board ensured the money spend 
on the various projects successfully.

During the Financial Year 2023-24, the Committee members met thrice on 19th June 2023, 10th November 2023 and 7th March 2024. 
The composition of the Committee and attendance at the meetings during the year under report is given hereunder:

Sl No Name Position
CSR Committee Meetings

Held Attended
1 Shri A Janardhana Pai* Chairman 3 2

2 Dr K V Johny Member 3 3

3 Mr V Venugopal Member 3 3
*Retired on 31.03.24. 

Mr. Reuben George Joseph, was appointed as a member of the CSR Committee and Dr K V Johny and Mr V Venugopal are continuing 
as the members of the CSR Committee and Mr V Venugopal to Chair the Committee. 

The gist of the CSR Policy, the annual report on CSR activities for the financial year 2023-24 is specified in Annexure III attached 
to this report. The unspent amount for the FY 23-24 was transferred to a separate bank account and the same will be spent for                 
ongoing projects. 

LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS
The company did not give any Loan or Guarantee or provide any security or make investment covered under Section 186 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 during the year.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
The Company has identified the risks/uncertainty associated with the company and developed and implemented a Risk Management 
Policy in terms of Section 134(3)(n) of the Companies Act, 2013. The said policy is being implemented and monitored by the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee.

DEMATERIALISATION
In terms of the notification of Ministry of Corporate Affairs dated 10th September 2018, the Company has entered into agreement 
with NSDL and CDSL to enable Members to have the option of holding and dealing the shares of the Company in electronic form. 
Shareholders are requested to convert their holdings to dematerialised form to derive its benefits by availing the demat facility 
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provided by NSDL and CDSL. As per the aforesaid circular the share transfer is permitted only under demat mode. The ISIN Number 
allotted to Equity Shares of the Company is: INE01TI01010.

As on 31.03.2024 out of 1176 shareholders, 830 shareholders are holding 3,69,22,077 equity shares in demat mode. 

REGISTRAR AND SHARE TRANSFER AGENT:
Integrated Registry Management Services (P) Ltd
2nd Floor, ‘Kences Towers’, No.1, Ramakrishna Street, 
North Usman Road, T.Nagar, Chennai-600017
Phone: 044 28140801, 28140803,
Fax: 044 – 28143378, 28142479
E-mail: corpserv@integratedindia.in

INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND 
There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Company. The 
details of the Shareholders, who have not claimed their dividend, are available on the Company’s website.   

RELATED PARTY TRANSCATIONS
During the financial year 2023-24, all transactions with the Related Parties as defined under the Act, read with Rules framed 
thereunder were in the ‘ordinary course of business’ and ‘at arm’s length’ basis. There are no materially significant related party 
transactions made by the Company which may have potential conflict with interest of the Company at large. Statement of all related 
party transactions is presented before the Audit Committee and Board for its approvals, specifying the nature, value and terms and 
conditions of transactions. The details of the contracts entered during the year are attached as Annexure IV - Form AOC 2.

FORMAL ANNUAL EVALUATION
The Companies Act, 2013 states that a formal annual evaluation needs to be carried out by the Board of its own performance and 
that of its, committees and of individual directors. 

Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013 states that the performance evaluation of independent directors shall be done by the entire 
Board of Directors, excluding the director being evaluated.

The formal annual evaluation as prescribed under Section 134 (3) (p) has been conducted and recorded by the Board of its own 
performance and that of its Committees, individual directors and Independent Directors at its duly constituted meeting. The 
evaluation has been carried out using a questionnaire specifically designed for the purpose.

ANNUAL RETURN
In accordance with Section 92(3) read with Section 134 (3) (a) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Annual Return in the prescribed 
format is available on the website of the Company at the link www.vpslakeshorehospital.com under Investor Zone.  

CREDIT RATING
During the year under review, CARE, the Credit Rating Agency, maintained the ‘CARE A-minus’ rating with stable outlook for the 
Company’s long term bank facilities ‘CARE A2+’ for the Company’s short term bank facilities.  

DECLARATION BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS
The Company has two Independent Directors in terms of Section 149(4) of the Companies Act, 2013 and received necessary 
declarations from each independent director under Section 149(7) of the Companies Act, 2013, that they meet the criteria of 
independence laid down in Section 149(6) of the Act. The letter of appointment of Independent Directors have been placed on the 
Company’s website. 
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DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
As required under Section 134(3)(c) and 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, your Directors confirm that:

(i) In the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial year ended March 31, 2024 the applicable accounting standards 
had been followed along with proper explanation relating to material departures;

(ii) The directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company for the financial year ended 
March 31, 2024 and of the profit and loss of the company for that period;

(iii) The directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities;

(iv) The directors had prepared the annual accounts on a ‘going concern basis’; and

(v) The directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that such 
systems were adequate and operating effectively.

STATUTORY AUDITORS
M/s Krishnamorthy & Krishnamoorthy, Chartered Accountants, (FRN:001488S), were appointed as the statutory auditors of the 
company at the 26th Annual general Meeting for a period of five years whose present term of office expires on 31st Annual general 
Meeting to be held for the financial year 2026-27. 

The report of the Independent Auditor’s for the financial year 2023-24 is attached with this annual report and the said report does 
not contain any qualification, reservation or adverse remarks.

SECRETARIAL AUDITORS
The Board appointed M/s BVR & Associates Company Secretaries LLP, as the Secretarial Auditors to conduct the Secretarial Audit 
for the financial year 2023-24. The Secretarial Audit Report for the financial year ended March 31, 2024 is annexed herewith as 
Annexure V and there are no qualifications, reservation or adverse remarks.

INTERNAL AUDITORS
The Board of Directors of your Company has appointed M/s Varma & Varma, Chartered Accountants, Ernakulam (FRN:004532S) as 
Internal Auditors, pursuant to the provisions of Section 138 of the Companies Act 2013 for the financial year 2024-2025. 

COST AUDITORS
Pursuant to Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014, your Directors 
had, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, appointed M/s BBS & Associates, Cost Accountants, Kochi (FRN: 00273) to 
audit the cost accounts of the Company for the financial year 2024-25 on a remuneration of `1,25,000/- plus tax as applicable. As 
required under the Companies Act, 2013, the remuneration payable to the Cost Auditor is required to be placed before the members in 
a general meeting for ratification. Accordingly, a resolution seeking ratification of the remuneration payable to M/s BBS & Associates 
is included at item No.5 of the notice convening 28th Annual General Meeting.

The Company has received a letter from them to the effect that their re-appointment would be within the limits prescribed under 
Section 141(3) (g) of the Companies Act, 2013 and that they are not disqualified for such re-appointment within the meaning of 
Section 141 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Company has maintained the cost records as specified by the Central Government under sub-section (1) of Section 148 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, is required by the Company and accordingly such accounts and records are made and maintained.
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COMPLIANCE WITH SECRETARIAL STANDARDS
The Company complies with all applicable secretarial standards.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNING AND OUTGO
The company is not engaged in any manufacturing process; therefore, no particulars have been furnished in this report as required 
under Section 134(1)(m) of the Companies Act 2013, relating to conservation of energy and technology absorption.

During the year under review, the foreign exchange earning of the Company was `28.78 crores (`12.06 crores) and out go was  
`14.47 crores (`5.01 crores).

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES AND RELATED DISCLOSURES
Personnel and industrial relations were cordial and satisfactory during the year under review. There were no employees of the 
company who have drawn remuneration in excess of the limits set out under Section 197(12) of the Act read with Rules 5(2) and 5(3) 
of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules 2014.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS
The Company has in place adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements. During the reporting year,  
such controls were tested and no reportable material weaknesses in the design or operation were observed.

MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS
No material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the Company have occurred between the end of the 
financial year of the Company to which the financial statements relate and on the date of this report. 

CHANGE IN THE NATURE OF BUSINESS, IF ANY
There is no change in the nature of business of the Company during the year under review.

INTERNAL COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE
The company has an Internal Complaints Committee as prescribed under Section 4 of the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013, to redress complaints of sexual harassment reported by women staff or such other 
person on behalf of the victim. During the reporting year, the company received one complaint of sexual harassment and the same 
was disposed off. The company has complied with provisions relating to the constitution of Internal Complaints Committee under 
the said Act.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
Your Directors acknowledge with gratitude and wish to place on record their sincere thanks and appreciation of the co-operation 
received by the Company from the customers, suppliers, investors, bankers and others associated with the company.

Your Directors take this opportunity to thank all employees for their outstanding services and also thank all the Shareholders for 
their unstinted support and confidence reposed by them in the Management and look forward to their continued support.

For and on behalf of the Board

Sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer 

Chairman
(DIN: 02371712)

Place :  Kochi
Date :  08th August 2024
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Ltd

Sd/-
Dr. Vayali Parambath Shamsheer

Chairman
Place :  Kochi
Date :  08th August 2024

ANNEXURE I

FORM AOC-1
(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries  
or associate companies or joint ventures

Part A Subsidiaries

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in `)

1 Sl.No. 1

2 Name of the subsidiary Lakeshore Food and Beverages Private Ltd

3
Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from the holding 
company’s reporting period

31.03.2024

4
Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the 
relevant financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries

INR 

5 Share capital `5,00,000/-

6 Reserves and surplus (-)`3,29,210/-

7 Total assets `11,84,780/-

8 Total Liabilities `11,84,780/-

9 Investments Nil

10 Total Income (Other income) `4,860/-

11 Profit before taxation (-) `1,30,660/-

12 Provision for taxation (Deferred Tax) `2,550/-

13 Profit after taxation (-) `1,33,210/-

14 Proposed Dividend Nil 

15 Extent of shareholding 100%

Notes: The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations : Nil
2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year: Nil 

Part B Associates and Joint Ventures
Statement pursuant to Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

(Not applicable)
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ANNEXURE II

 SALIENT FEATURES OF THE NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As prescribed under Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 6 of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 
2014, the Company constituted a Nomination and Remuneration Committee (N&RC) consisting of three non-executive directors out 
of which not less than one-half are  Independent Directors  and Chaired by an Independent Director. 

This salient feature of the policy is as follows.

OBJECTIVE
• the level and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate Directors / Key Managerial 

Personnel’s (KMP) / Senior Managerial Personnel’s (SMP) of the quality required to run the Company / Hospital successfully;

• relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets appropriate performance benchmarks; and

• Remuneration to Directors, KMP & SMP involves a balance between fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and long-term 
performance objectives appropriate to the working of the Company / Hospital and its goals.

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE
• To formulate criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence of a Director.

• To formulate criteria for evaluation of Independent Directors and the Board and carry out their performance evaluation.

• To identify persons who are qualified to become Directors and who may be appointed as SMP in accordance with the criteria laid 
down in this policy.

• To recommend to the Board the appointment and removal of Directors and SMP.

• To recommend to the Board policy relating to remuneration for Directors, KMP and SMP.

• Succession planning for replacing KMP & SMP and overseeing.

• To carry out any other function as is mandated by the Board or enforced by any statutory notification, amendment or modification, 
as may be applicable.

APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTOR, KMP’s and SMP’s
a) The Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity, qualification, expertise and experience of the person for appointment 

as Director, KMP or as SMP and recommend his / her appointment.

b) A person should possess adequate qualification, expertise and experience for the position he / she is considered for appointment. 
The Committee has authority to decide whether qualification, expertise and experience possessed by a person is sufficient / 
satisfactory for the position.

TERM / TENURE

a)  Managing Director/Whole-time Director:
 The Company shall appoint or re-appoint any person as its, Managing Director or Whole-time Director for a term not exceeding 

five years at a time. 
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b) Independent Director:
 An Independent Director shall be a person duly qualified to be appointed as shall hold office for a term up to five consecutive 

years and will be eligible for re-appointment on passing of a special resolution by the Company.

 No Independent Director shall hold office for more than two consecutive terms of up to maximum of 5 years each, but such 
Independent Director shall be eligible for appointment after expiry of three years of ceasing to become an Independent Director.

RETIREMENT
The Director, KMP and SMP’s shall retire as per the applicable provisions of the Act and the prevailing policy of the Company. The 
Board will have the discretion to retain the Director, KMP, SMP for the benefit of the Company.

POLICY FOR REMUNERATION TO DIRECTORS/KMP/SMP’s

1)  Remuneration to Managing Director / Whole-time Directors:
a) The Remuneration, perquisites etc. to be paid to Managing Director / Whole-time Directors etc. shall be governed as per 

provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made there under and the approvals obtained from the Members of the 
Company.

b) The N & R C shall make such recommendations to the Board of Directors with regard to remuneration to Managing Director 
/ Whole-time Directors.

2)  Remuneration to Independent Directors:

a) The Independent Directors may receive sitting fees and such other remuneration as permissible under the provisions of 
Companies Act, 2013, recommended by the N & RC and approved by the Board of Directors.

b) All the remuneration of the Independent Directors (excluding the sitting fee) shall be subject to ceiling / limits as provided 
under Companies Act, 2013 and rules made there under recommended by the N & R C and approved by the Board of 
Directors or shareholders, as the case may be.

c) An Independent Director shall not be eligible to get Stock Options and also shall not be eligible to participate in any share 
based payment schemes.

d) Any remuneration paid to Non- Executive / Independent Directors for services rendered which are of professional in nature 
shall not be considered as part of the remuneration for the purposes of clause (b) above if the following conditions are 
satisfied:

 a) The Services are rendered by such Director in his capacity as the professional; and

 b) In the opinion of the Committee, the director possesses the requisite qualification for the practice of that profession.

3) Remuneration to KMP’s & SMP’s:
a) The remuneration to KMP’s & SMP’s shall consist of salary and perquisites in compliance with the provisions of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and as decided by the Board of Directors .

b) The Compensation Committee of the Company, constituted for the purpose of administering the Employee Stock Option / 
Purchase Schemes, shall determine the stock options and other share based payments to be made to KMP’s & SMP’s.

c) The remuneration package shall include monthly remuneration, employer’s contribution to Provident Fund, contribution to 
pension fund and other statutory dues, if any, as decided from to time.
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ANNEXURE – III

ANNUAL REPORT ON CSR ACTIVITIES
(Pursuant to Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 8 of the Companies  

(Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014

1. Brief Outline on CSR Policy of the Company:
The Board of Directors adopted the CSR Policy from April 2014 in terms of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013.

Lakeshore Hospital & Research Centre Ltd., (hereinafter described as “the Company”) is a super specialty tertiary level hospital 
delivering state-of-the-art medical care over the last eighteen years. The hospital has gained reputation locally, nationally and 
internationally. The company has been instrumental in bringing the latest technology to the country whereby creating access to the 
best possible treatment at an affordable cost.

For those deserving persons who could not afford the cost, the hospital has been providing treatment at a subsidised rate. Apart 
from philanthropic activities and medical management within the hospital, it has been associating with several NGOs in conducting 
medical camps, health awareness classes, school health programme etc. in the community where specialist doctors also participate.

The CSR policy of the company reflects its commitment to humanity more than the statutory requirements. Policies and programs 
of the company are structured over the four pillars – Ethics, community, environment and diversity. Our policies explicitly express 
our desire to give back to our communities while the company prospers. Being ethical is the main pillar where we act with integrity 
and adhere to codes of ethics and cultural values. We strive hard to deliver the best to the community in which we exist, operating 
our business which is environmentally efficient, actively protecting the environment and respecting the diversity of the population by 
being non-discriminative based on caste, creed, gender, thought and experience.

2. The composition of the CSR Committee:

Sl No Name Position CSR Committee Meetings
Held Attended

1 Shri A Janardhana Pai* Chairman
Independent Director 1 1

2 Dr K V Johny Member 1 1
3 Mr V Venugopal Independent Director 1 1
4 Mr Reuben George Joseph@ Independent Director NA NA

*Retired on 31.03.24 @ Appointed on 08.08.24.
3. Provide the web-link where Composition of CSR committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects approved by the board are disclosed 

on the website of the company www.vpslakeshorehospital.com
4. Provide the details of Impact Assessment of CSR projects carried out in pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 8 of the Companies 

(Corporate Social responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014; if applicable (attach the report).
 Not Applicable
5. Details of the amount available for set off in pursuance of sub-rule (3) of Rule 7 of the Companies (Corporate Social 

responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014 and amount required for set off for the financial year, if any. 
 NIL
6. Average net profit of the company as per Section 135(5): 5,380.00 Lakhs
7. (a) Two per cent of average net profit of the company as per Section 135(5): `107 .60 Lakhs.
 (b) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of the previous financial years: Nil
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 (c) Amount required to be set off for the financial year, if any: Nil
 (d) Total CSR obligation for the financial year (7a+7b- 7c): `107.60 Lakhs

8. (a) CSR amount spent or unspent for the financial year:

Total Amount
Spend for FY 

2024
(Rs in lakhs)

Amount Unspent (` in lakhs)
Total Amount transferred to

Unspent CSR Account as per Section 135 (6)
Amount transferred to any fund specified under 

Schedule VII as per second proviso to Section 135(5)
Amount Date of transfer Name of the Fund Amount Date of transfer

`66.11 `41.50 27.04.2024 Nil Nil Nil

 (b) Details of CSR amount spent against on-going projects for the financial year: `11.45 Lakhs
 (c) Details of CSR amount spent against other than on-going projects for the financial year: `54.66 Lakhs
 (d) Amount spent in Administrative Overheads:  0.00
 (e) Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable: Not applicable
 (f) Total amount spent for the Financial Year (8 b+8c+8d+8e):  `66.11 lakhs.
 (g) Excess amount for set off, if any - Nil

9 (a) Details of Unspent CSR amount for the preceeding three financial years: 

Sl. No.
Preceding 
Financial  

Year.

Amount transferred to 
Unspent CSR Account 

under Section 135(6) (in 
Rs.)

Amount 
spent in the 

reporting 
Financial Year 

(in Rs.)

Amount transferred to any fund 
specified under Schedule VII as 

per section 135(6), if any.

Amount remaining 
to be spent in 

succeeding 
financial years.  

(in Rs.)
Name of 
the Fund

Amount 
(in Rs).

Date of 
transfer.

1. 31.03.2023 5.50 5.50 - - - -
2. 31.03.2022 NIL
3. 31.03.2021 NIL

Total 5.50

 (b) Details of CSR amount spent in the financial year for on-going projects of the preceding financial year(s): `5.50lakhs

Sl No
Project  

ID
Name of the Project

Financial 
year in which 
project was 
commenced

Project 
Duration

Total 
amount 

allocated 
for the 
Project

Amount 
spent  
in the 

reporting  
FY

Cumulative 
amount spent 

in the end of 
reporting FY

Status 
of the 

Project

1
Cochlear Implant Surgery 
to kids from economically 

backward sector
(i) No 26.70 5.50 26.70

10. In case of creation or acquisition of capital asset, furnish the details relating to the asset so created or acquired through CSR 
spent in the financial year (asset-wise details): NIL

11. Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net profit as per section 135(5). Not applicable.

Place :  Kochi
Date :  08th August 2024

sd/-
V Venugopal

Chairman – CSR Committee

sd/-
Dr V P Shamsheer 

Chairman

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Ltd

28TH ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 2 3 - 2 0 2 4

28



ANNEXURE IV

FORM NO. AOC – 2
(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014.)

1. Details of  contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis : NIL 

2. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions at Arm’s length basis:

 (I) Lakeshore Food & Beverages Private Ltd, Kochi: 

S No. Particulars Details

(a) Name of the related party & nature of relationship
Lakeshore Food & Beverages Private Ltd, Kochi – Wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Company. 

(b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transaction
Promoted a wholly owned subsidiary to undertake catering business outside. 
Provided space for running the business. 

(c)
Duration of the contracts/arrangements/
transactions

Nil

(d)
Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or 
transactions including the value, if any.

Invested in 5000 Equity shares of Rs 100/- each amounting to Rs 5 lakhs. 
Security Deposit Received – Rs. 0.30 lakhs.
Trade Receivables – Rs.10.89 lakhs.

(e) Date of approval by the Board 14th August 2019.

(f) Amount paid as advances, if any. Nil 

 (II) Lease agreement with VPS Healthcare Private Ltd, Kochi. 

S No. Particulars Details

(a) Name of the related party & nature of 
relationship

VPS Healthcare Private Ltd, Ernakulam - 682 024 promoted and 
controlled by Dr Shamsheer Vayalil, Chairman & Managing Director.

(b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transaction Leasing of Property – payment of rent. 

(c) Duration of the contracts/arrangements/
transactions 8 years. 

(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements 
or transactions including the value, if any.

Leasing of the land measuring 13.440 cents and building measuring 
12621 Sq.Ft on Survey No.165/1 & 41/A4 at Kasaba Village of Kozhikode 
to be used as a medical centre.  The lease rent payable at `7,65,650/- 
per month.

(e) Date of approval by the Board 17th February 2019.

(f) Amount paid as advances, if any. 

An interest free refundable security deposit of Rs 40,26,000/- paid by 
the Company to Lessor. This will be retained by the Lessor during the 
lease period and will be refunded to the company without interest on 
termination of lease agreement. 
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Ltd

Sd/-
Dr. Vayali Parambath Shamsheer

Chairman
Place :  Kochi
Date :  08th August 2024

M/s Humming Tree: 

S No. Particulars Details

(a) Name of the related party & nature of 
relationship

M/s Humming Tree,
2/C1853, Eranjipalam, Calicut- 673006 
The Principal Architect of the firm is a relative to KMP.

(b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/
transaction

Work order dated 11.01.2022 issued to the above said firm to undertake 
the Interior Design Consultancy for Lakeshore Hospital and Research 
Centre Ltd. 

(c) Duration of the contracts/arrangements/
transactions Till the completion of the renovation of the main block. 

(d)
Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements 
or transactions including the value, if any. Professional Fee `150/- per Sq.Ft+ Applicable Taxes. 

(e) Date of approval by the Board 14th August 2023

(f) Amount paid as advances, if any. `20.95 lakhs. 
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ANNEXURE V

Form No: MR3
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH, 2024
[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and

Rule 9 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To 
The Members
Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Limited
CIN: U85110KL1996PLC010260.
XVI/612, Maradu, KanayannurTaluk,
Nettoor P O,Ernakulam,
Kerala - 682 040

We, BVR & ASSOCIATES Company Secretaries LLP, have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance of applicable 
statutory provisions and the adherence to good corporate practices by M/s. Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Limited 
[CIN:U85110KL1996PLC010260] (hereinafter called the company). The Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided 
us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion thereon. 

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records produced to 
us and according to information and explanations given to us by the Company, we hereby report that in our opinion, the Company 
has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended on 31st March, 2024 complied with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (Act) and the Rules made there under, the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and also applicable 
provisions of the aforesaid laws, standards, guidelines, agreements, etc.

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the Company for the 
financial year ended on 31st March, 2024 according to the provisions of: 

1. The Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made there under.

2. Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder to the extent of Foreign Direct 
Investment

As informed to us the following Laws specifically applicable to the Company as under:

1. Clinical Establishments (Registration & Regulations) Act, 2010.

2. Drugs and Cosmetics Act 1940and Rules 1945. 

3. The Drugs (Control) Act, 1950.

4. The Pharmacy Act, 1948.

5. The Atomic Energy Act, 1962 and Rules thereunder

6. Narcotics and Psychotropic Substances Act, 1985.
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7. The Transplantation of the Human Organs Act, 1994.

8. The Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act, 1886.

9. The Epidemic Diseases Act, 1897

10. The Medical Termination of Pregnancy Act, 1971and Rules.

11. The Pre-Conception and Pre-Natal Diagnostic Techniques (Prohibition of Sex Selection) Act, 1994.

12. Bio-Medical Waste Management Rules, 2016.

13. Consumer Protection Act and Medical Profession.

14. Indian Medical Council (Professional Conduct, Etiquette and Ethics) Regulations, 2002 (Ethics Regulations)

15. Atomic Energy and Protection Rules, 2004.

16. Registration of Births and Deaths Act, 1969.

17. Hazardous and Other Wastes (Management, and Transboundary Movement) Rules, 2016.

The other laws applicable to the Company are:-

1. The Competition Act, 2002

2. The Kerala Shop and Commercial Establishment Act, 1960.

3. The Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1974.

4. Environment Protection Act, 1986.

5. Petroleum Act, 1934.

6. Electricity Act, 2003.

7. Kerala Lifts and Escalators Act, 2013.

8. Kerala Municipality Building Rules, 1999 (Kerala Municipality Act 1994).

9. Sexual Harassment of Women at the work place (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013

10. Indian Stamp Act, 1899.

11. The Building And Other Construction Workers (Regulation Of Employment And Conditions Of Service) Act, 1996

12. The Inter-State Migrant Workmen (Regulation Of Employment And Conditions of Service) Act, 1979

13. The Contract Labour (Regulation And Abolition) Act, 1970

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:
1) Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India, to the extent applicable.
2) Corporate Social Responsibility Voluntary Guidelines, 2009 issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India;

We report that, during the year under review: 

1. The status of the Company has been that of an Unlisted Public Company. The Company has not been a holding or subsidiary of 
another company. 

2. The Company has a Wholly Owned Subsidiary, Lakeshore Food And Beverages Private Limited (CIN : U55209KL2019PTC059635), 
as defined under Sec. 2(87)(ii) of Companies Act, 2013, incorporated on 18.09.2019 having registered at XVI/612, Maradu, 
Kanayannur Taluk, Nettoor P.O, Kochi, Ernakulam, Kerala – 682040.
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3. The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors 
and Independent Directors. The changes, if any, in the composition of the Board of Directors that took place during the period 
under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act

 Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda are sent at least 
seven days in advance, a system exists for seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items 
before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting. Majority decision is carried through, while the dissenting 
members’ views are captured and recorded as part of the minutes. 

4. The Directors have complied with the disclosure requirements in respect of their eligibility of appointment, their being independent 
and compliance with the code of Business Conduct & Ethics for Directors and Management Personnel and also with regard to 
disclosure of interests and concerns in contracts and arrangements, shareholdings/debenture holdings and directorships in 
other companies and interests in other entities.

5. The Company has complied with the provisions of Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 and 
necessary returns were filed.

6. The Company has not defaulted in the repayment of unsecured loans, facilities granted by bank(s)/financial institution(s) and 
non-banking financial companies. The Company has not issued Debentures and collected Public Deposits.

7. All registrations under the various state and local laws as applicable to the company are valid as on the date of report.

8. The Company does not have any unpaid dividend during the financial year due for transfer to Investor Education and Protection 
Fund but Statement of unclaimed and unpaid amounts has been intimated to the Registrar of companies within the prescribed 
time.  

9. The Company has paid all its statutory dues and satisfactory arrangements have been made for arrears of any such dues. 

10. The Company has provided a list of statutes in addition to the laws as mentioned above and it has been observed that there are 
systems in place to ensure compliance of all laws applicable to the company. 

11. There are few instance of small delays to MSMEs and the same has been brought to the attention of management who informed 
us that they are putting in place a system to identify MSMEs among vendors and avoid delays in payments in future.

We further report that: 

1. The Committee under Sec 135. (1) of Companies Act, 2013 has met periodically and record the minutes as per the provisions of 
law under review. The CSR spending of the company for the reporting year was as per the provisions of the law and according to 
the decision of the CSR committee recommendation in accordance with the adopted CSR policy of the Company.

2. The Company has followed the Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India; 

3. The Company has complied with the provisions of The Competition Act, 2002 with regard to prohibition of anti-competitive 
agreements, abuse of dominance and ensuring of competition advocacy. As per the verification, the company is ensuring fair 
competition in the market among its competitors.

4. The Company has complied with the Rule 6 of Companies (Appointment and Disqualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 regarding 
the inclusion of name of the Independent Director in the Data Bank maintained by the Indian Institute of Corporate Affairs and 
the online proficiency self-assessment test thereof. 

5. The Company has complied with sub-rule (8) of Rule 9A of Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of Securities) Rules, 2014 
regarding filing of Reconciliation of Share Capital Audit Report on half yearly basis with Registrar of Companies.
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The Company filed following E-form with MCA for the Financial Year under Review:-

Sl. No Date of filing SRN Form

1. 02/05/2023 AA2247887 PAS-6

2. 06/06/2023 AA2783855 DIR-3 KYC

3. 11/07/2023 AA3383060 MGT-14

4. 12/07/2023 F62426895 CRA-2

5. 12/07/2023 F62431382 MSME-1

6. 12/07/2023 F62432257 MSME-1

7. 28/07/2023 AA3743494 DPT-3

8. 09/10/2023 AA5796041 MGT-14

9. 10/10/2023 AA5829995 PAS-6

10. 12/10/2023 AA5853794 MGT-14

11. 25/10/2023 F71209118 CRA-4

12. 26/10/2023 F71961601 AOC-4 XBRL

13. 02/11/2023 F77393452 IEPF-2

14. 13/11/2023 F80263858 MGT-7

15. 17/11/2023 AA6157929 DIR-12

16. 14/02/2024 F92181601 CSR-2

We further report that: 
There are adequate systems and processes in the company commensurate with the size and operations of the company to monitor 
and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines. 

This Report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed as Annexure A and forms an integral part of this report.

Date:  08th August 2024
Place: Cochin

sd/-
CS YOGINDUNATH S 

DESIGNATED PARTNER
BVR & ASSOCIATES COMPANY SECRETARIES LLP

Membership Number: F7865
Certificate of Practice No: 9137

UDIN: F007865F000928763
       PEER REVIEW NUMBER: P2010KE020500
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‘Annexure A’
To,

The Members,

M/s. Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Limited

Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

1. Maintenance of Secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit.

2. We have followed the audit practices and process as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about the correctness of 
the contents of the Secretarial records.

3. The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in Secretarial records. We believe that the 
process and practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

4. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of Accounts of the Company.

5. Wherever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the Compliance of laws, rules and regulations and 
happening of events etc.

6. The Compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is the responsibility of 
management. Our examination was limited to the verification of procedure on test basis.

7. The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness 
with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

Date:  08th August 2024
Place: Cochin

sd/-
CS YOGINDUNATH S 

DESIGNATED PARTNER
BVR & ASSOCIATES COMPANY SECRETARIES LLP

Membership Number: F7865
Certificate of Practice No: 9137

UDIN: F007865F000928763
       PEER REVIEW NUMBER: P2010KE020500
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Limited

Report on the Audit of the Standalone financial statements 

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of Lakeshore Hospital And Research Centre Limited (“the 
Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2024, the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive 
Income, the Statement of Cash Flow and the Statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the standalone 
financial statements, and a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid standalone financial 
statements  give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India including Indian Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) specified 
under section 133 of the Act, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31st March 2024, its profits including other comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the standalone Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code 
of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the standalone financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the annual report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the 
matter to those charged with governance as required under SA 720 'The Auditor's responsibilities Relating to Other Information’.

Responsibility of Management for standalone financial statements 
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation 
of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance including other 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, including the Ind AS specified under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
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Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; 
selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the standalone Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion 
on whether the Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the standalone financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.
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Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes it 
probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the standalone financial statements may be influenced. 
We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of 
our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the standalone financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of India in terms of 

sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the “Annexure A” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 
4 of the Order.

2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

 a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit;

 b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our 
examination of those books;

 c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash 
Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

 d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified under 
Section 133 of the Act.

 e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31st March, 2024 taken on record by the Board 
of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31st March, 2024 from being appointed as a director in terms of 
Section 164 (2) of the Act.

 f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements of the 
Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure B” to this report. Our 
report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial 
controls with reference to standalone financial statements.

 g) The managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2024 has been paid by the Company to its directors in accordance 
with the provisions of section 197 of the Act.

 h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit 

and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

 I. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its standalone financial 
statements – Refer Note no 40 and 41 to the standalone Financial Statements;

 II. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 
foreseeable losses- Refer Note No 47 to the standalone Financial Statements: 
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Place :  Kochi 
Date : 08th August 2024

 III. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the 
Company. 

 IV. (a) The Management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds (which are material 
either individually or in aggregate) have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share 
premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person or entity, including foreign 
entity (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary 
shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of 
the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

  (b) The Management has represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds (which are material either 
individually or in aggregate) have been received by the Company from any person or entity, including foreign entity 
(“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, 
whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or 
on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of 
the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

  (c) Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, 
nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) 

of Rule 11(e), as provided under (a) and (b) above, contain any material misstatement.

 V. The final dividend paid by the Company during the year in respect of the same declared for the previous year is in 
accordance with section 123 of the Act to the extent it applies to payment of dividend.

  The Board of Directors of the Company have proposed final dividend for the year which is subject to the approval of the 
members at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. The dividend declared is in accordance with section 123 of the Act to 
the extent it applies to declaration of dividend.

 VI. Based on our examination which included test checks, the Company has used accounting software for maintaining its 
books of account for the year ended March 31, 2024, which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the 
same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software. Further, during the course 

of our audit, we did not come across any instance of audit trail feature being tampered with.

As provision to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is applicable from April 1, 2023, reporting under Rule 11 (g) of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 on preservation of audit trail as per the statutory requirements for record retention is not 
applicable for the financial year ended March 31, 2024.

For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants

(FRN: 001488S)

C.R. Rema
Partner

Membership No. 029182
UDIN: 24029182BKCAQR9255
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ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
(Referred to in Paragraph 1 under the heading “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” of our report of even date)

To the best of our information and according to the explanations provided to us by the Company and the books of account and records 
examined by us in the normal course of audit, we state that:

i. In respect of the Company’s Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets:

 (a) (A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and situation 
of Property, Plant and Equipment and relevant details of right-of-use assets.

  (B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

 (b) Property, Plant and Equipment and right-of-use assets of the Company have been physically verified by the management 
during the year, which, in our opinion is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and nature of its assets and 
that no material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

 (c) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the records of the 
Company and the confirmation from financial lender in respect of title deeds deposited with them and based on the 
details of land and building furnished to us by the Company, the title deeds of immovable properties (other than properties 
where the company is the lessee and the lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee) disclosed in the 
standalone financial statements are held in the name of the Company.

 (d) The Company has not revalued any of its Property, Plant and Equipment (including right-of-use assets) and intangible 
assets during the period.

 (e) No proceedings have been initiated during the period or are pending against the Company for holding any benami 

property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (as amended in 2016) and rules made thereunder.

ii. a.   Physical verification of inventory has been conducted at reasonable intervals by management. In our opinion, the 
coverage and procedure of such verification by the management is appropriate. No discrepancies of 10% or more in the 
aggregate for each class of inventory were noticed on such verification.

 b.     The Company has been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of `5 crore, in aggregate, during the year, from banks 
or financial institutions on the basis of security of current assets. Quarterly returns/statements filed by the company 
with such banks/financial institutions are in agreement with the books of the company. The company has also availed 
working capital loans secured against fixed deposits. The company is not required to file quarterly returns or statements 

for such loans.

iii. The company has not made investments in, provided any guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in the nature 
of loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties during the year and 

hence reporting under clause 3(iii) of the Order is not applicable.

iv. The company has complied with the provisions of Sections 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of making investments. 
The company has not granted any loans, or given any guarantees or security for which the provisions of section 185 and 186 
of the Companies Act 2013 are applicable.
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v. The Company has not accepted any deposit or amounts which are deemed to be deposits. Hence, reporting under clause 3(v) 
of the Order is not applicable.

vi.  We have broadly reviewed the books of accounts maintained by the Company, pursuant to the rules prescribed by the Central 
Government for the maintenance of cost records under sub-section (1) of section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, and are 
of the opinion that prima facie, the prescribed accounts and records have been made and maintained. We have however not 
made a detailed examination of the cost records with a view to determine whether they are accurate or complete.

vii. In respect of statutory dues:

 (a) In our opinion, the Company has generally been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues, including Goods and 
Services tax, Provident Fund, Employees’ State Insurance, Income Tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, duty of Custom, duty of 
Excise, Value Added Tax, Cess and other material statutory dues applicable to it with the appropriate authorities.

  There were no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Goods and Service tax, Provident Fund, Employees’ State 
Insurance, Income Tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, duty of Custom, duty of Excise, Value Added Tax, Cess and other material 
statutory dues in arrears as at March 31, 2024 for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

 (b) Dues outstanding in respect of statutory dues referred to in sub-clause (a), which have not been deposited on account 
of any dispute are as follows

Nature of 
Dues Statute  Amount in Rupees 

lakhs
Period to which the 

amount relates Forum where the dispute is pending

Service Tax
The Finance Act, 

2004 and the Service 
Tax Rules

43.49
(Net of Rs. 2.40 paid) 

2009-10 & 
2010-11

Customs, Excise and Service Tax 
Appellate Tribunal, Bangalore

4.2
(Net of Rs.0.55 paid) 2011-12 Customs, Excise and Service Tax 

Appellate Tribunal, Bangalore

7.99
(Net of Rs.0.88 paid) 2012-13 Customs, Excise and Service Tax 

Appellate Tribunal, Bangalore

3.05
(Net of Rs.0.40 paid) 2013-14 Customs, Excise and Service Tax 

Appellate Tribunal, Bangalore

Value 
Added Tax

The Kerala Value 
Added tax Act, 2003

126.11 2008-09 High Court

165.47 2009-10 High Court

168.44 2010-11 High Court

192.65 2011-12 High Court

1.74 2016-17 Joint Commissioner (Appeal) Ernakulam

1.32 2016-17 Joint Commissioner (Appeal) Ernakulam

Goods and 
Service tax

Central Goods and 
Service tax 2017 1.08 AY 2017-18 Central GST

Income 
Tax Income Tax Act, 1961

4.72 AY 2010-11 Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)

26.41 AY 2011-12 Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)
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Income 
Tax Income Tax Act, 1961

0.49 AY 2016-17 Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)

7 AY 2016-17 Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)

221.05 AY 2016-17 Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)

119.94 AY 2017-18 Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)

148.61 AY 2018-19 Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)

0.15 AY 2019-20 Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)

311.87 AY 2022-23 Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)

Employees 
Provident 

Fund

Employees 
Provident Fund 

and Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act

65.12 High Court of Kerala

viii. There were no transactions relating to previously unrecorded income that have been surrendered or disclosed as income 
during the period in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961).

ix. a. The Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans and borrowing or in the payment of interest thereon to any lender.

 b. The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government or any govern-
ment authority.

 c. The Company has not obtained any term loans during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

 d. On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, the fund raised on short term basis have not 
been utilized for any long term purposes.

 e. On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, the Company has not taken any funds from any 
entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

 f. The Company has not raised any loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in its subsidiaries and hence 
reporting on clause 3(ix)(f) of the Order is not applicable.

x. a. The Company has not raised moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer (including debt instruments) 
during the period and hence reporting under clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

 b. During the period, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or convertible 
debentures (fully or partly or optionally) and hence reporting under clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

xi. a. No fraud by the Company and no material fraud on the Company has been noticed or reported during the period.

 b. No report under sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Companies Act has been filed in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under 
rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.

 c. The company has not received any whistle blower complaints during the period and hence reporting under clause 3(xi)
(c) of the Order is not applicable.

xii. The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under clause (xii) (a), (b) and (c) of the Order is not applicable.
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xiii. In our opinion, the Company is in compliance with Section 177 and 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 with respect to applicable 
transactions with the related parties and the details of related party transactions have been disclosed in the financial 
statements as required by the applicable accounting standards.

xiv. a. In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

 b. We have considered the internal audit reports of the Company issued till date for the period under audit.

xv. During the year, the Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its Directors or persons connected with 
its directors and hence provisions of section 192 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable to the Company.

xvi. a. In our opinion, the Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. 
Hence, reporting under clause 3(xvi) (a) and (b) of the Order is not applicable.

 b. The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by the Reserve Bank of India. 
Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

 c. In our opinion, there is no core investment company within the Group (as defined in the Core Investment Companies 
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016) and accordingly reporting under clause 3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not applicable.

xvii. The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current and in the immediately preceding financial year. 

xviii. There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors of the company during the year.

xix. On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of financial 
liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements and our knowledge of the Board of Directors and 
Management plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our 
attention, which causes us to believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report indicating that 
Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a 
period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of 
the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give 
any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get 
discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

xx. a. There are no unspent amounts towards Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) on other than ongoing projects requiring a 
transfer to a Fund specified in Schedule VII to the Companies Act in compliance with second proviso to sub-section (5) 
of Section 135 of the said Act. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(xx)(a) of the Order is not applicable for the year.

 b. In respect of ongoing projects, the Company has transferred unspent Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) amount as 
at the end of the financial year, to a Special account within a period of 30 days from the end of the said financial year in 
compliance with the provision of section 135(6) of the Act.

For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants

(FRN: 001488S)

C.R. Rema
Partner

Membership No. 029182
UDIN: 24029182BKCAQR9255

Place :  Kochi 
Date : 08th August 2024
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ANNEXURE B TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
(Referred to in Paragraph 2(f) under the heading “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements”  

of our report of even date)

Independent Auditor’s Report on the Internal financial controls with reference to the standalone financial statements  

under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements of Lakeshore Hospital and Research 
Centre Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March, 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended on that date. 

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls with reference to the standalone 
financial statements based on the internal control criteria established by the Company considering the essential components 
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of 
its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and 
errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as 
required under the Companies Act, 2013. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI and the Standards 
on Auditing prescribed under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial 
controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements 
was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference 
to standalone financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
Company’s internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements. 

Meaning of Internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements 
A company's internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
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accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and Directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements 
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements, including the 
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not 
be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements to 
future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion 
In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the Company has, in all material respects, 
an adequate internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements and such internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements were operating effectively as at 31 March 2024, based on the internal financial controls 
with reference to standalone financial statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of 
internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants

(FRN: 001488S)

C.R. Rema
Partner

Membership No. 029182
UDIN: 24029182BKCAQR9255

Place :  Kochi 
Date : 08th August 2024
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LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED
Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024

(` in lakhs)

Particulars Note No.  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Assets:
Non-current assets
(a)   Property, Plant and Equipment 4  34,595.78  32,764.38 
(b)  Capital work-in-progress 5  189.46  567.26 
(c)  Other Intangible assets 6  110.88  43.85 
(d)  Right-of-use assets 7  366.99  423.40 
(e)  Financial Assets
       (i)   Investments 8  5.00  5.00 
       (ii)   Other financial assets 9  1,602.83  1,321.66 
(f)  Non-current tax assets (net) 10  953.69  458.65 
(g)  Other non-current assets 11  585.34  155.15 

 38,409.97  35,739.35 
Current assets
(a)  Inventories 12  1,070.93  1,271.85 
(b)  Financial Assets
        (i)   Trade receivables 13  2,698.03  2,014.36 
        (ii)   Cash and cash equivalents 14  982.51  3,643.15 
        (iii)  Bank balances other than (ii) above 15  6,671.76  6,177.08 
        (iv)  Loans 16  2.48  5.58 
        (v)   Other financial assets 17  675.32  986.13 
(c)  Other current assets 18  261.11  187.30 

 12,362.14  14,285.45 
Total Assets  50,772.11  50,024.80 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity :
(a)   Equity Share capital 19  10,000.00  10,000.00 
(b)   Other Equity 20  30,030.49  27,351.85 

 40,030.49  37,351.85 
Liabilities :
Non-current liabilities
(a)   Financial Liabilities
        (i)   Borrowings 21  -    723.56 
        (ii)  Lease liabilities 22  361.15  427.46 

28TH ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 2 3 - 2 0 2 4

46



(b)   Provisions 23  1,219.83  1,102.09 
(c)   Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 24  1,736.74  1,980.79 
(d)   Other non-current liabilities 25  565.12  327.02 

 3,882.84  4,560.92 
Current liabilities
(a)   Financial Liabilities
        (i)    Borrowings 26  2.65  578.85 
        (ii)   Lease liabilities 22  66.94  54.47 
        (iii)  Trade payables 27
               -  Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small  
                    enterprises

 267.02  106.11 

               - Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro  
                   enterprises and small enterprises

 3,008.42  3,426.27 

        (iv)  Other financial liabilities 28  2,980.11  3,521.08 
(b)   Other current liabilities 29  420.73  317.29 
(c)   Provisions 30  112.91  107.96 

 6,858.78  8,112.03 
Total Equity and Liabilities  50,772.11  50,024.80 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary
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LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2024

(` in lakhs)

Particulars Note No.  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Income:
Revenue from operations 31  39,622.01  41,903.62 
Other income 32  666.84  541.96 

Total Income  40,288.85  42,445.58 
Expenses:

Purchase of Medicines & Consumables 33  11,132.09  11,170.49 
Changes in inventories of  Medicines & Consumables 34  200.92  -165.70 
Employee benefits expense 35  7,506.38  6,380.09 
Finance costs 36  92.65  211.01 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 37  2,369.81  2,269.08 
Other expenses 38  13,485.85  14,338.72 

Total expenses  34,787.70  34,203.69 
Profit before  tax  5,501.15  8,241.89 
Tax expense:

Current tax
10

 1,352.40  2,660.93 
Tax for earlier years  0.87  17.09 
Deferred tax  -240.70  -188.48 

 1,112.57  2,489.54 
Profit for the year  4,388.58  5,752.35 
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations  -13.28  -39.76 
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  3.34  11.58 

Total other comprehensive income for the year  -9.94  -28.18 
Total Comprehensive Income for the year  4,378.64  5,724.17 
Earnings per equity share of Rs 10 each: 39

Basic (Rs)  4.39  5.75 
Diluted (Rs)  4.39  5.75 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2024

(` in lakhs)

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Cash flow from operating activites
Profit before tax  5,487.87  8,202.13 
Adjustments for :

Depreciation and amortisation  2,369.81  2,269.08 

Interest expense  92.65  211.01 

Interest income  -532.78  -416.14 

Net (Profit)/ Loss on sale/write off of Property Plant and Equipment  -7.72  67.08 

Grant income  -43.36  -37.44 

Bad debts and advances written off  -    -   

Provision for doubtful debts  10.93  1,098.86 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes  7,377.40  11,394.58 
Movements in working capital :

(Increase) / decrease in inventories  200.92  -165.70 

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables  -1,271.90  -2,880.66 

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables  -36.96  -879.56 

 6,269.46  7,468.66 

Direct taxes paid net of refunds  -1,848.31  -1,983.24 

Net cash flows from operating activities (A)  4,421.15  5,485.42 
Cashflow from investing activities

Additions to Property, Plant & Equipment (including capital work in  
progress)

 -4,555.83  -903.61 

Investment in subsidiaries  -    -   

Sale or withdrawal of property, plant and equipment  51.62  9.19 

Interest received  574.33  229.71 

Net cash flows from investing activites (B)  -3,929.88  -664.71 
Cashflow from financing activities

Proceeds/(Repayment) of Buyers credit/ Term Loan  -1,302.40  -577.39 

Movement in Short term borrowings (Net)  2.65  -   

Dividend paid  -1,696.26  -1,500.67 

Payment of lease liabilities  -91.88  -83.86 

Interest paid  -64.01  -169.34 
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Net cash flows from financing activities (C)  -3,151.91  -2,331.26 
Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents (A)+(B)+(C)  -2,660.64  2,489.45 
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the Year  3,643.15  1,153.70 
Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the Year

Cash on hand  23.87  23.13 
Balance  with Banks in current account and deposit account  958.64  3,620.02 
Cash and cash equivalents  982.51  3,643.15 
Net increase/(decrease) in Cash and Cash equivalents  -2,660.64  2,489.45 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED
Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended March 31, 2024

A. Equity Share Capital    (` in Lakhs)

As at 01.04.2023 Changes in equity share capital during the year As at 31.03.2024
10000  -   10000

As at 01.04.2022 Changes in equity share capital during the year As at 31.03.2023
10000  -   10000

B. Other Equity  (` in Lakhs) 

 Securities 
Premium 

Retained 
Earnings

 Capital 
Redemption 

reserve 
 Total 

Balance as at April 1, 2022  14,000.00  8,627.68  500.00  23,127.68 

Profit for the year  -    5,752.35  -    5,752.35 

Add Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -28.18  -    -28.18 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    5,724.17  -    5,724.17 

Less Dividends  -    1,500.00  -    1,500.00 

Balance as at March 31, 2022  14,000.00  12,851.85  500.00  27,351.85 
Add Profit for the year  -    4,388.58  4,388.58 

Add Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -9.94  -9.94 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    4,378.64  4,378.64 

Less Dividends  -    1,700.00  1,700.00 

Balance as at March 31, 2023  14,000.00  15,530.49  500.00  30,030.49 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary
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1.  CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1. Corporate information
 LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED was incorporated  on April 4, 1996 as a Public Limited Company. 

The Company is domiciled in India and having registered office at Nettoor, Kerala. The Company is engaged in providing 
healthcare services and has a super speciality hospital at Kochi. The Ind AS standalone financial statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2024 were approved by the Board of Directors on 08.08.2024

2. Material Accounting Policies

2.1  Statement of compliance
 Standalone Financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in 

India including Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under the Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with 
rule 3 of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and the Companies (Accounting Standards) Amendment 
Rules issued thereafter.

2.2 Basis of preparation of Financial Statements
 The standalone financial statements of the Company have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain 

financial instruments which are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting 
policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.

2.3 Application of New Accounting Pronouncements
 New Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Company effective from April 1, 2023:

 Amendments to Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
 On March 31, 2023, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs notified the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment 

Rules, 2023 effective from April 1, 2023. This amendment requires the companies to disclose their material accounting 
policies rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information, together with other information, is 
material when it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions of primary users of general purpose financial statements. 
The adoption of these amendments to Ind AS 1 did not have any material impact on the standalone financial statements.

 Amendments to Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
 On March 31, 2023, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs notified the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment 

Rules, 2023 effective from April 1, 2023. This amendment has introduced a definition of ‘accounting estimates’ and included 
amendments to Ind AS 8 to help companies distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. 
The adoption of these amendments to Ind AS 8 did not have any material impact on the standalone financial statements.

 Amendments to Ind AS 12, Income Taxes
 "On March 31, 2023, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs notified the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment 

Rules, 2023 effective from April 1, 2023. The amendments to Ind AS 12 clarify how companies account for deferred tax on 
transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations.

 In specified circumstances, companies are exempt from recognising deferred tax when they recognise assets or liabilities for 
the first time. The amendments clarify that this exemption does not apply to transactions such as leases and decommissioning 
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obligations and companies are required to recognise deferred tax on such transactions. The adoption of these amendments 
to Ind AS 12 did not have any material impact on the standalone financial statements."

2.4 Current versus non-current classification
 The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current classification. 

 An asset is treated as current when it is:

 - Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;

 - Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

 - Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period, or

 - Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period

 All other assets are classified as non-current.

 A liability is current when:

 - It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

 - It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

 - It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

 - There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

 All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

 Deferred tax assets/ liabilities are classified as non-current assets/ liabilities.

2.5 Use of estimates and judgements
 The preparation of the standalone financial statements in conformity with the Ind AS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities and disclosures as at date of the standalone financial statements and the reported amounts of the revenues 
and expenses for the years presented. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions 
and conditions.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods."

2.6 Critical Accounting estimates and judgements:
 The application of material accounting policies that require critical accounting estimates involving complex and subjective 

judgements and the use of assumptions in the standalone financial statements have been disclosed below:

 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
 The Company reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment at the end of each 

reporting period. Assumptions are also made as to whether an item meets the description of asset so as to warrant its 
capitalisation and which component of the asset may be capitalised. Reassessment of life may result in change in depreciation 
expense in future periods.
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 Recognition of deferred tax assets 
 The Company reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period. Significant judgements 

are involved in determining the elements of deferred tax items. 

 Impairment of unquoted investments 
 The Company reviews its carrying value of investments annually, or more frequently when there is indication for impairment. 

If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is accounted for.

 Recognition and measurement of provisions
 The recognition and measurement of provisions are based on the assessment of the probability of an outflow of resources and 

on past experience and circumstance known at the balance sheet date. The actual outflow of resources at a future date may 
therefore vary from the figure included in provisions.

 Contingencies and commitments
 In the normal course of business, contingent liabilities may arise from litigations and other claims against the Company. 

Where the potential liabilities have a low probability of crystallizing or are very difficult to quantify reliably, we treat them as 
contingent liabilities. Such liabilities are disclosed in the notes but are not provided for in the standalone financial statements. 
Although there can be no assurance regarding the final outcome of the legal proceedings, we do not expect them to have a 
materially adverse impact on our financial position or profitability.

 Expected credit losses on financial assets
 The impairment provisions of financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected timing of collection. 

The Company uses judgment in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the expected credit loss calculation 
based on the Company’s history of collections, customer’s creditworthiness, existing market conditions as well as forward 
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

 Recognition and measurement of defined benefit obligations
 The obligation arising from defined benefit plan is determined on the basis of actuarial assumptions. Key actuarial assumptions 

include discount rate, trends in salary escalation and vested future benefits and life expectancy.

 Classification of leases
 The Company enters into leasing arrangements for some assets. The Company has determined, based on an evaluation of 

the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic life of 
the land and office premises and the fair value of the asset, that it does not retain significant risks and rewards of ownership 
of the land and the office premises and accounts for the contracts as operating leases. Further, refer note no. 22, for effect of 
transition to Ind AS 116 and other disclosures relating to leases.

2.7 Property , Plant and Equipment (PPE)
 On adoption of Ind AS, the Company retained the carrying value for all of its property , plant and equipment as recognised in 

the standalone financial statements as at the date of transition to Ind AS measured as per the previous GAAP and used that 
as its deemed cost as permitted by Ind AS 101 'First time adoption of Indian Accounting Standards'. 

 Property, Plant and Equipments are stated at cost which includes capitalized borrowing costs, less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment in value if any. Cost includes purchase price, (inclusive of import duties and non – refundable purchase 
taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates), other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management and estimated cost of 
dismantling and restoring onsite. 
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 When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components). The cost of replacement spares/ major inspection relating to property, plant and equipment is 
capitalized only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with these will flow to the company and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably.

 The cost of Assets not ready for use as at the Balance Sheet date are disclosed under Capital Work-In-Progress. Impairment 
loss is charged to the standalone Statement of Profit and Loss of the period in which the asset is identified as impaired, when 
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable value. The impairment loss recognized in the prior accounting period 
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimate of the recoverable amount.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised net within other 
income/ expenses in the standalone statement of profit and loss."

2.8 Intangible Assets
 Hospital Management System Software of the company is treated as an intangible asset in accordance with the Ind AS 38- 

"Intangible Assets".

2.9 Depreciation / Amortisation
 Depreciation is provided on Straight Line Method. The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. The estimated useful lives 
of items of property, plant and equipment for the current and comparative period are as follows:

Block of Assets Useful life 
Building (RCC) 60 years

Building (Non RCC) 30 years

Medical equipment 13 years

Other equipment 15 years

Furniture and fixtures 10 years

Vehicles 8 years

Office equipment 5 years

Electrical installation 10 years

Computers 3 years

 Cost of software treated as intangible assets is amortised under straight line method over a period of 5 years.

2.10 Impairment of non financial assets
 The Company assesses the impairment of assets with reference to each cash generating unit, at each Balance Sheet date.  

If events or changes in circumstances based on internal and external factors indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable in full, the loss on account and the recoverable amount, is accounted for accordingly. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
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2.11 Inventories 
 Inventories of medicines, consumables and other items of inventory are valued at lower of cost or net realizable value, 

on First In First Out basis. The net realizable value of bought out inventories is taken at their current replacement value.  
Crockery and Cutlery are valued at cost and are subject to 1/3 rd write off wherever applicable applying FIFO method. The 
net realisable value is not applicable in the absence of any further modification/alteration before being consumed in-house.  
Cost of these inventories comprises of all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location.

2.12 Equity instruments & Financial instruments

 Equity instruments
 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its 

liabilities. Equity instruments which are issued for cash are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Equity 
instruments which are issued for consideration other than cash are recorded at fair value of the equity instrument.

 Initial recognition
 The Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. All financial assets and liabilities are recognized at amortized cost, except investments which are measured at 
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
that are not at fair value through profit or loss, are added to the fair value on initial recognition. Regular way purchase and sale 
of financial assets are accounted for at trade date.

 Subsequent measurement

 Non-derivative financial instruments

 Financial assets carried at amortised cost
 A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the 

asset in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
 A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it is held within a business 

model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. The Company has made an irrevocable election for its investments which are classified as equity 
instruments to present the subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income based on its business model. 
Further, in cases where the company has made an irrevocable election based on its business model, for its investments which 
are classified as equity instruments, the subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income."

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
 A financial asset which is not classified in any of the above categories are subsequently fair valued through profit or loss.

 Trade Receivables
 The Company assesses at each Balance Sheet date whether a financial asset or a group of financial asset is impaired.  Ind 

AS 109 requires expected credit loss to be measured through a loss allowance. The Company recognises lifetime expected 
credit losses for all trade receivables that do not constitute a financing transaction. Impairment loss allowance is based on a 
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simplified approach as permitted by Ind AS 109. As a practical expedient, the company uses a provision matrix to determine 
the impairment loss on the portfolio of its trade receivables. 

 Financial liabilities
 Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for contingent 

consideration recognized in a business combination which is subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss. For 
trade and other payables maturing within one year from the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts approximate fair value 
due to the short maturity of these instruments.

 Off setting of financial instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are off set and the net amount is reported in financial statements if there is a currently 

enforceable legal right to off set the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

 Derecognition of financial instruments
 The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire 

or it transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition under Ind AS 109. A financial liability (or a part 
of a financial liability) is derecognized from the Company’s balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged or cancelled or expires.

 Fair value of financial instruments
 In determining the fair value of its financial instruments, the company uses a variety of methods and assumptions that are 

based on market conditions and risks existing at each reporting date. The methods used to determine fair value include 
discounted cash flow analysis, available quoted market prices and dealer quotes. All methods of assessing fair value result in 
general approximation of value, and such value may never actually be realized. For all other financial instruments the carrying 
amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturity of those instruments.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents
 The Company considers all highly liquid financial instruments, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash that 

are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value and having original maturities of three months or less from the date 
of purchase, to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of balances with banks which are unrestricted for 
withdrawal and usage.

2.14 Foreign Currency Transactions
 The standalone financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (“INR”), which is the functional currency and presentation 

currency of the Company.

 Foreign Currency Transactions:
 Foreign exchange transactions are recorded in functional currency adopting the exchange rate prevailing on the dates of 

respective transactions.  Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies at the year end are re-measured at the exchange 
rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non monetary foreign currency items are carried at cost. Any income or expense on 
account of exchange difference either on settlement or on restatement is recognised in the standalone statement of Profit 
and Loss.

2.15 Provision , Contingent Liabilities and Contingent assets
 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 

estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions 
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(excluding retirement benefits and compensated leave)  are not discounted to its present value and are determined by the 
best estimate of the outflow of economic benefits required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. These are reviewed 
at each reporting date adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

 Contingent liability is disclosed when the company has a possible obligation or a present obligation and it is probable that a 
cash flow will not be required to settle the obligation.

 Contingent assets are not disclosed in the financial statements unless an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

2.16 Revenue Recognition
 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue 

can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

      (i) Operating income
 Operating income is recognised as and when the services are rendered / pharmacy items are sold. Revenue from sale of 

goods is recognized when all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been passed to the buyer, 
usually on delivery of the goods.

 The Company recognises a deferred income (contract liability) if consideration has been received (or has become 
receivable) before the Company transfers the promised goods or services to the customer.  Deferred income mainly 
relates to remaining performance obligations in (partially) unsatisfied long-term contracts or are related to amounts 
the Company expects to receive for goods and services that have not yet been transferred to customers under existing, 
non-cancellable or otherwise enforceable contracts. 

 Contract assets are recognised when there is excess of revenue earned over billings on contracts. Contract assets are 
classified as unbilled receivables (only act of invoicing is pending) when there is unconditional right to receive cash, and 
only passage of time is required, as per contractual terms.

 (ii) Income from academic services
 Revenue is recognized on pro-rata basis on the completion of such services over the duration of the program.

 (iii) Export benefits
 Income from ‘Served from India Scheme/Service Exports from India Scheme’ is recognized as and when the claims are 

admitted. 

 (iv) Interest
 Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the applicable 

interest rate. Interest income is included under the head “Other Income” in the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss. 

 (v) Research Projects
 In respect of grants received for research projects/programmes from sponsor institutions for payment to investigators 

who are consultant doctors of the company, for carrying out research activities/ specified clinical studies in terms of 
tripartite agreement entered into between the company, sponsor institution and the investigator, the grant received/
expenses incurred there against to the extent utilized, are accounted as income/expenditure of the year and the unspent 
amounts are carried forward to subsequent years to be accounted on actual utilisation thereof.
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2.17 Employee benefits

 i) Employees  Benefits
  (i) Short Term Employee Benefits
 All employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of rendering the service are classified as short-term 

employee benefits and recognised in the period in which the employee renders the related service.

  (ii) Defined Contribution Plans
 The company has defined contribution plans for employees comprising of Provident Fund and Employee’s State 

Insurance. The contributions paid/ payable to these plans during the year are charged to the Standalone Statement 
of Profit and Loss for the year.   

  (iii) Defined Benefit Plans - Gratuity 
 The net present value of the obligation for gratuity benefits as determined on independent actuarial valuation, 

conducted annually using the projected unit credit method, as adjusted for unrecognized past services cost if any, 
is recognised in the accounts. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the Standalone Statement of Profit 
and Loss for the period in which they occur. 

  (iv) Long Term Employee Benefits
 The company has a scheme for compensated absences for employees, the liability of which is determined on the 

basis of an independent actuarial valuation carried out at the end of the year, using the projected unit credit method. 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the period in 
which they occur. 

 ii) Expense on issue of Sweat Equity Shares
 In respect of shares issued as sweat equity shares, the accounting value of the fair price of the shares as determined 

shall be disclosed as compensation to the employee or director under Employee Benefits Expense in the Standalone 
Statement of Profit and Loss during the relevant accounting period in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013.

2.18 Borrowing cost
 General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition/ construction or production of qualifying assets (net 

of income earned on temporary deployment of funds) are capitalized as part of cost of such assets upto the date when such 
assets are ready for intended use. A qualifying asset is one that necessarily takes substantial period of time to get ready for 
its intended use. All other borrowing costs are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which they are 
incurred.

2.19 Leases
 The Company evaluates each contract or arrangement, whether it qualifies as lease as defined under Ind AS 116.

 As a lessee:
 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for Land and Buildings. The Company assesses whether a 

contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether:

 (i)    the contract involves the use of an identified asset

 (ii)   the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period of the lease and

 (iii)  the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.
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 At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognises a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) and a corresponding lease 
liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term of twelve months or less (shortterm 
leases) and leases of low value assets. For these shortterm and leases of low value assets, the Company recognises the lease 
payments as an operating expense over the term of the lease.

 The right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 
for any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any lease 
incentives. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated from the commencement date on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and 
useful life of the underlying asset.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments. The lease payments are discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using the incremental borrowing rates. The lease 
liability is subsequently remeasured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing the 
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

 A lease liability is remeasured upon the occurrence of certain events such as a change in the lease term or a change in an index 
or rate used to determine lease payments. The remeasurement normally also adjusts the leased assets."

 Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been classified 
as financing cash flows.

 As a lessor:
 Leases under which the Company is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Lease contracts where all the risks 

and rewards are substantially transferred to the lessee, the lease contracts are classified as finance leases. All other leases 
are classified as operating leases.

2.20 Prior period adjustment
 Prior period adjustments  due to errors, having material impact on the financial affairs of the Company, are  corrected 

retrospectively by restating the comparative amounts for prior periods presented in which the error occurred or if the error 
occurred before the earliest period presented, by restating the opening statement of financial position.

2.21 Taxes on Income
 Income tax
 Income tax expense comprises current tax expense and the net change in the deferred tax asset or liability during the year. 

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss, except when they relate to items 
that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

 Current tax
 Current tax is measured at the amount of tax expected to be payable on the taxable income for the year as determined in 

accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961.Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are off set when there 
is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle the asset and the liability on 
a net basis.

 Deferred tax
 Deferred income tax is recognised using the Balance Sheet approach. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognised 

for deductible and taxable temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
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amount, except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that either future taxable profits or reversal of deferred 
tax liabilities will be available, against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset shall be reviewed at the end of each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be 
utilised.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the 
deferred tax liability is settled.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are off set when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.

 Minimum Alternate Tax credit is recognised as deferred tax asset only when and to the extent there is convincing evidence 
that the Company will pay normal income tax during the specified period. Such asset is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date 
and the carrying amount of the MAT credit asset is written down to the extent there is no longer a convincing evidence to the 
effect that the Company will pay normal income tax during the specified period.

2.22 Earnings Per Share
 Basic EPS are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted 

average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. Partly paid equity shares are treated as a fraction of an equity 
share to the extent that they are entitled to participate in dividends relative to a fully paid equity share during the reporting 
period. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for events such as bonus 
issue, bonus element in a rights issue to existing shareholders, share split and reverse share split (consolidation of shares) that 
have changed the number of equity shares outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources.

 Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (after adjusting for 
interest on the convertible preference shares, if any) by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the 
year plus the weighted average number of equity shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential equity 
shares into equity shares. Dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as of the beginning of the period, unless 
issued at a later date. Dilutive potential equity shares are determined independently for each period presented.

2.23 Segment Reporting
 Based on the “management approach” as defined in Ind AS 108, Operating Segments, the Chief Operating Decision Maker 

evaluates the Company’s performance and allocates resources based on an analysis of various performance indicators by 
business segments. Members of the Board of Company have been identified as Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM’’) 
as defined by Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments’’. Accordingly the company has only one reportable segment i.e. “Hospital 
Activities”.

2.24 Cash flow statement
 Cash Flows are reported using the Indirect Method, whereby  profit/loss before tax is adjusted for the effect of transactions of 

non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts or payments and items of income or expenses 
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associated with investing or financial cash flows. Cash flows from operating, investing and financial activities of the Company 
are segregated based on the available information.

 For the purpose of cash flow statement, Cash and cash equivalent comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts, if any. Bank overdrafts are disclosed within borrowings in current liabilities in the Balance Sheet

2.25 Dividend to equity shareholders
 Dividend to equity shareholders is recognised as a liability and deducted from shareholders’ equity, in the period in which the 

dividends are approved by the equity shareholders in the general meeting.

2.26 Investment in Subsidiaries
 A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the company.

 The company accounts for the investments in equity shares of subsidiaries at cost in accordance with Ind AS 27 - Separate 
Financial Statements.

2.27 Government grants
 Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached 

conditions will be complied with.

 Government grants related to revenue are recognised on a systematic basis in the statement of profit and loss over the 
periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended to compensate. Government grants related 
to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, shall be presented in the balance sheet by setting up the grant as 
deferred revenue. The grant set up as deferred income is recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life 
of the asset"

3. Recent accounting pronouncements - Standards issued but not yet effective
 The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standard or amendments to the existing standards under Companies 

(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended March 31, 2024, MCA has not notified 
any new standards or amendments to the existing standards applicable to the Company.
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5 Capital Work-in-Progress                                                                                                                                                                                 ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)   Calicut Medical Centre Project  0.00  2.25 
(b)   Others  189.46  565.01 

Total  189.46  567.26 

5.1 Capital work-in-progress ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2024                                                                    ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Amount in CWIP for a period of 

Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
Projects in Progress  188.40  1.06  -    -    189.46 

5.2 Capital work-in-progress ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2023                                                                      ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars
Amount in CWIP for a period of 

Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
Projects in Progress  561.32  5.94  -    -    567.26 

6 Other Intangible assets                                                                                                                                                                                          ` in Lakhs

Particulars

Gross Carrying Amount Amortisation Net Carrying Amount
As at  

1st April  
2023

  Additions/ 
adjustments 

during the year 

  Disposal/ 
adjustments 

during the year 

As at  
31st March 

2024

As at  
1st April  
2023

 For the year  Adjustment/ 
(withdrawal)

As at  
31st March 

2024

As at  
31st March 

2024

As at  
31st March 

2023

 Software  107.45  85.33  -    192.78  63.60  18.30  -    81.90  110.88  43.85 

Total  107.45  85.33  -    192.78  63.60  18.30  -    81.90  110.88  43.85 

Particulars

Gross Carrying Amount Amortisation Net Carrying Amount
As at  

1st April  
2022

  Additions/ 
adjustments 

during the year 

  Disposal/ 
adjustments 

during the year 

As at  
31st March 

2023

As at  
1st April  
2022

 For the year  Adjustment/ 
(withdrawal)

As at  
31st March 

2023

As at  
31st March 

2023

As at  
31st March 

2022

 Software  97.79  9.66  -    107.45  45.17  18.43  -    63.60  43.85  52.62 

Total  97.79  9.66  -    107.45  45.17  18.43  -    63.60  43.85  52.62 

7 Right-of-use assets                                                                                                                                                                                                ` in Lakhs

Particulars

Gross carrying amount Depreciation Net Carrying amount
As at  

1st April  
2023

  Additions   Disposal
As at  

31st March 
2024

As at  
1st April  
2023

 For the year Disposal
As at  

31st March 
2024

As at  
31st March 

2024

As at  
31st March 

2023
(a)   Land   95.55  -    -    95.55  4.85  0.97  -    5.82  89.73  90.70 

(b)   Land &  
        Building  527.31  -    -    527.31  194.61  55.44  -    250.05  277.26  332.70 

Total  622.86  -    -    622.86  199.46  56.41  -    255.87  366.99  423.40 
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Particulars

Gross carrying amount Depreciation Net Carrying amount
As at  

1st April  
2022

  Additions   Disposal
As at  

31st March 
2023

As at  
1st April  
2022

 For the year   Disposal
As at  

31st March 
2023

As at  
31st March 

2023

As at  
31st March 

2022
(a)   Land   95.55  -    -    95.55  3.88  0.97  -    4.85  90.70  91.67 

(b)   Land &  
        Building  527.31  -    -    527.31  139.16  55.45  -    194.61  332.70  388.15 

Total  622.86  -    -    622.86  143.04  56.42  -    199.46  423.40  479.82 

8 Investments                                                                                                                                                                                                                 ̀  in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Investment carried at cost - Unquoted equity shares

Investment in Subsidiary Company
Lakeshore Food and Beverages Private Limited
5,000 equity shares (March 31, 2023: 5,000 equity shares) of Rs. 100 
each, fully paid up.

 5.00  5.00 

Total  5.00  5.00 

9 Other Financial Assets - Non Current                                                                                                                                                             ̀  in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Security deposits  218.63  209.56 
Bank deposits with maturity period more than 12 months  1,384.20  1,112.10 

Total  1,602.83  1,321.66 

10 Non Current/ Current tax assets / liability (Net)                                                                                                                                     ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Non current tax assets
Advance income tax net of provisions  2,306.09  2,566.33 

Current tax assets
Advance income tax net of provisions  -    -   

Current tax liability
Provision for current tax  1,352.40  2,107.68 

Total  953.69  458.65 

 Income tax recognised in profit & loss                                                                                                                                                           ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Current tax:
Current income tax charge in Profit & Loss  1,352.40  2,660.93 
Income tax relating to earlier years  0.87  17.09 
Current income tax charge in Other Comprehensive Income  -    -   

Total (A)  1,353.27  2,678.02 

28TH ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 2 3 - 2 0 2 4

65



Deferred tax:
In respect of current year (Profit & Loss)  (240.70)  (188.48)
In respect of current year (Other Comprehensive Income)  (3.34)  (11.58)

Total (B)  (244.04)  (200.06)
Income tax expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss (A+B)  1,109.23  2,477.96 

 The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:-                                        ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Profit before tax  5,501.15  8,241.89 
Income tax expense calculated @ 25.168% (29.12%)  1,384.53  2,400.04 
Effect of expenses/income that are not deductible in determining 
taxable profit

 0.96  4.02 

Effect of expenses incurred on Corporate Social Responsibility not 
deductible in determining taxable profit

 27.08  19.32 

Effect of change in tax rate (subsequently enacted rate taken for 
Deferred tax)

 (268.82)  -   

Others:
Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current/ 
deferred tax of prior years

 0.15  16.64 

Other adjustments  (31.33)  49.51 
Income tax expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss  1,112.57  2,489.54 

 The Company has decided to opt for Section 115BAA of the Income Tax Act 1961 from the current financial year.  

 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) in relation to 2023-24                                                                                                                       ` in Lakhs

Particulars  Opening balance
 Recognised in  

Profit and Loss / 
Adjustments 

 Closing Balance

Provisions  1,191.15  (118.44)  1,072.71 
Property, plant and equipment  -3,190.19  333.34  (2,856.85)
MAT Credit availed  -    -    -   
Others  18.25  29.15  47.40 

Total  (1,980.79)  (1,736.74)

 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) in relation to 2022-23                                                                                                                       ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  Opening balance
 Recognised in  

Profit and Loss / 
Adjustments 

 Closing Balance

Provisions  844.53  346.62  1,191.15 
Property, plant and equipment  (3,058.08)  (132.11)  (3,190.19)
MAT Credit availed  560.93  (560.93)  -   
Others  32.70  (14.45)  18.25 

Total  (1,619.92)  (1,980.79)
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11 Other non-current assets                                                                                                                                                                                     ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Unsecured, considered good
Deposits with statutory authorities  68.95  68.95 
Capital advances                             516.39  86.20 

Total  585.34  155.15 

11.1 Deposits include Rs. 64.72 lakhs (Rs. 64.72 lakhs) made against disputed provident fund demands (See Note 40)

12 Inventories                                                                                                                                                                                                                    ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Inventories are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value

(a)   Medicines  295.60  385.72 

(b)   Medicines-in-transit  -    1.83 

(c)   Medical Consumables  735.70  757.71 

(d)   Consumables-in-transit  22.61  105.44 
(e)   Other Consumables  17.02  21.15 

Total  1,070.93  1,271.85 

13 Trade Receivables-Current                                                                                                                                                                                 ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Unsecured

Considered good  2,686.00  1,994.54 

Receivable from related parties (refer note 42)  12.03  19.82 

Credit impaired  2,038.81  2,027.89 

Significant increase in credit risk  -    -   
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (Expected credit loss allowance) 
against credit impaired trade receivables

 2,038.81  2,027.89 

Total  2,698.03  2,014.36 

13.1 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and receivable in normal operating cycle.

13.2 The Company has sent balance confirmation letters to the Insurance & Corporate Debtors and started the reconciliation 
process. The Company is not expecting any material impact while reconciling the same.

 Movement in the expected credit loss allowance                                                                                                                                     ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Opening balance  2,027.89  929.03 

Add: Loss allowance based on Expected Credit Loss  10.92  603.64 
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Add: Additional provision  -    495.22 

Less: Bad debts written off adjusted  -    -   

Closing Balance*  2,038.81  2,027.89 

* Current

13.3 Trade receivables ageing schedule for the year ended as on March 31, 2024                                                                            ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than  
6 months

6 months to  
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 

years Total

Undisputed Trade receivables –  
considered good  1,281.74  558.62  436.31  419.79  1.57  2,698.03 

Undisputed Trade receivables –  
Credit Impaired  81.53  98.44  204.53  365.32  1,288.99  2,038.81 

Gross Trade receivables  1,363.27  657.06  640.84  785.11  1,290.56  4,736.84 

Less: Allowance for credit loss  2,038.81 

Net Trade Receivables  2,698.03 

13.4 Trade receivables ageing schedule for the year ended as on March 31, 2023                                                                           ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than  
6 months

6 months to  
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 

years Total

Undisputed Trade receivables –  
considered good  1,459.61  203.63  152.97  197.90  0.25  2,014.36 

Undisputed Trade receivables –  
Credit Impaired  88.79  204.10  699.29  142.26  893.46  2,027.89 

Gross Trade receivables  1,548.40  407.73  852.26  340.15  893.71  4,042.25 

Less: Allowance for credit loss  2,027.89 

Net Trade Receivables  2,014.36 

14 Cash and Cash equivalents                                                                                                                                                                                 ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Balance  with Banks

In current account  956.07  3,181.53 

Term deposits with original maturity of less than three months  2.57  438.49 

Cash on hand  23.87  23.13 

Total  982.51  3,643.15 

14.1 Balances with banks in current accounts include earmarked balances for unpaid dividend Rs. 5.86 lakhs (Rs. 2.13 lakhs) and 
debit balances in overdraft account amounting to Rs.188.21 lakhs (Rs.348.66 lakhs).
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15 Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                                           ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Term Deposits with banks (due to mature within 12 months of the 
reporting date)

 6,671.76  6,177.08 

Total  6,671.76  6,177.08 

15.1 Term Deposits with banks includes deposit of 765.03 Lakhs (Rs. 841.11) held as security against bank guarantees issued 
towards EPCG scheme and  Rs. 848.78 Lakhs (Rs. 226.08 Lakhs) held as security against other bank guarantees.

16 Loans - Current                                                                                                                                                                                                           ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated

To parties other than related parties

Employee advances  18.93  22.03 

Less : Provision for doubtful advances  (16.45)  (16.45)

Total  2.48  5.58 

17 Other Financial Assets - Current                                                                                                                                                                     ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Security deposits  11.33  9.67 

Interest accrued on bank deposits  203.52  245.07 

Unbilled revenue  460.47  731.39 

Total  675.32  986.13 

18 Other Current Assets                                                                                                                                                                                             ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Unsecured, considered good

Advances other than capital advances  236.68  187.30 

Balance with Government authority  24.43 

Total  261.11  187.30 

19 Equity Share Capital                                                                                                                                                                                               ` in Lakhs

Particulars
 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Number ` in lakhs Number ` in lakhs
Authorised
Equity shares of  `10/- each  100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00 
Issued, Subscribed and  Fully paid up
Equity shares of `10 each fully paid up  100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00 

Total  100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00
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19.1 Reconciliation of  number of shares and amounts outstanding                                                                                                      ` in Lakhs

Particulars
 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Number ` in lakhs Number ` in lakhs
Equity Shares outstanding at the beginning 
of the year

 100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00

Add : shares issued during the year - - - -
Equity Shares outstanding at the end of the year  100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00

19.2 Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company                                                                                        ` in Lakhs

Name of Shareholder
 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Number of 
Shares held % of holding Number of 

Shares held % of holding

Mr. Shamsheer Vayalil Parambath  42,622,423 42.62%  42,622,423 42.62%

Mr. Yusuff Ali M A  18,800,668 18.80%  18,800,668 18.80%

19.3 Details of shares held by promoters                                                                                                                                                              ` in Lakhs

Promoter Name

 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

 No. of 
shares

% of total  
shares

 % Change 
during the 

year 

 No. of 
shares

% of total  
shares

 % Change 
during 

the year
Mr. Shamsheer Vayalil Parambath  42,622,423 42.62%  -   42,622,423 42.62%  -   

Mr. Yusuffali Musaliam Veettil Abdul Kader 18,800,668 18.80%  -    18,800,668 18.80%  -   

Mr. Sebastian P M  4,515,139 4.52%  -    4,515,139 4.52%  -   

Mr. Job Varghese  3,933,333 3.93%  -    3,933,333 3.93%  -   

Mr. Parayil Daniel Mathew  2,503,000 2.50%  -    2,503,000 2.50%  -   

Mr. Mudyilethu Mathai Mathai  1,333,330 1.33%  -    1,333,330 1.33%  -   

Mr. Dr. Molly Johny  1,170,010 1.17%  -    1,170,010 1.17%  -   

Mr. Kaivilayil Varghese Johny  1,170,000 1.17%  -    1,170,000 1.17%  -   

Mrs. Shabira Yusuff Ali  1,000,000 1.00%  -    1,000,000 1.00%  -   

Mr. K N Prabhakaran Nair  700,000 0.70%  -    700,000 0.70%  -   

Mr. Dr. K Chithrathara  40,000 0.04%  -    40,000 0.04%  -   

19.4 Terms/rights attached to equity shares
 The company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs.10 per share. Each holder of equity shares is entitled 

to one vote per share. The company declares and pays dividend in Indian Rupees. The dividend proposed by the Board of 
Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

 In the event of liquidation of the company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive the remaining assets of the 
company, after distribution of all preferential amounts, if any. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity 
shares held by the shareholders.      
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19.5 Details of shares issued for consideration other than cash
 10,00,000 sweat equity shares of Rs 10 each at a premium of Rs 20 per share was allotted during the financial year ended 

31.03.2016 to Dr. Philip Augustine as fully paid-up without payment being received in cash.

20 Other Equity                                                                                                                                                                                                                ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Capital Redemption Reserve
Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  500.00  500.00 
Securities Premium
Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  14,000.00  14,000.00 
Other Reserves 
Retained Earnings
Balance as at the beginning of the year  12,851.85  8,627.68 
Add: Profit for the period  4,388.58  5,752.35 
Add: Other Comprehensive income  -9.94  -28.18 
Total comprehensive income for the current year  17,230.49  14,351.85 
Less :
Dividend on equity shares  1,700.00  1,500.00 
Balance as at the end of the year  15,530.49  12,851.85 

Total  30,030.49  27,351.85 

20.1 Capital Redemption Reserve : Capital redemption reserve is a statutory non-distributable reserve into which the amounts are 
transferred following the redemption of Company’s own preference shares. It is utilised in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013.

20.2 Securities Premium : Securities premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The reserve is utilised in accordance 
with the provisions of section 52 of the Companies Act, 2013.

20.3 Distribution of dividend paid and proposed                                                                                                                                                ` in Lakhs
Particulars  2023-24  2022-23

Dividends on equity shares declared and paid  1,700.00  1,500.00 
(for the year ended 31 March 2023 Rs. 1.70 (PY: Rs. 1.50) per equity share) 
Proposed cash dividend for the year

 1,700.00  1,700.00 

21 Borrowings                                                                                                                                                                                                                  ` in Lakhs 
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

From Banks (Secured)
Term Loan (See Notes 21.1)  -    723.56 

Total  -    723.56 

21.1 Term loan is sanctioned by HDFC Bank Ltd, as re-imbursement of capex done during financial year 2017, 2018 & 2019,  
which is repayable in 7 years including 1 year moratorium, in equal quarterly repayment after the moratorium period with 
interest at the rate of one year MCLR + 30bps. Loan is pre-closed during the current financial year.
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21.2 Nature of security: Term loan from HDFC bank Ltd was secured by way of EM of 205.900 cents of land alongwith 10 floored 
building with 221700 sq.ft, EM of 54.54 cents of land, EM of the 11 floored building with 260000 sq.ft being constructed on 
the project land admeasuring 54.54 cents and hypothecation of medical equipment of the Company not specifically charged 
to other banks/ financial institutions.

22 Lease liability     
 The Company has adopted Ind AS 116 effective 1st April, 2019, using the modified retrospective method. The Company has 

applied the standard to its leases with the cumulative impact recognised on the date of initial application (1st April, 2019). 
Accordingly, previous period information has not been restated.

 This has resulted in recognising a right-of-use asset of Rs. 94.58 lakhs and a corresponding lease liability of Rs. 7.15 lakhs. 
The difference of Rs. 0.09 lakhs (net of deferred tax asset created of Rs. 0.04 lakhs) has been adjusted to retained earnings 
as at 1st April 2019. Prepaid rent which were earlier classified under “Other Assets” have been reclassified to right-of-use  
assets by Rs. 87.56 lakhs.The Company does not recognize RoU assets and lease liabilities for leases with less than twelve 
months of lease term and low-value assets on the date of initial application.

 The Company has lease contracts for land and building. Lease for land has lease term of 99 years, while lease for building 
has lease term of 8 years. The Company’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. 
The Company also has certain leases with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of low value. The Company applies the 
‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions for these leases. 

 The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the period are given in Note 7.

 Carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:                                                                              ` in Lakhs 
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2022

Opening balance  481.93  523.54 
Additions during the year  -    -   
Finance charge  38.04  42.25 
Repayment  91.88  83.86 
Closing balance  428.09  481.93 
Current  66.94  54.47 
Non current  361.15  427.46 

 The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:                                                                                                              ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets  56.41  56.41 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  38.04  42.25 
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in other expenses)  103.60  88.73 
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (included in other 
expenses)

 29.74  37.94 

Total  227.79  225.32 

The effective interest rate for lease liabilities is 8.5%

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 43.
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23 Provisions - Non Current                                                                                                                                                                                       ̀  in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)   Provision for employee benefits
(i)  Provision for compensated absences  160.41  149.50 
(ii) Provision for gratuity  1,059.42  952.59 

Total  1,219.83  1,102.09 

24 Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net)                                                                                                                                                                             ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Deferred tax liabilities  2,926.11  3,331.25 
Deferred tax assets  -1,189.37  -1,350.46 

Total  1,736.74  1,980.79 

25 Other non-current liabilities                                                                                                                                                                             ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Deferred government grant for EPCG Licence*  551.24  311.84 
Deferred grant-others**  13.88  15.18 

Total  565.12  327.02 

 Summary of the government grant received by the Company :-                                                                                                  ̀  in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Opening Balance  365.78  363.41 
Add: Grants during the year  297.81  39.81 
Less: Released to profit and loss  43.36  37.44 
Closing Balance  620.23  365.78 
Non Current  565.12  327.02 
Current  55.11  38.76 

 * The Company has received grant in the form of EPCG license from Government of India amounting to Rs. 297.81 Lakhs 
(Rs. 39.81 Lakhs) for import of capital goods subject to fulfilment of export obligation in next 6 years. The Company has 
recognized this grant as deferred government grant for EPCG licence at fair value. The company will recognize deferred 
grant income in the statement of profit and loss as per its accounting policy.

 ** During the financial year 2022-23, the Company has received grant from a corporate entity amounting to Rs.30 lakhs 
for establishing a Diagnostics Lab as agreed. The Company has recognized the grant related to asset as deferred income 
at fair value which is being amortised over the useful life of the Property,plant and equipment in proportion in which the 
related depreciation is recognized. Grant related to revenue is recognised on a systematic basis in the statement of profit 
and loss over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended to compensate.

26 Borrowings - Current                                                                                                                                                                                            ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)   Current maturities of long-term debt (See Note 21)  -    578.85 
(b) Credit Card  2.65  -   

Total  2.65  578.85 

26.1 The Company has been sanctioned corporate credit card with a limit of Rs. 5 lakhs during the year.     
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27 Trade Payables                                                                                                                                                                                                          ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Trade payables  (Unsecured) 
Outstanding dues of Micro enterprises and Small enterprises  267.02  106.11 
Outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro enterprises and Small 
enterprises

 3,008.42  3,426.27 

Total  3,275.44  3,532.38 
 The information as required under  Micro Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 has been determined to the 

extent such parties have been identified on the basis of information available with the Company and has been relied upon by 
the Auditors,.

 Dues to Micro and Small Enterprises have been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of 
information collected by the Management during 2023-24 is as follows:

` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)  The principal amount and the interest due thereon (to be shown 
separately) remaining unpaid to any supplier at the end of each 
accounting year
Principal  267.02  101.83 
Interest on above Principal  -    0.12 

(b) the amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of 
the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 
(27 of 2006), along with the amount of the payment made to the 
supplier beyond the appointed day during each accounting year;

(c) the amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in 
making payment (which has been paid but beyond the appointed 
day during the year) but without adding the interest specified under 
the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006;

 0.13  4.16 

(d) the amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of 
each accounting year; and

 4.41  -   

(e) the amount of further interest remaining due and payable even 
in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues 
above are actually paid to the small enterprise, for the purpose of 
disallowance of a deductible expenditure under section 23 of the 
Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006.

 -    -   

27.1 Trade payables ageing schedule for the year ended as on March 31, 2024                                                                                ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
MSME  262.74  4.28  -    -    267.02 
Others  1,491.76  1,353.78  88.82  74.06  3,008.42 
Disputed Dues - MSME  -    -    -    -    -   
Disputed Dues - Others  -    -    -    -    -   
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27.2 Trade payables ageing schedule for the year ended as on March 31, 2023                                                                              ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
MSME  105.83  0.28  -    106.11 

Others  3,279.04  51.41  24.70  71.11  3,426.27 

Disputed Dues - MSME  -    -    -    -   

Disputed Dues - Others  -    -    -    -   

28 Other Financial Liabilities - Current                                                                                                                                                             ` in Lakhs 
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)   Employee related liabilities  2,121.68  1,889.78 

(b)   Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  -    9.40 

(c)   Unpaid dividends  5.86  2.13 

(d)   Other payables:

(i)   Creditors for Capital goods  54.43  599.95 

(ii)  Advance received towards Research activities (See Note 2.16 (v)  
        of Significant Accounting Policies)

 91.79  96.73 

(iii) Retention money deposits  94.57  82.25 

(iv) Others   611.78  840.84 

Total  2,980.11  3,521.08 

29 Other Current Liabilities                                                                                                                                                                                     ` in Lakhs 

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Statutory  dues  203.57  189.45 

Deferred government grant for EPCG Licence*  53.81  30.90 

Deferred grant-others*  1.30  7.86 

Others  162.05  89.08 

Total  420.73  317.29 

* Refer note 25 for details of deferred grant

30 Provisions - Current                                                                                                                                                                                              ` in Lakhs 

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)   Provision for employee benefits

(i)   Provision for compensated absences  31.01  28.23 

(ii)  Provision for gratuity  81.90  79.73 

Total  112.91  107.96 
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31 Revenue from operations                                                                                                                                                                                   ` in Lakhs 

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Sale of Products  15,082.18  15,031.75 

Sale of Services  22,868.69  25,115.32 

Other operating revenue  1,671.14  1,756.55 

Total  39,622.01  41,903.62 

 Disaggregated revenue information                                                                                                                                                               ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Sale of Products
(a)   Pharmacy Sales  15,082.18  15,031.75 

Sale of Services
(a)   Laboratory & Diagnostic services  7,683.98  7,964.53 

(b)   Other Healthcare services  15,184.71  17,150.79 

Other Operating Revenue:
(a)  Income from Research Activities - (See Note 2.16(v) of 

Significant Accounting Policies) (Net of expense)
 -    -   

(b)  Course fees  64.23  86.33 

(c)  Income from Restaurant  1,606.91  1,670.22 

Total  39,622.01  41,903.62 

 Reconciliation of Gross revenue with the revenue from contracts with customers                                                        ` in Lakhs 

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Gross revenue  40,889.65  42,811.98 

Less : Discount  -1,267.64  -908.36 

Total  39,622.01  41,903.62 

32 Other Income                                                                                                                                                                                                               ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(a)   Interest income 

On Fixed deposits  525.06  396.48 

Other interest  7.72  19.67 

(b)   Grant Income  43.36  37.44 

(c)   Other Non- Operating income  90.70  88.37 

Total  666.84  541.96 
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33 Purchase of Medicines & Consumables                                                                                                                                                      ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(a)   Medicines  5,737.94  5,644.38 

(b)   Consumables  5,394.15  5,526.11 

Total  11,132.09  11,170.49 

34 Changes In Inventories of Medicines & Consumables                                                                                                                            ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Inventories at the end of the year :

(a)   Medicines  295.60  387.55 

(b)   Consumables  775.33  884.31 

 1,070.93  1,271.85 
Inventories at the beginning of the year :

(a)   Medicines  387.55  337.51 

(b)   Consumables  884.31  768.64 

 1,271.85  1,106.15 
Net (increase) / decrease  200.92  -165.70 

35 Employee Benefits Expense                                                                                                                                                                              ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Salaries & wages  7,080.83  5,910.92 

Contribution to Provident Fund and other funds  289.73  308.86 

Staff welfare expenses  135.82  160.31 

Total  7,506.38  6,380.09 

 Other Benefit Plan - Leave Plan
 The principal assumptions used for the purpose of actuarial valuation were as follows:                                                 ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

 Discount Rate (p.a) 7.20% 7.55%

 Rate of increase in compensation levels 5.00% 5.00%

 Amount recognised in the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss in respect of defined benefit plans are as follows:-                     ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Service Cost:  
Current  Service Cost  54.53  51.01 
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Net Interest expense  11.68  12.11 

Acturial (Gain)/Loss recognised during the period  -6.53  -16.30 

Expenses recognised in the standalone statement of profit and loss  59.69  46.82 
 The amount included in the Standalone Balance Sheet arising from the entity’s obligation in respect  

of its defined benefit plan is as follows:-                                                                                                                                                  ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation at end of the year  191.42  177.72 

 Fair Value of Plan Assets at the end of the year  -    -   

 Net Liabilities /(Assets) recognized in the Standalone Balance Sheet  191.42  177.72 

 Movements in present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:-                                                                   ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Defined Benefit Obligation at beginning of the year  177.72  193.20 

 Current & Past Service Cost  54.53  51.01 

 Current Interest Cost  11.68  12.11 

 Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss  -6.53  -16.30 

 Benefits paid  -45.99  -62.29 

 Defined Benefit Obligation at end of the year  191.42  177.72 

 Movements in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:                                                                                                      ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Fair Value of Plan Assets at the beginning of the year  -    -   

 Expected Return on Plan Assets  -    -   

 Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss  -    -   

 Contributions from the employer  -    -   

 Benefits paid  -    -   

 Fair Value of the Assets at the end of the year  -    -   

 Defined Benefit Plan-Gratuity
 The principal assumptions used for the purpose of actuarial valuation were as follows:                                                 ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Discount Rate (p.a) 7.20% 7.55%

Rate of increase in compensation levels 5.00% 5.00%

Expected Rate of return on plan assets NA NA
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 Amount recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in respect of defined benefit  
plans are as follows:-                                                                                                                                                                                          ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Service Cost: 
Current  Service Cost  128.58  116.50 
Net Interest expense  70.60  66.50 

Components of defined benefit costs recognised in standalone 
statement of profit  and loss 

 199.18  183.00 

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability: 
Acturial (Gain)/Loss on Plan Obligations  13.28  39.76 
Difference between Actual Return and Interest income on Plan assets  
(gain)/loss 

 -    -   

Components of defined benefit costs recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income 

 13.28  39.76 

 The amount included in the Standalone Balance Sheet arising from the entity’s obligation in respect  
of its defined benefit plan is as follows:-                                                                                                                                                 ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation at end of the year  1,141.32  1,032.32 
 Fair Value of Plan Assets at the end of the year  -    -   
 Net Liabilities /(Assets) recognized in the Standalone Balance Sheet  1,141.32  1,032.32 

 Movements in present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:-                                                                   ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Defined Benefit Obligation at beginning of the year  1,032.32  970.85 
 Current Service Cost  128.58  116.50 
 Current Interest Cost  70.60  66.50 
 Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss  13.28  39.76 
 Benefits paid  -103.46  -161.29 
 Defined Benefit Obligation at end of the year  1,141.32  1,032.32 

 Movements in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:                                                                                                      ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Fair Value of Plan Assets at the beginning of the year  -    -   
 Expected Return on Plan Assets  -    -   
 Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss  -    -   
 Contributions from the employer  -    -   
 Benefits paid  -    -   
 Fair Value of the Assets at the end of the year  -    -   
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36 Finance Costs                                                                                                                                                                                                           ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(a)   Interest expense  54.61  168.76 
(b)   Interest on lease liabilities  38.04  42.25 

Total  92.65  211.01 

37 Depreciation and Amortisation Expense                                                                                                                                                       ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Depreciation on property, plant and equipments  2,351.51  2,250.65 
Amortisation of other intangible asset  18.30  18.43 

Total  2,369.81  2,269.08 

38 Other Expenses                                                                                                                                                                                                        ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(a)   Power, fuel & water charges  1,197.54  1,070.63 
(b)   Consultancy charges  7,364.85  7,600.84 
(c)   House Keeping expenses  929.70  834.60 
(d)   Lab Test Charges  228.18  200.04 
(e)   Rent  133.59  126.66 
(f)   Repairs:

 - Buildings  100.34  80.29 
 - Machinery  918.58  816.54 
 - Others  78.24  109.13 

(g)   Insurance  25.94  25.31 
(h)   Rates and taxes  104.20  23.37 
(i)    Restaurant consumption  831.54  823.26 
(j)    Advertisement & Marketing expenses  472.30  387.48 
(k)   Printing and Stationery  162.83  227.81 
(l)    Payments to auditors (See Note: 38.1)  11.38  9.34 
(m) Provision for doubtful debts and doubtful advances  10.93  1,098.86 
(n)  Expenditure on Corporate Social Responsibility activities 
         (See Note 38.2)

 107.61  66.36 

(o)   Professional Charges  152.25  165.23 
(p)   Bank Charges  58.50  56.16 
(q)   Security Charges  217.89  177.05 
(r)   Miscellaneous expenses  367.81  360.58 
(s)   Net loss on foreign currency transactions and translation  11.65  79.18 

Total  13,485.85  14,338.72 
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38.1 Payment to Auditors                                                                                                                                                                                                 ` in Lakhs   
For statutory audit  6.00  5.00 
For taxation matters (including tax audit)  1.00  1.00 
Tax on above  1.26  1.08 
For other services  2.71  1.88 
Reimbursement of expenses  0.41  0.38 

 11.38  9.34 

38.2 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) : As per Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, a company, meeting the applicability 
threshold, needs to spend atleast 2% of its average net profit for the immediately preceding three financial years on CSR 
activities. The areas of CSR activity includes promoting education, art and culture, healthcare, Social Empowerment, etc., and 
those specified in Schedule VII of the Companies Act 2013. CSR committee has been formed by the company as per the Act. 
The utilisation of CSR funds are done as per the recommendations of CSR committee. Details of amount required to be spent 
and the amount utilised are given below:                                                                                                                                                ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(i)     Amount required to be spent by the company during the year  107.61  66.36 
(ii)    Amount of expenditure incurred  66.11  60.86 
(iii)   Shortfall at the end of the year  41.50  5.50 
(iv)   Total of previous years shortfall  -    -   

(v)    Reason for shortfall

Rs 41.50 lakhs 
transferred to separate 
bank account to spend 

for the on-going 
projects. 

Rs 5.50 lakhs  
transferred to separate 
 bank account to spend  

for the on-going  
projects. 

(vi)   Nature of CSR activities

Education,  
Preventive Healthcare, 

Urban development, 
Support to elders, 

Support to homeless, 
Promotion of Arts etc.

Education,  
Preventive Healthcare, 

Urban development, 
Support to elders, 

Support to homeless, 
Promotion of Arts etc.

(vii)  Details of related party transactions  -    -   
(viii) Movement in the provision made with respect to a liability incurred  
         by entering into a contractual obligation

 -    -   

39 Earnings per Equity Share                                                                                                                                                 ` in Lakhs, other than EPS

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Net Profit after tax  4,388.58  5,752.35 
Number of Equity Shares  100,000,000  100,000,000 
Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) ( in `)  4.39  5.75 
Face value per equity ( in `)  10.00  10.00 
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40 Contingent Liabilties , Contingent Assets And Commitments                                                                                                                                                                                 

Particulars
 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Brief Description of the nature and obligation
 (` in Lakhs)  (` in Lakhs) 

A CONTINGENT LIABILITY (To the extent not provided for) 

(a) Other money for which the company is contingently liable

1

Employees Provident 
Fund and  
Miscellaneous  
Provisions Act

 129.84  129.84 

Demands raised under EPF Act, 1952 amounting to Rs 129.84 
lakhs (Rs.129.84 lakhs). The Company filed two appeal(s) 
before the Industrial Tribunal –cum-Labour Court. As directed 
by the Tribunal, company deposited a sum of Rs.64.72 lakhs 
(Rs.64.72 lakhs); and the recovery of balance demand is stayed 
till the disposal of appeal. Appeal No. 657/2019 was dismissed 
by the Tribunal on 28.03.2022 and the Company has filed writ 
petition WP(C) NO 23816/2022 before the Hon’ble High Court 
of Kerala against the said order. The court vide order dated 
13.06.2024 has granted stay till 13.09.2024. The company is 
legally advised that the demands will not be sustainable and in 
the opinion of the management no provision in this regard is 
considered necessary at this stage and the amount deposited 
is carried over as receivables and disclosed under the head 
“Deposits” under other non-current assets.

2 Service tax  62.96  62.96 

The demand for Service tax amounting to Rs.62.96 lakhs (Rs. 
62.96 lakhs) including penalty of Rs.23.42 lakhs (Rs.23.42 lakhs) 
on amounts received from Medical companies for clinical research 
activities was disputed on appeal before the Commissioner of 
Customs, Central Excise & Service Tax (Appeals).  Out of this 
the appeals for certain years involving demands of Rs.39.54 
lakhs (Rs.39.54 lakhs) and penalty of Rs.23.42 lakhs (Rs. 23.42 
lakhs) was decided against the company as per proceedings of 
the Appellate Authority.  The company has filed a second appeal 
before the Central Excise & Service Tax Appellate Tribunal.  As per 
the advice obtained by the management from the Service Tax 
consultants, the above referred amounts are exempt services and 
not liable for Service tax and in the opinion of the management, no 
provision is considered necessary at this stage.

3 Value Added Tax  655.73  655.73 

The demand for Value Added Tax amounting to Rs. 655.73 lakhs 
(Rs. 655.73 lakhs) including penalty of Rs.487.21 lakhs (Rs. 487.21 
lakhs)  for the period 2008-09, 2009-10, 2010-11, 2011-12 and 
2016-17 has been disputed by the Company and writ petition has 
been filed before the Hon. High Court of Kerala,  which is pending 
disposal. The Company received a stay order dated 09.06.2017 
from Hon. High Court of Kerala. As per the advice obtained by 
the management from the consultants and in the opinion of the 
management, no provision is considered necessary at this stage.
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4 Goods and Service tax  1.08  1.08 

The company received notice under Section 50(1) of GST 
Act for belated filing of GSTR 3B with a demand of Rs. 1.08 
Lakhs. Company has filed the reply along with copies of GSTR 
3B,Electronic cash ledger and workings. No provision is considered 
necessary at this stage.

5 Income Tax

 26.41  26.41 

The demand for Income tax amounting to Rs.26.41 lakhs for 
Assessment year 2011-12, has been disputed and appeal was filed 
by the Company against the order with Commissioner of Income 
Tax (Appeals), no provision is considered necessary at this stage.

 221.05  221.05 

As per the assessment order for AY 2016-17, AO concluded that 
there exists an employer - employee relationship with consultant 
doctors and tax must have been deducted at source u/s 192 
instead of 194J .Appeal was filed by the Company against the 
order with Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) on 24.08.2023. 
Hon’ble High Court of Kerala granted stay vide order dated 07th 
June 2023 and directed the CIT(A) to consider and pass orders. 
No provision is considered necessary at this stage.

 119.94  -   

With respect to AY 2017-18, AO concluded that there exists 
an employer - employee relationship with consultant doctors 
and tax must have been deducted at source u/s 192 instead of 
194J .Appeal was filed by the Company against the order with 
Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) on 23.04.2024.

 148.61  148.61 

The demand for Income tax amounting to Rs.148.61 lakhs for 
Assessment year 2018-19, has been disputed and appeal was 
filed by the Company against the order with Commissioner of 
Income Tax (Appeals), no provision is considered necessary at this 
stage.

 96.15  96.15 

The demand for Income tax amounting to Rs.97.78 lakhs for 
Assessment year 2018-19, has been disputed and appeal was 
filed by the Company against the order with Commissioner 
of Income Tax (Appeals). Provision of Rs. 1.63 lakhs has been 
recognised in the books. No provision is considered necessary at 
this stage for the balance amount.

 311.87  -   

With respect to AY 2022-23, Assessing Officer made an ad-hoc 
disallowance of Rs. 870.21 being expenses claimed under the 
head ‘Other Expenses’ alleging that the company could not submit 
the sufficient details and explanation. Appeal was filed before 
Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) on 19.04.2024. Hon’ble 
High Court of Kerala granted stay vide order dated 10.06.2024 till 
disposal of the stay petition filed along with the appeal.

6

Legal cases for  
compensation/claims 
filed against the 
company

 564.82  530.67 

Legal cases for compensation/claims filed against the company 
amounts to Rs.564.82 lakhs (Rs.530.67 lakhs). In the opinion of 
the management, the cases are not sustainable and hence no 
provision is considered necessary at this stage.
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7 Tide Water  821.90  821.90 

A case filed against the company in an earlier year for non-
compliance with the contract terms amounting to Rs. 821.91 
lakhs (Rs 821.91 lakhs), which was under arbitration as per the 
order of the Honourable High Court of Kerala, was partly decided 
against the company. As per the arbitration award, an amount of 
Rs. 257.30 lakhs (Rs 257.30 lakhs) was determined as payable 
to the claimant. The company has been legally advised that the 
order of the Arbitrator is not to be accepted and had filed an appeal 
before the District Court, Ernakulam, challenging the arbitration 
award. Later, the case has been transferred to the Special Court 
constituted for hearing the commercial disputes. The arbitration 
OP filed against the order of Arbitrator was dismissed by the 
Commercial Court, Ernakulam vide order dated 05.12.2023. The 
Company have filed an appeal before the District & Sessions Court, 
Ernakulam against the said order as Arb. Appeal No.10007/2024.  
In the opinion of the management, having regard to the legal 
advice obtained, no provision is considered necessary at this stage.

8

Kerala Shops and 
Commercial  
Establishment 
Thozhilali Kshema 
Nidhi Board

 -    19.54 

The Company has received notice from Kerala Shops and 
Commercial Establishment Thozhilali Kshema Nidhi Board 
regarding non-payment of the amount due u/s 12 of the Kerala 
Shops and Commercial Establishment Workers Welfare Fund 
Act, 2006 and interest thereon (for the period from 1-8-2008 
to 31-8-2014), aggregating to Rs.19.54 lakhs. The Kerala Private 
Hospitals Association, of which the Company is a member, has 
filed a Writ Petition No. 23684/2008 before the Hon’ble High 
Court of Kerala against the said demand. The High Court vide order 
dated 26th March 2024 quashed the demand made by the above 
board and allowed the writ appeals since the employees of the 
company are covered under the Employees Provident Fund and 
Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and ESI Act, 1948.

9
Payment of  
Bonus (Amendment)
Act 2015

 245.00  245.00 

During the financial year 2015-16, consequent to the amendment 
of the Payment of Bonus (Amendment) Act 2015, the ceiling 
of salary for the computation of bonus was increased with 
retrospective effect from 1-4-2014. The Company filed a writ 
petition before the Hon’ High Court of Kerala, and vide order dated 
13th October 2016, the Hon’ High Court had granted an interim 
stay on the retrospective application of the amendment. The 
additional liability for the financial year 2014-15 is estimated by 
the company at Rs.245 lakhs (Rs.245 lakhs). Based on the interim 
stay and as per the legal advice obtained, the management is of 
the opinion that no provision is considered necessary at this stage. 

B COMMITMENTS (To the extent not provided for)

1

Estimated amount 
of contracts remain-
ing to be executed 
on capital account 
and not provided for:

 523.25  175.02 

2 Bank Gurantees  567.29  606.21 
Bank guarantee issued on behalf  of the company for EPCG 
scheme, KSEB, ECHS & Cochin Shipyard.
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3 EPCG Scheme  1,787.65  173.17 

In respect of capital equipments imported at concessional 
rate of duty under the Export Promotion Capital Goods 
Scheme, the company has an export obligation of Rs. 
1787.65 Lakhs (Rs. 173.17 Lakhs) which is required to be 
fulfilled at different dates until 2028. In the event of non 
fulfilment of the export obligation, the company will be 
liable for the customs duties and penalties as applicable.

41 Litigation : The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims, in the ordinary course of business. The Company’s 
Management does not reasonably expect that these legal actions, when ultimately concluded and determined, will have 
material and adverse effect on the Company’s results of operation.

42 A. Related Party disclosure as per Ind AS 24

Nature of relationship Name of related parties

(a)   Key Managerial Personnel: Dr. Shamsheer Vayalil Parambath - Chairman

P.M. Sebastian - Vice Chairman

S.K. Abdulla - Managing Director

R. Narayanan - Chief Financial Officer  
(resigned w.e.f. November 15,2023)

R. Muraleedharan - Company Secretary

K.N. Prabhakaran Nair - Director

Dr. K.V. Johny - Director

P.D. Mathew - Director

A. Janardhana Pai - Director (resigned w.e.f March 31,2024)

M.M. Mathai - Director

Job Varghese - Director

V Venugopal - Director (appointed w.e.f. March 31, 2022)

Dr K Chitrathara  - Director (appointed w.e.f. March 31, 2022)

(b)   Subsidiary Company: Lakeshore Food and Beverages Private Limited  

(c)   (c) Enterprises where key managerial personnel 
or their relatives exercise significant influence/
control/joint control

VPS Healthcare Private Limited 
Burjeel Hospital, Oman 
Welcare Hospital 
Dynamed Healthcare Solutions Private Limited 
Humming Tree

 Note 1 : Post-employment benefits comprising gratuity and compensated absences are not disclosed, except when paid as 
full and final settlement, as these are determined for the Company as a whole.

 Note 2 : Mr E. Gireeshkumar has been appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the company with effect from 13-05-2024
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 B. Summary of transactions and outstanding balances with above related parties are as follows:                          ` in Lakhs

Particulars 2023-24 2022-23

(i)    Sale of Services - Other Healthcare services   

Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives 
exercise significant control

Burjeel Hospital, Oman  -   -

(ii)   Sale of Services - Laboratory & Diagnostic services

Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives 
exercise significant control

Welcare Hospital  4.63  3.38 

(iii)   Other Operating Revenue - Income from Restaurant

Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives 
exercise significant control

Dynamed Healthcare Solutions Private Limited  3.48  3.53 

(iv)  Other Non- Operating income

Subsidiary Company

Lakeshore Food and Beverages Private Limited  -    6.37 

(v)   Employee benefit expenses

Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel

S.K. Abdulla - Managing Director (appointed as MD wef 18.07.2022)  341.09  188.31 

R. Narayanan - Chief Financial Officer (resigned w.e.f. 15.11.23 )  14.74  32.25 

R. Muraleedharan - Company Secretary  29.30  25.89 

(vi)   Sitting Fee

Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel

A. Janardhana Pai - Director (resigned w.e.f March 31,2024)  4.13  3.75 

V Venugopal - Director  5.90  3.75 

(vii) Consultancy charges

        Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel

        Dr K Chitrathara  - Director  104.45  108.36 

(viii)  Trade Receivables - Considered good

Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives 
exercise significant control

Welcare Hospital  0.26  1.09 

Dynamed Healthcare Solutions Private Limited  0.88  3.26 

Subsidiary Company

Lakeshore Food and Beverages Private Limited  10.89  15.47 
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(ix)  Other Non Current Financial Assets - Deposits
Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives 
exercise significant control
VPS Healthcare Private Limited  40.26  40.26 

(x)   Other financial Liability
Subsidiary Company
Lakeshore Food and Beverages Private Limited  0.30  0.30 

(xi)   Capital Advances
Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives 
exercise significant control
Humming Tree  -    20.95 

(xii)  Creditors for Capital goods
Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives 
exercise significant control
Humming Tree  2.76  -   

43 Lease arrangements                                                                                                                                                                                             ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

a)     Towards lease rent
Not later than one year  161.64  108.97 
Later than one year and not later than five years  418.98  511.96 
Later than five years  -    82.89 

44 Segment Reporting
 Based on the guiding principles given in Ind AS- “Segment Reporting”, the company has only one reportable segment i.e. 

“Hospital Activities”. During the period there are no customers who is contributing more than 10% of revenue from operations.

45 Capital Management     
 The company’s objective when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern so that they can 

continue to provide returns for shareholders and maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

 For the purpose of capital management, capital includes issued equity capital and all other equity reserves attributable to the 
equity holders of the Company. The company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.  

 Management monitors capital on the basis of return on capital employed as well as the debt to total equity ratio.
` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Borrowings including current maturities  2.65  1,302.40 
Borrowings as a percentage of Total Capital 0.01% 3.37%
Equity Share Capital  10,000.00  10,000.00 
Other equity  30,030.49  27,351.85 
Total Equity  40,030.49  37,351.85 
Total equity as a percentage of Total Capital 99.99% 96.63%
Total Capital (Equity and Borrowings)  40,033.14  38,654.25 
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 No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended March 31, 2024 
and March 31, 2023.

46 Financial instruments: Fair value and risk management    

 A. Accounting classification and fair values

  The fair value hierarchy is based on inputs to valuation techniques that are used to measure fair value that are either 
observable or unobservable and consist of the following three levels:

  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access 
at the measurement date.

  Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly.

  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

  The following table summarises financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and financial 
assets that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

 As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                                                                             ` in Lakhs

Financial assets/ financial liabilities Amortised Cost
Fair Value hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial Assets
Non Current

(i)     Investments  5.00  -    -    -   
(ii)    Others  1,602.83  -    -    -   

Current
(i)     Trade Receivables  2,698.03  -    -    -   
(ii)    Cash & Cash equivalents  982.51  -    -    -   
 (iii)  Bank Balances other than (ii)  6,671.76  -    -    -   
 (iv)  Loans  2.48  -    -    -   
 (v)   Others  675.32  -    -    -   

Total Financial Assets  12,637.93  -    -    -   
Financial Liabilities
Non Current

(i)    Borrowings  -    -    -    -   
(ii)   Lease liabilities  361.15  -    -    -   

Current
(i)    Borrrowings  2.65  -    -    -   
(ii)   Lease liabilities  66.94  -    -    -   
(iii)  Trade Payables  3,275.44  -    -    -   
(iv)  Other financial liablities  2,980.11  -    -    -   

Total Financial Liabilities  6,686.29  -    -    -   
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 As at March 31, 2023                                                                                                                                                                                            ` in Lakhs

Financial assets/ financial liabilities Amortised Cost
Fair Value hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial Assets
Non Current

(i)      Investments  5.00  -    -    -   
(ii)     Others  1,321.66  -    -    -   

Current
(i)     Trade Receivables  2,014.36  -    -    -   
(ii)    Cash & Cash equivalents  3,643.15  -    -    -   
(iii)   Bank Balances other than (ii) above  6,177.08  -    -    -   
(iv)   Loans  5.58  -    -    -   
(v)    Others  986.13  -    -    -   

Total Financial Assets  14,152.96  -    -    -   
Financial Liabilities
Non Current

(i)    Borrowings  723.56  -    -    -   
(ii)   Lease liabilities  427.46  -    -    -   

Current
(i)    Borrrowings  578.85  -    -    -   
(ii)   Lease liabilities  54.47  -    -    -   
(iii)  Trade Payables  3,532.38  -    -    -   
(iv)  Other financial liablities  3,521.08  -    -    -   

Total Financial Liabilities  8,837.80  -    -    -   

 B. Financial risk management    

  The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk.

  i.  Credit risk
   Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligation under a financial instrument or customer 

contract, leading to financial loss. The credit risk arises principally from its operating activities (primarily trade 
receivables) and from its investing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions and other 
financial instruments.

   Credit risk is controlled by analysing credit limits and creditworthiness of customers on a continuous basis to whom 
credit has been granted after obtaining necessary approvals for credit. The collection from the trade receivables are 
monitored on a continuous basis by the receivables team.

   The Company establishes an allowance for credit loss that represents its estimate of expected losses in respect of 
trade and other receivables based on the past and the recent collection trend. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
as at reporting date is primarily from trade receivables amounting to Rs. 4736.84 Lakhs (previous year: Rs. 4042.25 
Lakhs). The movement in allowance for credit loss in respect of trade and other receivables during the year was as 
follows:
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         ` in Lakhs
Allowances for credit loss  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Opening balance  2,027.89  929.03 
Expected credit loss recognised/(reversed)  10.92  1,098.86 
Less: Bad debts written off adjusted  -    -   
Closing balance  2,038.81  2,027.89 

   No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the revenue as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. There is 
no significant concentration of credit risk.    

   Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited as the Company generally transacts with banks and financial 
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by international and domestic credit rating agencies. 

  ii. Liquidity risk
   Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 

financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they 
are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Company’s reputation. In addition, the Company maintains line of credit as stated in Note 21.

 The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as of March 31, 2024:

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          ` in Lakhs

Particulars Less than  
1 year 1-5 years More than  

5 years Total

Borrowings (including current maturities)  2.65  -    -    2.65 
Lease liabilities  66.94  350.93  10.22  428.09 
Trade payables  3,275.44  -    -    3,275.44 
Other financial liabilities  2,980.11  -    -    2,980.11 

 The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as of March 31, 2023:
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             ` in Lakhs

Particulars Less than  
1 year 1-5 years More than  

5 years Total

Borrowings (including current maturities)  578.85  723.56  -    1,302.41 
Lease liabilities  54.47  304.71  122.75  481.93 
Trade payables  3,532.38  3,532.38 
Other financial liabilities  3,521.08  3,521.08 

  iii. Market risk 
   Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates.

   (a) Foreign currency risk
 The Company undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to 

exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Company is mainly exposed to US dollar and Omani Rial.
 The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 

liabilities at the reporting date are as follows.
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Particulars
 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(USD in Lakhs) (OMR in Lakhs)  (USD in Lakhs) (OMR in Lakhs)
Trade receivables  -    -    -    -   
Trade payables  -    -    (7.01)  -   
Net assets/(liabilities)  -    -    (7.01)  -   

   (b) Sensitivity analysis
   The sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in exchange rates arises mainly from foreign currency denominated 

financial instruments.
                               ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Impact on profit or (loss) before tax

 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
USD Sensitivity

INR/USD - Increase by 1%  -    (5.76)
INR/USD - Decrease by 1%  -    5.76 
OMR Sensitivity
INR/OMR - Increase by 1%  -    -   
INR/OMR - Decrease by 1%  -    -   

   (c) Interest rate risk
   The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which expose the 

Company to cash flow interest rate risk. The exposure of the Company’s borrowing to interest rate changes at 
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

                               ` in Lakhs
Financial liabilities (bank borrowings)  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Variable rate long term borrowings including current maturities  -    1,302.41 

   (d) Sensitivity                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Impact on profit or (loss) before tax

 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
1% increase in MCLR rate  -    (13.02)
1% decrease in MCLR rate  -    13.02 

 The interest rate sensitivity is based on the closing balance of secured term loans from banks and financial institutions.

47 The Company has made adequate provision towards material foreseeable losses wherever required, in respect of long term 
contracts. The Company do not have any long term derivative contracts for which there were any material foreseeable losses.

48 The Code on Social Security, 2020 and Code on Wages, 2019 relating to employee benefits during employment and post-
employment benefits has received Presidential assent in September 2020. The Code have been published in the Gazette 
of India. However, the date from which the Code will come into effect has not been notified. The Ministry of Labour and 
Employment (Ministry) has released draft rules for the Code on November 13, 2020 and has invited suggestions from stake 
holders which are under active consideration by the Ministry. The Company will need to assess the impact of the above. The 
impact will be recorded in the first period after the Codes become effective.     
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49 Additional Regulatory Information:
49.1 Ratios:

Ratio Numerator Denominator 31 March 24 31 March 23  % change
(a)   Current Ratio Current assets Current liabilities  1.80  1.76 2%
(b)   Debt-Equity Ratio Total Debt Shareholder’s Equity  0.00  0.03 -100%
(c)   Debt Service Coverage    
         Ratio

Earnings available for 
debt service Debt Service  42.18  9.83 329%

(d)   Return on Equity Ratio Net Profits after taxes Average  
Shareholder’s Equity  0.11  0.16 -31%

(e)   Inventory Turnover Ratio Cost of goods sold Average Inventory  9.67  9.26 5%
(f)    Trade Receivables  
         Turnover Ratio Net Sales Avg. Accounts 

Receivable  16.82  20.77 -19%

(g)   Trade Payables Turnover  
         Ratio Net Purchases Average Trade  

Payables  3.27  3.26 0%

(h)   Net Capital Turnover Ratio Net Sales Working Capital  7.20  6.79 6%
(i)     Net Profit Ratio Net Profit Net Sales  0.11  0.14 -19%
(j)     Return on Capital  
         Employed

Earning before  
interest and taxes Capital Employed  0.14  0.22 -36%

(k)   Return on Investment Income generated 
frominvested funds

Average invested 
funds  

(excluding investment 
in subsidiaries)

NA NA NA

 Explanation for change in the ratios by more than 25%:
 a. Since loan has been pre-closed during the current financial year,  the debt equity ratio is Zero for the year

 b. Better DSCR at 42.23 on account  of reduced borrowings and healthy cash flows

 c. ROE at 11% on account of decrease in PAT during the year.

 d. Return on capital employed decreased due to fall in profitability.    

49.2 Other statutory information 
 a. The Company does not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the 

Company for holding any Benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 and rules made 
thereunder.

 b. During the year the company has preclosed a term loan and is currently in the process of completing the necessary 
documentation to satisfy the charge registered with ROC

 c. The Company has not traded or invested in Cryptocurrency or Virtual Currency during the year ended March 31, 2024.

 d. The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other persons or entities, including foreign entities 
(Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall:

  (i) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the Company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

  (ii) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

 e. The Company has not received any fund from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the 
understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Company shall:
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  (i) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

  (ii) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

 f. The Company does not have any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been 
surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, 
search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961).

 g. The Company do not have any transactions with companies struck off.

 h. The Company has not been declared as a Wilful Defaulter by any bank or financial institution or Government or any 
Government authority. 

 i. Quarterly returns/statements of Inventory and Trade Receivables filed by the Company with banks are in agreement 
with the books of accounts. The company has also availed working capital loans secured against fixed deposits. The 
company is not required to file quarterly returns or statements for such loans. 

 j. The title deeds of all the immovable properties (other than properties where the Company is the lessee and the lease 
agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee) are held in the name of the Company.

 k. The Company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets during the year.

50 Previous year figures have been regrouped and classified wherever necessary to conform to the current year presentation.

As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Lakeshore Hospital And Research Centre Limited 
(hereinafter referred to as “the Holding Company”) and its subsidiary (Holding Company and its subsidiary together referred to as 
“the Group”), which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2024, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
including Other Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow and the  Consolidated Statement of changes in 
equity for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, and a summary of material accounting policies 
and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “the consolidated financial statements”). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements  give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and 
fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India including Indian Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) 
specified under section 133 of the Act, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at 31st March 2024, its consolidated profits 
including other comprehensive income, consolidated changes in equity and its consolidated cash flows for the year ended on that 
date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code 
of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the annual report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the 
matter to those charged with governance as required under SA 720 'The Auditor's responsibilities Relating to Other Information.

Responsibility of Management for consolidated financial statements 
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated 
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financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the 
Group in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Ind AS specified under section 133 
of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. The respective Board of Directors/
management of the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which 
have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as 
aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion 
on whether the Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
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the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the audit of the financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements of 
which we are the independent auditors.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes it 
probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the consolidated financial statements may be influenced. 
We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of 
our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the consolidated financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

 a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements.

 b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the other auditors.

 c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, 
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with 
the books of account.

 d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified under 
Section 133 of the Act.

 e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31st March, 2024 taken on record by the Board 
of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31st March, 2024 from being appointed as a director in terms of 
Section 164 (2) of the Act.

 f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements of the 
Group and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A” to this report. Our report 
expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial controls with 
reference to consolidated financial statements.
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 g) The managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2024 has been paid by the Holding Company to its directors in 
accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act; and

 h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit 

and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

 I. The Group has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its consolidated financial statements 
– Refer Note no 39 and 40 to the consolidated Financial Statements;

 II. The Group did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 
foreseeable losses- Refer Note No 47 to the consolidated Financial Statements: 

 III. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the 

Group. 

 IV. (a) The Management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds (which are material 
either individually or in aggregate) have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share 
premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Group to or in any other person or entity, including foreign 
entity (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary 
shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Group (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries;

  (b) The Management has represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds (which are material 
either individually or in aggregate) have been received by the Group from any person or entity, including foreign 
entity (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Group shall, 
whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or 
on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of 
the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

  (c) Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, 
nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) 

of Rule 11(e), as provided under (a) and (b) above, contain any material misstatement.

 V. The final dividend paid by the Holding Company during the year in respect of the same declared for the previous year is 
in accordance with section 123 of the Act to the extent it applies to payment of dividend.

  The Board of Directors of the Holding Company have proposed final dividend for the year which is subject to the approval 
of the members at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. The dividend declared is in accordance with section 123 of the 
Act to the extent it applies to declaration of dividend.

 VI. Based on our examination which included test checks, the holding company has used accounting software for 
maintaining its books of account for the year ended March 31, 2024, which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) 
facility and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software. Further, 

during the course of our audit, we did not come across any instance of audit trail feature being tampered with.

As provision to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is applicable from April 1, 2023, reporting under Rule 11 (g) of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 on preservation of audit trail as per the statutory requirements for record retention is not 
applicable for the financial year ended March 31, 2024.
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The subsidiary company has maintained the books of accounts entirely manually for the year ended March 31, 2024, therefore, 
assessment and reporting under Rule 11(g) is not applicable.

2. With respect to the matters specified in clause (xxi) of paragraph 3 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“CARO”/ “the 
Order”) issued by the Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, based on the CARO reports issued by us, we report 
that there are no qualifications or adverse remarks in the CARO reports of the respective companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements.

For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants

(FRN:001488S.)

sd/-
C.R. Rema

Partner
Membership No. 029182

UDIN: 24029182BKCAQS6837
Place :  Kochi 
Date :  08th August 2024
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ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
(Referred to in Paragraph 1(f) under the heading “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements”  

of our report of even date)

Independent Auditor’s Report on the Internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Lakeshore Hospital and Research Centre Limited (‘the 
Holding Company’) and its subsidiary (the Holding Company and its subsidiary together referred to as ‘the Group’),as at and for the 
year ended 31 March 2024, we have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding 

Company and its subsidiary company, which are companies covered under the Act, as at that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 
The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company and its subsidiary company, which are companies incorporated in India, 
are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls with reference to the consolidated financial statements 
based on the internal control criteria established by the Group considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note issued by the ICAI. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to 
company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding 
Company and its subsidiary company, as aforesaid, based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance 
Note issued by the ICAI and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent 
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls 
with reference to consolidated financial statements was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all 
material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference 
to consolidated financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to 
consolidated financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary company as aforesaid.

Meaning of Internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements 
A company's internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
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in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and Directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements 
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements, including the 
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not 
be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements 
to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.

Opinion 
In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the Holding Company and its subsidiary 
company, have in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements 
and such internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements were operating effectively as at 31 March 
2024, based on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements criteria established by the 
respective companies considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

For Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants

(FRN:001488S.)

C.R. Rema
Partner

Membership No. 029182
UDIN: 24029182BKCAQS6837

Place :  Kochi 
Date :  08th August 2024
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LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024

(` in lakhs)

Particulars Note No.  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Assets:
Non-current assets
(a)  Property, Plant and Equipment 4  34,595.78  32,764.38 
(b)  Capital work-in-progress 5  189.46  567.26 
(c)  Other Intangible assets 6  111.01  44.09 
(d)  Right-of-use assets 7  366.99  423.40 
(e)  Financial Assets
       (i)   Other financial assets 8  1,602.83  1,321.66 
(f)  Non-current tax assets (net) 9  953.69  458.65 
(g)  Other non-current assets 10  585.34  155.15 

 38,405.10  35,734.59 
Current assets
(a)  Inventories 11  1,070.93  1,271.85 
(b)  Financial Assets
        (i)   Trade receivables 12  2,687.14  1,998.89 
        (ii)   Cash and cash equivalents 13  993.28  3,663.15 
        (iii)  Bank balances other than (ii) above 14  6,672.41  6,178.19 
        (iv)  Loans 15  2.48  5.58 
        (v)   Other financial assets 16  675.32  986.13 
(c)  Other current assets 17  261.11  187.33 

 12,362.67  14,291.12 
Total Assets  50,767.77  50,025.71 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity :
(a)   Equity Share capital 18  10,000.00  10,000.00 
(b)   Other Equity 19  30,022.23  27,344.92 

 40,022.23  37,344.92 
Liabilities :
Non-current liabilities
(a)   Financial Liabilities
        (i)   Borrowings 20  -    723.56 
        (ii)  Lease liabilities 21  361.15  427.46 
(b)   Provisions 22  1,219.83  1,102.09 
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(c)   Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 23  1,736.73  1,980.75 
(d)   Other non-current liabilities 24  565.12  327.02 

 3,882.83  4,560.88 
Current liabilities
(a)   Financial Liabilities
        (i)    Borrowings 25  2.65  578.85 
        (ii)   Lease liabilities 21  66.94  54.47 
        (iii)  Trade payables 26
               -  Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small  
                    enterprises

 267.02  106.11 

               - Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro  
                   enterprises and small enterprises

 3,012.47  3,433.27 

        (iv)  Other financial liabilities 27  2,979.80  3,521.04 
(b)   Other current liabilities 28  420.92  318.21 
(c)   Provisions 29  112.91  107.96 

 6,862.71  8,119.91 
Total Equity and Liabilities  50,767.77  50,025.71 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2024

(` in lakhs)

Particulars Note No.  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Income:
Revenue from operations 30  39,622.01  41,918.42 
Other income 31  666.89  535.62 

Total Income  40,288.90  42,454.04 
Expenses:

Purchase of Medicines & Consumables 32  11,132.09  11,170.49 
Changes in inventories of  Medicines & Consumables 33  200.92  -165.70 
Employee benefits expense 34  7,506.38  6,383.50 
Finance costs 35  92.65  211.01 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 36  2,369.92  2,269.19 
Other expenses 37  13,487.10  14,344.09 

Total expenses  34,789.06  34,212.58 
Profit before  tax  5,499.84  8,241.46 
Tax expense:

Current tax
9

 1,352.40  2,660.93 
Tax for earlier years  0.87  17.09 
Deferred tax  -240.68  -188.44 

 1,112.59  2,489.58 
Profit for the year  4,387.25  5,751.88 
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations  -13.28  -39.76 
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  3.34  11.58 

Total other comprehensive income for the year  -9.94  -28.18 
Total Comprehensive Income for the year  4,377.31  5,723.70 
Earnings per equity share of Rs 10 each: 38

Basic (`)  4.39  5.75 
Diluted (`)  4.39  5.75 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary
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LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2024

(` in lakhs)

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Cash flow from operating activites
Profit before tax  5,486.56  8,201.70 
Adjustments for :

Depreciation and amortisation  2,369.92  2,269.19 
Interest expense  92.65  211.01 
Interest income  -532.83  -416.18 
Net (Profit)/ Loss on sale/write off of Property Plant and Equipment  -7.72  67.08 
Government grant income  -43.36  -37.44 
Bad debts and advances written off  -    -   
Provision for doubtful debts  10.93  1,098.86 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes  7,376.15  11,394.22 
Movements in working capital :

(Increase) / decrease in inventories  200.92  -165.70 
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables  -1,275.99  -2,872.51 
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables  -40.91  -876.04 

 6,260.17  7,479.97 
Direct taxes paid net of refunds  -1,848.31  -1,983.24 
Net cash flows from operating activities (A)  4,411.86  5,496.73 
Cashflow from investing activities

Additions to Property, Plant & Equipment (including capital work in  
progress)

 -4,555.83  -903.62 

Investment in subsidiaries  -    -   
Sale or withdrawal of property, plant and equipment  51.62  9.19 
Interest received  574.38  229.75 

Net cash flows from investing activites (B)  -3,929.83  -664.68 
Cashflow from financing activities

Proceeds/(Repayment) of Buyers credit/ Term Loan  -1,302.41  -577.39 
Movement in Short term borrowings (Net)  2.65  -   
Dividend paid  -1,696.26  -1,500.67 
Payment of lease liabilities  -91.88  -83.86 
Interest paid  -64.01  -169.34 

Net cash flows from financing activities (C)  -3,151.91  -2,331.26 
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Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents (A)+(B)+(C)  -2,669.88  2,500.79 
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the Year  3,663.15  1,162.36 
Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the Year

Cash on hand  23.87  23.22 
Balance  with Banks in current account and deposit account  969.40  3,639.93 
Cash and cash equivalents  993.27  3,663.15 
Net increase/(decrease) in Cash and Cash equivalents  -2,669.88  2,500.79 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary
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LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended March 31, 2024

A. Equity Share Capital   ` in Lakhs

As at 01.04.2023 Changes in equity share capital during the year As at 31.03.2024
10000.00  -   10000.00

As at 01.04.2022 Changes in equity share capital during the year As at 31.03.2023
10000.00  -   10000.00

B. Other Equity  ` in Lakhs 

 Securities 
Premium 

Retained 
Earnings

 Capital 
Redemption 

reserve 
 Total 

Balance as at April 1, 2022  14,000.00  8,621.22  500.00  23,121.22 

Profit for the year  5,751.88  5,751.88 

Add Other comprehensive income for the year  -28.18  -28.18 

Total comprehensive income for the year  5,723.70  5,723.70 

Less Dividends  1,500.00  1,500.00 

Balance as at March 31, 2023  14,000.00  12,844.92  500.00  27,344.92 
Add Profit for the year  4,387.25  4,387.25 

Add Other comprehensive income for the year  -9.94  -9.94 

Total comprehensive income for the year  4,377.31  4,377.31 

Less Dividends  1,700.00  1,700.00 

Balance as at March 31, 2024  14,000.00  15,522.23  500.00  30,022.23 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

1.  CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1. Corporate information
 LAKESHORE HOSPITAL AND RESEARCH CENTRE LIMITED was 

incorporated  on April 4, 1996 as a Public Limited Company. The 
Company is domiciled in India and having registered office at Nettoor, 
Kerala. The Company is engaged in providing healthcare services 
and has a super speciality hospital at Kochi. The Ind AS consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 were 
approved by the Board of Directors on 08.08.2024

2. Material Accounting Policies
2.1 Statement of compliance
 Consolidated Financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the accounting principles generally accepted in India including 
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under the Section 
133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 3 of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and the Companies 
(Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules issued thereafter.

2.2 Basis of preparation of consolidated Financial Statements
 The Consolidated financial statements of the Company have been 

prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments which are measured at fair values at the end of each 
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below. 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration 
given in exchange for goods and services. Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date.

2.2.1 Basis of consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 

statements of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary as at 
31st March 2023. The Company determines the basis of control 
in line with the requirements of Ind AS 110, Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The 
Group controls an entity when the parent has power over the entity, 
it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. The financial statement of subsidiary is 
included in the consolidated financial statement from the date on 
which control commences until the date on which control ceases. 
The financial statements of the Group companies are consolidated 
on a line-by-line basis and all intra-Group balances, transactions, 
income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.3 Application of New Accounting Pronouncements
 New Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations 

adopted by the Company effective from April 1, 2023:

 Amendments to Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
 On March 31, 2023, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs notified the 

Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 

2023 effective from April 1, 2023. This amendment requires the 
companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than 
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information, 
together with other information, is material when it can reasonably 
be expected to influence decisions of primary users of general 
purpose financial statements. The adoption of these amendments to 
Ind AS 1 did not have any material impact on the standalone financial 
statements.

 Amendments to Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors

 On March 31, 2023, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs notified the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 
2023 effective from April 1, 2023. This amendment has introduced 
a definition of ‘accounting estimates’ and included amendments 
to Ind AS 8 to help companies distinguish changes in accounting 
policies from changes in accounting estimates. The adoption of these 
amendments to Ind AS 8 did not have any material impact on the 
standalone financial statements.

 Amendments to Ind AS 12, Income Taxes
 On March 31, 2023, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs notified 

the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment 
Rules, 2023 effective from April 1, 2023. The amendments to 
Ind AS 12 clarify how companies account for deferred tax on 
transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. 
In specified circumstances, companies are exempt from recognising 
deferred tax when they recognise assets or liabilities for the first 
time. The amendments clarify that this exemption does not apply 
to transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations 
and companies are required to recognise deferred tax on such 
transactions. The adoption of these amendments to Ind AS 12 did not 
have any material impact on the standalone financial statements.

2.4 Current versus non-current classification
 The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet 

based on current/ non-current classification. 

 An asset is treated as current when it is:

 - Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in 
normal operating cycle;

 - Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

 - Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting 
period, or

 - Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged  
or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the  
reporting periodAll other assets are classified as non-current.

 A liability is current when:

 - It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

 - It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

 - It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting 
period, or
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 - There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

 All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

 Deferred tax assets/ liabilities are classified as non-current assets/ 
liabilities.

2.5 Use of estimates and judgements
 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 

conformity with the Ind AS requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities 
and disclosures as at date of the Consolidated financial statements 
and the reported amounts of the revenues and expenses for the 
years presented. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions and conditions.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 
that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

2.6 Critical Accounting estimates and judgements:
 The application of material accounting policies that require critical 

accounting estimates involving complex and subjective judgements 
and the use of assumptions in the consolidated financial statements 
have been disclosed below:

 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
 The Company reviews the estimated useful lives and residual 

values of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting 
period. Assumptions are also made as to whether an item meets 
the description of asset so as to warrant its capitalisation and which 
component of the asset may be capitalised. Reassessment of life 
may result in change in depreciation expense in future periods.

 Recognition of deferred tax assets 
 The Company reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets at 

the end of each reporting period. Significant judgements are involved 
in determining the elements of deferred tax items. 

 Impairment of unquoted investments 
 The Company reviews its carrying value of investments annually, 

or more frequently when there is indication for impairment. If the 
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment 
loss is accounted for.

 Recognition and measurement of provisions
 The recognition and measurement of provisions are based on the 

assessment of the probability of an outflow of resources and on past 
experience and circumstance known at the balance sheet date. The 
actual outflow of resources at a future date may therefore vary from 
the figure included in provisions.

 Contingencies and commitments
 In the normal course of business, contingent liabilities may arise 

from litigations and other claims against the Company. Where the 
potential liabilities have a low probability of crystallizing or are very 
difficult to quantify reliably, we treat them as contingent liabilities. 
Such liabilities are disclosed in the notes but are not provided for in 
the consolidated financial statements. Although there can be no 
assurance regarding the final outcome of the legal proceedings, 
we do not expect them to have a materially adverse impact on our 
financial position or profitability.

 Expected credit losses on financial assets
 The impairment provisions of financial assets are based on 

assumptions about risk of default and expected timing of collection. 
The Company uses judgment in making these assumptions and 
selecting the inputs to the expected credit loss calculation based on 
the Company’s history of collections, customer’s creditworthiness, 
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at 
the end of each reporting period.

 Recognition and measurement of defined benefit obligations
 The obligation arising from defined benefit plan is determined on the 

basis of actuarial assumptions. Key actuarial assumptions include 
discount rate, trends in salary escalation and vested future benefits 
and life expectancy.

 Classification of leases
 The Company enters into leasing arrangements for some assets. 

The Company has determined, based on an evaluation of the 
terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease 
term not constituting a major part of the economic life of the land 
and office premises and the fair value of the asset, that it does not 
retain significant risks and rewards of ownership of the land and the 
office premises and accounts for the contracts as operating leases. 
Further, refer note no. 21, for effect of transition to Ind AS 116 and 
other disclosures relating to leases.

2.7 Property , Plant and Equipment (PPE)
 On adoption of Ind AS, the Company retained the carrying value for all 

of its property , plant and equipment as recognised in the Consolidated 
financial statements as at the date of transition to Ind AS measured as 
per the previous GAAP and used that as its deemed cost as permitted 
by Ind AS 101 'First time adoption of Indian Accounting Standards'.  
Property, Plant and Equipments are stated at cost which includes 
capitalized borrowing costs, less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment in value if any. Cost includes purchase price, (inclusive of 
import duties and non – refundable purchase taxes, after deducting 
trade discounts and rebates), other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management and 
estimated cost of dismantling and restoring onsite. 

 When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 

28TH ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 2 3 - 2 0 2 4

108



components). The cost of replacement spares/ major inspection 
relating to property, plant and equipment is capitalized only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with these 
will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.

 The cost of Assets not ready for use as at the Balance Sheet date 
are disclosed under Capital Work-In-Progress. Impairment loss 
is charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss of the 
period in which the asset is identified as impaired, when the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable value. The impairment 
loss recognized in the prior accounting period is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimate of the recoverable amount.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal 
with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are 
recognised net within other income/ expenses in the Consolidated 
statement of profit and loss.

2.8 Intangible Assets
 Hospital Management System Software of the company is treated 

as an intangible asset in accordance with the Ind AS 38- "Intangible 
Assets".

2.9 Depreciation / Amortisation
 Depreciation is provided on Straight Line Method. The residual 

values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment are reviewed at each financial year and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate. The estimated useful lives of items 
of property, plant and equipment for the current and comparative 
period are as follows:

Block of Assets Useful life 

Building (RCC) 60 years

Building (Non RCC) 30 years

Medical equipment 13 years

Other equipment 15 years

Furniture and fixtures 10 years

Vehicles 8 years

Office equipment 5 years

Electrical installation 10 years

Computers 3 years

 Cost of software treated as intangible assets is amortised under 
straight line method over a period of 5 years.

2.10 Impairment of non financial assets
 The Company assesses the impairment of assets with reference to 

each cash generating unit, at each Balance Sheet date.  If events or 

changes in circumstances based on internal and external factors 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable in full, the 
loss on account and the recoverable amount, is accounted for 
accordingly. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair 
value less costs of disposal and value in use.

2.11 Inventories 
 Inventories of medicines, consumables and other items of inventory 

are valued at lower of cost or net realizable value, on First In First Out 
basis. The net realizable value of bought out inventories is taken at 
their current replacement value. 

 Crockery and Cutlery are valued at cost and are subject to 1/3 rd  
write off wherever applicable applying FIFO method. The net realisable 
value is not applicable in the absence of any further modification/
alteration before being consumed in-house. 

 Cost of these inventories comprises of all costs of purchase and other 
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location.

2.12 Equity instruments & Financial instruments

 Equity instruments
 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest 

in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity 
instruments which are issued for cash are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs. Equity instruments which are 
issued for consideration other than cash are recorded at fair value of 
the equity instrument.

 Initial recognition
 The Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities when 

it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
All financial assets and liabilities are recognized at amortized cost, 
except investments which are measured at fair value. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities that are not at fair value 
through profit or loss, are added to the fair value on initial recognition. 
Regular way purchase and sale of financial assets are accounted for 
at trade date.

 Subsequent measurement
 Non-derivative financial instruments
 Financial assets carried at amortised cost
 A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost if it is 

held within a business model whose objective is to hold the asset in 
order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of 
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVTOCI)

 A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income if it is held within a business model 
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whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets and the contractual terms of 
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. The Company has made an irrevocable 
election for its investments which are classified as equity 
instruments to present the subsequent changes in fair value in other 
comprehensive income based on its business model. Further, in 
cases where the company has made an irrevocable election based on 
its business model, for its investments which are classified as equity 
instruments, the subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in 
other comprehensive income.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
 A financial asset which is not classified in any of the above categories 

are subsequently fair valued through profit or loss.

 Trade Receivables
 The Company assesses at each Balance Sheet date whether a 

financial asset or a group of financial asset is impaired.  Ind AS 
109 requires expected credit loss to be measured through a loss 
allowance. The Company recognises lifetime expected credit losses 
for all trade receivables that do not constitute a financing transaction. 
Impairment loss allowance is based on a simplified approach as 
permitted by Ind AS 109. As a practical expedient, the company uses 
a provision matrix to determine the impairment loss on the portfolio 
of its trade receivables. 

 Financial liabilities
 Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized cost using 

the effective interest method, except for contingent consideration 
recognized in a business combination which is subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit and loss. For trade and other 
payables maturing within one year from the balance sheet date, the 
carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturity of 
these instruments.

 Off setting of financial instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are off set and the net amount 

is reported in financial statements if there is a currently enforceable 
legal right to off set the recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.

 Derecognition of financial instruments
 The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual 

rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or it transfers 
the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition under 
Ind AS 109. A financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) is 
derecognized from the Company’s balance sheet when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

 Fair value of financial instruments
 In determining the fair value of its financial instruments, the company 

uses a variety of methods and assumptions that are based on market 

conditions and risks existing at each reporting date. The methods 
used to determine fair value include discounted cash flow analysis, 
available quoted market prices and dealer quotes. All methods of 
assessing fair value result in general approximation of value, and 
such value may never actually be realized. For all other financial 
instruments the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the 
short maturity of those instruments.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents
 The Company considers all highly liquid financial instruments, 

which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash that are 
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value and having original 
maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase, to be 
cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of balances with 
banks which are unrestricted for withdrawal and usage.

2.14 Foreign Currency Transactions
 The Consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian 

Rupees (“INR”), which is the functional currency and presentation 
currency of the Company.

 Foreign Currency Transactions:
 Foreign exchange transactions are recorded in functional currency 

adopting the exchange rate prevailing on the dates of respective 
transactions.  Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
at the year end are re-measured at the exchange rate prevailing 
on the balance sheet date. Non monetary foreign currency items 
are carried at cost. Any income or expense on account of exchange 
difference either on settlement or on restatement is recognised in the 
Consolidated statement of Profit and Loss.

2.15 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent assets
 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company 

has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. Provisions (excluding retirement 
benefits and compensated leave) are not discounted to its present 
value and are determined by the best estimate of the outflow of 
economic benefits required to settle the obligation at the reporting 
date. These are reviewed at each reporting date adjusted to reflect 
the current best estimates.

 Contingent liability is disclosed when the company has a possible 
obligation or a present obligation and it is probable that a cash flow 
will not be required to settle the obligation.

 Contingent assets are not disclosed in the financial statements 
unless an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

2.16 Revenue Recognition
 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognized: 
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 (i) Operating income
  Operating income is recognised as and when the services are 

rendered / pharmacy items are sold. Revenue from sale of 
goods is recognized when all the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods have been passed to the buyer, usually 
on delivery of the goods.

  The Company recognises a deferred income (contract liability) 
if consideration has been received (or has become receivable) 
before the Company transfers the promised goods or services 
to the customer.  Deferred income mainly relates to remaining 
performance obligations in (partially) unsatisfied long-term 
contracts or are related to amounts the Company expects to 
receive for goods and services that have not yet been transferred 
to customers under existing, non-cancellable or otherwise 
enforceable contracts. 

  Contract assets are recognised when there is excess of revenue 
earned over billings on contracts. Contract assets are classified 
as unbilled receivables (only act of invoicing is pending) when 
there is unconditional right to receive cash, and only passage of 
time is required, as per contractual terms.

 (ii) Income from academic services
  Revenue is recognized on pro-rata basis on the completion of 

such services over the duration of the program.

 (iii) Export benefits
  Income from ‘Served from India Scheme/Service Exports 

from India Scheme’ is recognized as and when the claims are 
admitted. 

 (iv) Interest
  Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis taking 

into account the amount outstanding and the applicable interest 
rate. Interest income is included under the head “Other Income” 
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss. 

 v) Research Projects
  In respect of grants received for research projects/programmes 

from sponsor institutions for payment to investigators who are 
consultant doctors of the company, for carrying out research 
activities/ specified clinical studies in terms of tripartite 
agreement entered into between the company, sponsor 
institution and the investigator, the grant received/expenses 
incurred there against to the extent utilized, are accounted as 
income/expenditure of the year and the unspent amounts are 
carried forward to subsequent years to be accounted on actual 
utilisation thereof.

2.17 Employee benefits
 i) Employees  Benefits

  (i) Short Term Employee Benefits
   All employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of 

rendering the service are classified as short-term employee 
benefits and recognised in the period in which the employee 
renders the related service.

  (ii) Defined Contribution Plans
   The company has defined contribution plans for employees 

comprising of Provident Fund and Employee’s State 
Insurance. The contributions paid/ payable to these plans 
during the year are charged to the Consolidated Statement 
of Profit and Loss for the year.   

       (iii) Defined Benefit Plans - Gratuity 
   The net present value of the obligation for gratuity benefits as 

determined on independent actuarial valuation, conducted 
annually using the projected unit credit method, as adjusted 
for unrecognized past services cost if any, is recognised in 
the accounts. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in 
full in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the 
period in which they occur. 

  (iv) Long Term Employee Benefits
   The company has a scheme for compensated absences for 

employees, the liability of which is determined on the basis 
of an independent actuarial valuation carried out at the end 
of the year, using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial 
gains and losses are recognised in full in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss for the period in which they 
occur. 

 ii) Expense on issue of Sweat Equity Shares
  In respect of shares issued as sweat equity shares, the 

accounting value of the fair price of the shares as determined 
shall be disclosed as compensation to the employee or 
director under Employee Benefits Expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss during the relevant accounting 
period in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013.

2.18 Borrowing cost
 General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to 

acquisition/ construction or production of qualifying assets (net of 
income earned on temporary deployment of funds) are capitalized 
as part of cost of such assets upto the date when such assets are 
ready for intended use. A qualifying asset is one that necessarily takes 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use. All other 
borrowing costs are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in 
the period in which they are incurred.

2.19 Leases
 The Company evaluates each contract or arrangement, whether it 

qualifies as lease as defined under Ind AS 116.

 As a lessee:
 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for 

Land and Buildings. The Company assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To 
assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset, the Company assesses whether:

28TH ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 2 3 - 2 0 2 4

111



 (i) the contract involves the use of an identified asset

 (ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from 
use of the asset through the period of the lease and

 (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.

 At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognises 
a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) and a corresponding lease liability for 
all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a 
term of twelve months or less (short term leases) and leases of low 
value assets. For these short term and leases of low value assets, the 
Company recognises the lease payments as an operating expense 
over the term of the lease.

 The right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the 
lease plus any initial direct costs less any lease incentives. They are 
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, if any. Right-of-use assets are depreciated from 
the commencement date on a straight-line basis over the shorter of 
the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the 
future lease payments. The lease payments are discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using 
the incremental borrowing rates. The lease liability is subsequently 
remeasured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made.

 A lease liability is remeasured upon the occurrence of certain events 
such as a change in the lease term or a change in an index or rate 
used to determine lease payments. The remeasurement normally 
also adjusts the leased assets.

 Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented in the 
Balance Sheet and lease payments have been classified as financing 
cash flows.

 As a lessor:
 Leases under which the Company is a lessor are classified as finance 

or operating leases. Lease contracts where all the risks and rewards 
are substantially transferred to the lessee, the lease contracts 
are classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

2.20 Prior period adjustment
 Prior period adjustments  due to errors, having material impact on 

the financial affairs of the Company, are  corrected retrospectively 
by restating the comparative amounts for prior periods presented in 
which the error occurred or if the error occurred before the earliest 
period presented, by restating the opening statement of financial 
position.

2.21 Taxes on Income
 Income tax
 Income tax expense comprises current tax expense and the net 

change in the deferred tax asset or liability during the year. Current 
and deferred taxes are recognised in Consolidated Statement of 
Profit and Loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the 
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively.

 Current tax
 Current tax is measured at the amount of tax expected to be payable 

on the taxable income for the year as determined in accordance with 
the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961. Current tax assets and 
current tax liabilities are off set when there is a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle the asset and the liability on a net basis.

 Deferred tax
 Deferred income tax is recognised using the Balance Sheet 

approach. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognised 
for deductible and taxable temporary differences arising between the 
tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount, except 
when the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of 
the transaction.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that either future taxable profits or reversal of deferred tax 
liabilities will be available, against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset shall be reviewed at 
the end of each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates 
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are off set when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 
the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.

 Minimum Alternate Tax credit is recognised as deferred tax asset 
only when and to the extent there is convincing evidence that the 
Company will pay normal income tax during the specified period. 
Such asset is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and the carrying 
amount of the MAT credit asset is written down to the extent there is 
no longer a convincing evidence to the effect that the Company will 
pay normal income tax during the specified period.
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2.22 Earnings Per Share
 Basic EPS are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the 

period attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average 
number of equity shares outstanding during the period. Partly paid 
equity shares are treated as a fraction of an equity share to the extent 
that they are entitled to participate in dividends relative to a fully 
paid equity share during the reporting period. The weighted average 
number of equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for 
events such as bonus issue, bonus element in a rights issue to existing 
shareholders, share split and reverse share split (consolidation of 
shares) that have changed the number of equity shares outstanding, 
without a corresponding change in resources.

 Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable 
to equity holders of the Company (after adjusting for interest on 
the convertible preference shares, if any) by the weighted average 
number of equity shares outstanding during the year plus the 
weighted average number of equity shares that would be issued 
on conversion of all the dilutive potential equity shares into equity 
shares. Dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as 
of the beginning of the period, unless issued at a later date. Dilutive 
potential equity shares are determined independently for each period 
presented.

2.23 Segment Reporting
 Based on the “management approach” as defined in Ind AS 108, 

Operating Segments, the Chief Operating Decision Maker evaluates 
the Company’s performance and allocates resources based on an 
analysis of various performance indicators by business segments. 
Members of the Board of the Company have been identified as the 
Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) as defined by Ind AS 
108 “Operating Segments’’. Accordingly the company has only one 
reportable segment i.e. “Hospital Activities”.

2.24 Cash flow statement
 Cash Flows are reported using the Indirect Method, whereby  profit/

loss before tax is adjusted for the effect of transactions of non-cash 
nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts 
or payments and items of income or expenses associated with 
investing or financial cash flows. Cash flows from operating, investing 
and financial activities of the Company are segregated based on the 
available information.

 For the purpose of cash flow statement, Cash and cash equivalent 
comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts, if any. Bank overdrafts are disclosed within borrowings in 
current liabilities in the Balance Sheet

2.25 Dividend to equity shareholders
 Dividend to equity shareholders is recognised as a liability and 

deducted from shareholders’ equity, in the period in which the 
dividends are approved by the equity shareholders in the general 

meeting.

2.26 Investment in Subsidiaries
 A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the company.
 The company accounts for the investments in equity shares of 

subsidiaries at cost in accordance with Ind AS 27 - Separate Financial 
Statements.

2.27 Government grants
 Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable 

assurance that the grant will be received and all attached conditions 
will be complied with.

 Government grants related to revenue are recognised on a systematic 
basis in the statement of profit and loss over the periods necessary 
to match them with the related costs which they are intended to 
compensate. Government grants related to assets, including non-
monetary grants at fair value, shall be presented in the balance sheet 
by setting up the grant as deferred revenue. The grant set up as 
deferred income is recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis 
over the useful life of the asset"

3. Recent accounting pronouncements - Standards issued but not 
yet effective

 The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standard or 
amendments to the existing standards under Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the 
year ended March 31, 2024, MCA has not notified any new standards 
or amendments to the existing standards applicable to the Company.
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5 Capital work -in -progress                                                                                                                                                                                                                                ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
(a)   Calicut Medical Centre Project  0.00  2.25 
(b)   Others  189.46  565.01 

Total  189.46  567.26 

5.1 Capital work-in-progress ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2024                                                                                                                   ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Amount in CWIP for a period of 

Less than  
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than  

3 years Total

Projects in Progress  188.40  1.06  -    -    189.46 

5.2 Capital work-in-progress ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2023                                                                                                                    ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Amount in CWIP for a period of 

Less than  
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than  

3 years Total

Projects in Progress  561.32  5.94  -    -    567.26 

6 Intangible assets                                                                                                                                                                                                          ` in Lakhs

Particulars

Gross carrying amount Amortisation Net Carrying amount
As at  

1st April  
2023

  Additions/  
adjustments  

during the year 

  Disposal/  
adjustments 

during the year 

As at  
31st March 

2024

As at  
1st April  
2023

 For the year  Adjustment/ 
(withdrawal)

As at  
31st March 

2024

As at  
31st March 

2024

As at  
31st March 

2023
 Software  108.06  85.33  -    193.39  63.97  18.41  -    82.38  111.01  44.09 

Total  108.06  85.33  -    193.39  63.97  18.41  -    82.38  111.01  44.09 

Particulars

Gross carrying amount Amortisation Net Carrying amount
As at  

1st April  
2022

  Additions/  
adjustments 

 during the year 

  Disposal/  
adjustments 

during the year 

As at  
31st March 

2023

As at  
1st April  
2022

 For the year  Adjustment/ 
(withdrawal)

As at  
31st March 

2023

As at  
31st March 

2023

As at  
31st March 

2022
 Software  98.39  9.67  108.06  45.42  18.55  63.97  44.09  52.97 

Total  98.39  9.67  -    108.06  45.42  18.55  -    63.97  44.09  52.97 

7 Right-of-use assets                                                                                                                                                                                                   ` in Lakhs

Particulars

Gross carrying amount Depreciation Net Carrying amount
As at  

1st April  
2023

  Additions   Disposal
As at  

31st March 
2024

As at  
1st April  
2023

 For the year   Disposal
As at  

31st March 
2024

As at  
31st March 

2024

As at  
31st March 

2023
(a)   Land   95.55  -    -    95.55  4.85  0.97  -    5.82  89.73  90.70 
(b)   Land &  
        Building  527.31  -    -    527.31  194.61  55.44  -    250.05  277.26  332.70 

Total  622.86  -    -    622.86  199.46  56.41  -    255.87  366.99  423.40 

` in Lakhs

Particulars

Gross carrying amount Depreciation Net Carrying amount
As at  

1st April  
2022

  Additions   Disposal
As at  

31st March 
2023

As at  
1st April  
2022

 For the year   Disposal
As at  

31st March 
2023

As at  
31st March 

2023

As at  
31st March 

2022
(a)   Land   95.55  -    -    95.55  3.88  0.97  -    4.85  90.70  91.67 
(b)   Land &  
        Building  527.31  -    -    527.31  139.16  55.45  -    194.61  332.70  388.15 

Total  622.86  -    -    622.86  143.04  56.42  -    199.46  423.40  479.82 
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8 Other Financial Assets - Non Current                                                                                                                                                                                                          ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Security deposits  218.63  209.56 
Bank deposits with maturity period more than 12 months  1,384.20  1,112.10 

Total  1,602.83  1,321.66 
9 Non Current/ Current tax assets / liability (Net)                                                                                                                                                                                  ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Non current tax assets

Advance income tax net of provisions  2,306.09  2,566.33 
Current tax assets

Advance income tax net of provisions  -    -   
Current tax liability

Provision for current tax  1,352.40  2,107.68 
Total  953.69  458.65 

 Income tax recognised in profit & loss                                                                                                                                                                                                         ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Current tax:
Current income tax charge in Profit & Loss  1,352.40  2,660.93 
Income tax relating to earlier years  0.87  17.09 
Current income tax charge in Other Comprehensive Income  -    -   

Total (A)  1,353.27  2,678.02 
Deferred tax:
In respect of current year (Profit & Loss)  (240.68)  (188.44)
In respect of current year (Other Comprehensive Income)  (3.34)  (11.58)

Total (B)  (244.02)  (200.02)
Income tax expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss (A+B)  1,109.25  2,478.00 

 The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:-                                            ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Profit before tax  5,499.84  8,241.46 
Income tax expense calculated @ 25.168% (29.12%)  1,384.20  2,399.91 
Effect of expenses/income that are not deductible in determining taxable profit  0.96  4.02 
Effect of expenses incurred on Corporate Social Responsibility not deductible in 
determining taxable profit

 27.08  19.32 

Effect of change in tax rate (subsequently enacted rate taken for Deferred tax)  (268.82)  -   
Others:  -    -   
Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current/ deferred tax of prior years  0.15  16.64 
Other adjustments  (30.98)  49.68 
Income tax expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss  1,112.59  2,489.58 

 The Company has decided to opt for Section 115BAA of the Income Tax Act 1961 from the current financial year.

 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) in relation to 2022-23                                                                                                                                                                    ` in Lakhs

Particulars  Opening balance  Recognised in Statement 
of Profit and Loss  Closing Balance

Provisions  1,191.15  (118.44)  1,072.71 
Property, plant and equipment  (3,190.19)  333.35  (2,856.84)
MAT Credit availed  -    -    -   
Others  18.29  29.11  47.40 

Total  (1,980.75)  (1,736.73)
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 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) in relation to 2021-22                                                                                                                                                                    ` in Lakhs

Particulars  Opening balance  Recognised in Statement 
of Profit and Loss  Closing Balance

Provisions  844.53  346.62  1,191.15 
Property, plant and equipment  (3,058.09)  (132.10)  (3,190.19)
MAT Credit availed  560.93  (560.93)  -   
Others *  32.80  (14.51)  18.29 

Total  (1,619.83)  (1,980.75)

10 Other non-current assets                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  ̀  in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Unsecured, considered good
Deposits with statutory authorities  68.95  68.95 
Capital advances                             516.39  86.20 

Total  585.34  155.15 

10.1 Deposits include Rs. 64.72 lakhs (Rs. 64.72 lakhs) made against disputed provident fund demands (See Note 39)

11 Inventories                                                                                                                                                                                                                       ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Inventories are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value
(a)   Medicines  295.60  385.72 
(b)   Medicines-in-transit  -    1.83 
(c)   Medical Consumables  735.70  757.71 
(d)   Consumables-in-transit  22.61  105.44 

(e)   Other Consumables  17.02  21.15 

Total  1,070.93  1,271.85 

12 Trade Receivables-Current                                                                                                                                                                                                                                ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Unsecured
Considered good  2,686.00  1,994.54 
Receivable from related parties (refer note 41)  1.14  4.35 
Credit impaired  2,038.81  2,027.89 
Significant increase in credit risk  -    -   
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (Expected credit loss allowance) against credit 
impaired trade receivables

 2,038.81  2,027.89 

Total  2,687.14  1,998.89 

12.1 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and receivable in normal operating cycle. 

12.2 The Company has sent balance confirmation letters to the Insurance & Corporate Debtors and started the reconciliation process. The Company is 
not expecting any material impact while reconciling the same.

 Movement in the expected credit loss allowance                                                                                                                                                                                  ̀  in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Opening balance  2,027.89  929.03 
Add: Loss allowance based on Expected Credit Loss  10.92  603.64 
Add: Additional provision  -    495.22 
Less: Bad debts written off adjusted  -    -   
Closing Balance*  2,038.81  2,027.89 

* Current
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12.3 Trade receivables ageing schedule for the year ended as on March 31, 2024                                                                                                                         ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than  
6 months

6 months to  
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 

years Total

Undisputed Trade receivables –  
considered good

 1,282.17  555.25  416.44  431.71  1.57  2,687.14 

Undisputed Trade receivables –  
Credit Impaired

 81.53  98.44  204.53  365.32  1,288.99  2,038.81 

Gross Trade receivables  1,363.70  653.69  620.97  797.03  1,290.56  4,725.95 
Less: Allowance for credit loss  2,038.81 
Net Trade Receivables  2,687.14 

12.4 Trade receivables ageing schedule for the year ended as on March 31, 2023                                                                                                                         ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than  
6 months

6 months to  
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 

years Total

Undisputed Trade receivables –  
considered good

 1,453.00  203.71  145.31  196.62  0.25  1,998.89 

Undisputed Trade receivables –  
Credit Impaired

 88.79  204.10  699.29  142.26  893.46  2,027.89 

Gross Trade receivables  1,541.79  407.81  844.60  338.87  893.71  4,026.78 
Less: Allowance for credit loss  2,027.89 
Net Trade Receivables  1,998.89 

13 Cash and Cash equivalents                                                                                                                                                                                                                                ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Balance  with Banks

In current account  966.84  3,201.44 
Term deposits with original maturity of less than three months  2.57  438.49 

Cash on hand  23.87  23.22 
Total  993.28  3,663.15 

13.1 Balances with banks in current accounts include earmarked balances for unpaid dividend Rs. 5.86 lakhs (Rs. 2.13 lakhs) and debit balances in 
overdraft account amounting to Rs.188.21 lakhs (Rs. 348.66 lakhs). 

14 Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                                                                                         ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Term Deposits with banks (due to mature within 12 months of the reporting date)  6,672.41  6,178.19 

Total  6,672.41  6,178.19 

14.1 Term Deposits with banks includes deposit of  765.03 Lakhs (Rs.841.11) held as security against bank guarantees issued towards EPCG scheme and  
Rs. 848.78 Lakhs (Rs.226.08 Lakhs) held as security against other bank guarantees.

15 Loans - Current                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated

To parties other than related parties

Employee advances  18.93  22.03 

Less : Provision for doubtful advances  (16.45)  (16.45)

Total  2.48  5.58 
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16 Other Financial Assets - Current                                                                                                                                                                              ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Security deposits  11.33  9.67 
Interest accrued on bank deposits  203.52  245.07 
Unbilled revenue  460.47  731.39 

Total  675.32  986.13 

17 Other Current Assets                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Unsecured, considered good
Advances other than capital advances  236.68  187.33 
Balances with government authorities  24.43  -   

Total  261.11  187.33 

18 Equity Share Capital                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Number ` in lakhs Number ` in lakhs

Authorised
Equity shares of  ` 10/- each  100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00
Issued, Subscribed and  Fully paid up
Equity shares of ` 10 each fully paid up  100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00

Total  100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00

18.1 Reconciliation of  number of shares and amounts outstanding                                                                                                                                                     

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Number ` in lakhs Number ` in lakhs

Equity Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year  100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00
Add : shares issued during the year - - - -
Equity Shares outstanding at the end of the year  100,000,000  10,000.00  100,000,000  10,000.00

18.2 Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company                                                                                              

Name of Shareholder  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Number of Shares held % of holding Number of Shares held % of holding

Dr. Shamsheer Vayalil Parambath  42,622,423 42.62%  42,622,423 42.62%
Mr. Yusuff Ali M A  18,800,668 18.80%  18,800,668 18.80%

18.3 Details of shares held by promoters                                                                                                                                                                    

Promoter Name

 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

 No. of shares % of total  
shares

 % Change 
during the 

year 
 No. of shares % of total  

shares

 % Change 
during the 

year
Dr. Shamsheer Vayalil Parambath  42,622,423 42.62%  -    42,622,423 42.62%  -   
Mr. Yusuffali Musaliam Veettil Abdul Kader  18,800,668 18.80%  -    18,800,668 18.80%  -   
Mr. Sebastian P M  4,515,139 4.52%  -    4,515,139 4.52%  -   
Mr. Job Varghese  3,933,333 3.93%  -    3,933,333 3.93%  -   
Mr. Parayil Daniel Mathew  2,503,000 2.50%  -    2,503,000 2.50%  -   
Mr. Mudyilethu Mathai Mathai  1,333,330 1.33%  -    1,333,330 1.33%  -   
Dr. Molly Johny  1,170,010 1.17%  -    1,170,010 1.17%  -   
Dr. Kaivilayil Varghese Johny  1,170,000 1.17%  -    1,170,000 1.17%  -   
Mrs. Shabira Yusuff Ali  1,000,000 1.00%  -    1,000,000 1.00%  -   
Mr. K N Prabhakaran Nair  700,000 0.70%  -    700,000 0.70%  -   
Dr. K Chithrathara  40,000 0.04%  -    40,000 0.04%  -   
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18.4 Terms/rights attached to equity shares
 The company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs.10 per share. Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per 

share. The company declares and pays dividend in Indian Rupees. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the 
shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

 In the event of liquidation of the company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive the remaining assets of the company, after 
distribution of all preferential amounts, if any. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

18.5 Details of shares issued for consideration other than cash
 10,00,000 sweat equity shares of Rs 10 each at a premium of Rs 20 per share was allotted during the financial year ended 31.03.2016 to Dr. Philip 

Augustine as fully paid-up without payment being received in cash. 

19 Other Equity                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Capital Redemption Reserve
Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  500.00  500.00 
Securities Premium
Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  14,000.00  14,000.00 
Other Reserves 
Retained Earnings
Balance as at the beginning of the year  12,844.92  8,621.22 
Add: Profit for the period  4,387.25  5,751.88 
Add: Other Comprehensive income  -9.94  -28.18 
Total comprehensive income for the current year  17,222.23  14,344.92 
Less :
Dividend on equity shares  1,700.00  1,500.00 
Balance as at the end of the year  15,522.23  12,844.92 

Total  30,022.23  27,344.92 

19.1 Capital Redemption Reseerve : Capital redemption reserve is a statutory non-distributable reserve into which the amounts are transferred following 
the redemption of Company’s own preference shares. It is utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

19.2 Securities Premium : Securities premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The reserve is utilised in accordance with the provisions 
of section 52 of the Companies Act, 2013.

19.3 Distribution of dividend paid and proposed                                                                                                                                                     ` in Lakhs

Particulars 2023-24 2022-23

Dividends on equity shares declared and paid  1,700.00  1,500.00 

(for the year ended 31 March 2023 Rs. 1.70 (PY: Rs. 1.50) per equity share)
Proposed cash dividend for the year

 1,700.00  1,700.00 

20 Borrowings                                                                                                                                                                                                                        ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

From Banks (Secured)
Term Loan (See Notes 20.1)  -    723.56 

Total  -    723.56 

20.1 Term loan is sanctioned by HDFC Bank Ltd, as re-imbursement of capex done during financial year 2017, 2018 & 2019, which is repayable in 7 years 
including 1 year moratorium, in equal quarterly repayment after the moratorium period with interest at the rate of one year MCLR + 30bps. Loan is 
pre-closed during the current financial year.

20.2 Nature of security: Term loan from HDFC bank Ltd are secured by way of EM of 205.900 cents of land alongwith 10 floored building with 221700 
sq.ft, EM of 54.54 cents of land, EM of the 11 floored building with 260000 sq.ft being constructed on the project land admeasuring 54.54 cents and 
hypothecation of medical equipment of the Company not specifically charged to other banks/ financial institutions.
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21 Lease liability     
 The Company has adopted Ind AS 116 effective 1st April, 2019, using the modified retrospective method. The Company has applied the standard to 

its leases with the cumulative impact recognised on the date of initial application (1st April, 2019). Accordingly, previous period information has not 
been restated.

 This has resulted in recognising a right-of-use asset of Rs. 94.58 lakhs and a corresponding lease liability of Rs. 7.15 lakhs. The difference of Rs. 0.09 
lakhs (net of deferred tax asset created of Rs. 0.04 lakhs) has been adjusted to retained earnings as at 1st April 2019. Prepaid rent which were earlier 
classified under “Other Assets” have been reclassified to right-of-use assets by Rs. 87.56 lakhs.The Company does not recognize RoU assets and 
lease liabilities for leases with less than twelve months of lease term and low-value assets on the date of initial application.

 The Company has lease contracts for land and building. Lease for land has lease term of 99 years, while lease for building has lease term of 8 
years. The Company’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. The Company also has certain leases with 
lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of low value. The Company applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition 
exemptions for these leases.

 The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the period are given in Note 7.

 Carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:                                                                                   ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Opening balance  481.93  523.54 
Additions during the year  -    -   
Finance charge  38.04  42.25 
Repayment  91.88  83.86 
Closing balance  428.09  481.93 
Current  66.94  54.47 
Non current  361.15  427.46 

 The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:                                                                                                                                                             ̀  in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets  56.41  56.42 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  38.04  42.25 
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in other expenses)  103.60  88.73 
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (included in other expenses)  29.74  37.94 

Total  227.79  225.33 
The effective interest rate for lease liabilities is 8.5%
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 42.

22 Provisions - Non Current                                                                                                                                                                                           ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)   Provision for employee benefits
(i)  Provision for compensated absences  160.41  149.50 
(ii) Provision for gratuity  1,059.42  952.59 

Total  1,219.83  1,102.09 

23 Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net)                                                                                                                                                                                ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Deferred tax liabilities  2,926.11  3,331.25 
Deferred tax assets  1,189.38  1,350.50 

Total  1,736.73  1,980.75 

24 Other non-current liabilities                                                                                                                                                                                   ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Deferred government grant for EPCG Licence*  551.24  311.84 
Deferred grant-others**  13.88  15.18 

Total  565.12  327.02 
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 Summary of the government grant received by the Company :-                                                                                                        ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Opening Balance  365.78  363.41 
Add: Grants during the year  297.81  39.81 
Less: Released to profit and loss  43.36  37.44 
Closing Balance  620.23  365.78 
Non Current  565.12  327.02 
Current  55.11  38.76 

 * The Company has received grant in the form of EPCG license from Government of India amounting to Rs. 297.81 Lakhs (Rs. 39.81 Lakhs) for import 
of capital goods subject to fulfilment of export obligation in next 6 years. The Company has recognized this grant as deferred government grant for 
EPCG licence at fair value. The company will recognize deferred grant income in the statement of profit and loss as per its accounting policy.

 ** During the financial year 2022-23, the Company has received grant from a corporate entity amounting to Rs.30 lakhs for establishing a Diagnostics 
Lab as agreed. The Company has recognized the grant related to asset as deferred income at fair value which is being amortised over the useful 
life of the Property,plant and equipment in proportion in which the related depreciation is recognized. Grant related to revenue is recognised on a 
systematic basis in the statement of profit and loss over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended to 
compensate.

25 Borrowings - Current                                                                                                                                                                                                   ̀  in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)   Current maturities of long-term debt (See Note 20)  -    578.85 
(b)   Credit Card  2.65  -   

Total  2.65  578.85 

25.1 The Company has been sanctioned corporate credit card with a limit of Rs. 5 lakhs during the year.

26 Trade Payables                                                                                                                                                                                                              ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Trade payables (Unsecured) 
Outstanding dues of Micro enterprises and Small enterprises  267.02  106.11 
Outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro enterprises and Small enterprises  3,012.47  3,433.27 

Total  3,279.49  3,539.38 
 The information as required under Micro Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 has been determined to the extent such parties 

have been identified on the basis of information available with the Company and has been relied upon by the Auditors.

 Dues to Micro and Small Enterprises have been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of information collected by 
the Management during 2023-24 is as follows:

` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)  The principal amount and the interest due thereon (to be shown separately) 
remaining unpaid to any supplier at the end of each accounting year
Principal  267.02  101.83 
Interest on above Principal  -    0.12 

(b)     the amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the Micro, 
Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (27 of 2006), along 
with the amount of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed 
day during each accounting year;

 -    -   

(c)    the amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making pay- 
ment (which has been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) 
but without adding the interest specified under the Micro, Small and Medium 
Enterprises Development Act, 2006;

 0.13  4.16 

(d)  the amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each 
accounting year; and  4.41  -   

(e)      the amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding 
years, until such date when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small 
enterprise, for the purpose of disallowance of a deductible expenditure under section 
23 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006.

 -    -   
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26.1 Trade payables ageing schedule for the year ended as on March 31, 2024                                                                                     ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
MSME  262.74  4.28  -    -    267.02 
Others  1,492.06  1,353.78  88.84  77.79  3,012.47 
Disputed Dues - MSME  -    -    -    -    -   
Disputed Dues - Others  -    -    -    -    -   

26.2 Trade payables ageing schedule for the year ended as on March 31, 2023                                                                                     ` in Lakhs

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
MSME  105.83  0.28  -    106.11 
Others  3,282.40  51.41  24.77  74.70  3,433.27 
Disputed Dues - MSME  -    -    -    -    -   
Disputed Dues - Others  -    -    -    -    -   

27 Other Financial Liabilities - Current                                                                                                                                                                    ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)   Employee related liabilities  2,121.68  1,890.04 
(b)   Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  -    9.40 
(c)   Unpaid dividends  5.86  2.13 
(d)   Other payables:

(i)   Creditors for Capital goods  54.43  599.95 
(ii)  Advance received towards Research activities (See Note 2.16 (v)  
        of Significant Accounting Policies)"

 91.78  96.73 

(iii) Retention money deposits  94.57  82.25 
(iv) Others   611.48  840.54 

Total  2,979.80  3,521.04 
28 Other Current Liabilities                                                                                                                                                                                             ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Statutory  dues  203.58  190.20 
Deferred government grant for EPCG Licence*  53.81  30.90 
Deferred grant-others*  1.30  7.86 
Others  162.23  89.25 

Total  420.92  318.21 
*Refer note 24 for details of deferred grant

29 Provisions - Current                                                                                                                                                                                                    ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(a)   Provision for employee benefits
(i)   Provision for compensated absences  31.01  28.23 
(ii)  Provision for gratuity  81.90  79.73 

Total  112.91  107.96 
30 Revenue from operations                                                                                                                                                                                          ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Sale of Products  15,082.18  15,031.75 
Sale of Services  22,868.69  25,115.32 
Other operating revenue  1,671.14  1,771.35 

Total  39,622.01  41,918.42 
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 Disaggregated revenue information                                                                                                                                                                       ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Sale of Products
(a)   Pharmacy Sales  15,082.18  15,031.75 

Sale of Services
(a)   Laboratory & Diagnostic services  7,683.98  7,964.53 
(b)   Other Healthcare services  15,184.71  17,150.79 

Other Operating Revenue:
(a)   Income from Research Activities - (See Note 2.16(v) of Significant 

Accounting Policies) (Net of expense)
 -    -   

(b)  Course fees  64.23  86.33 
(c)  Income from Restaurant  1,606.91  1,685.02 

Total  39,622.01  41,918.42 

 Reconciliation of Gross revenue with the revenue from contracts with customers                                                                 ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Gross revenue  40,889.65  42,826.78 
Less : Discount  -1,267.64  -908.36 

Total  39,622.01  41,918.42 

 Contract balances                                                                                                                                                                                                         ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Trade receivables  2,687.14  1,998.89 
Unbilled revenue  460.47  731.39 

Total  3,147.61  2,730.28 

31 Other Income                                                                                                                                                                                                                     ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(a)   Interest income 
On Fixed deposits  525.11  396.51 
Other interest  7.72  19.67 

(b)   Government grant  43.36  37.44 
(c)   Other Non- Operating income  90.70  82.00 

Total  666.89  535.62 

32 Purchase Of Medicines & Consumables                                                                                                                                                            ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(a)   Medicines  5,737.94  5,644.38 
(c)   Consumables  5,394.15  5,526.11 

Total  11,132.09  11,170.49 

33 Changes In Inventories of Medicines & Consumables                                                                                                                                    ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Inventories at the end of the year :
(a)   Medicines  295.60  387.55 
(b)   Consumables  775.33  884.31 

 1,070.93  1,271.85 
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Inventories at the beginning of the year :
(a)   Medicines  387.55  337.51 
(b)   Consumables  884.31  768.64 

 1,271.85  1,106.15 
Net (increase) / decrease  200.92  -165.70 

34 Employee Benefits Expense                                                                                                                                                                                    ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Salaries & wages  7,080.83  5,913.75 
Contribution to Provident Fund and other funds  289.73  309.44 
Staff welfare expenses  135.82  160.31 

Total  7,506.38  6,383.50 
 Other Benefit Plan - Leave Plan
 The principal assumptions used for the purpose of actuarial valuation were as follows:                                                       

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Discount Rate (p.a) 7.20% 7.55%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 5.00% 5.00%

 Amount recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss in respect of defined benefit plans are as follows:-                                        ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Service Cost:  
Current  Service Cost  54.53  51.01 

Net Interest expense  11.68  12.11 
Acturial (Gain)/Loss recognised during the period  -6.53  -16.30 
Expenses recognised in the Consolidated statement of profit and loss  59.69  46.82 

 The amount included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet arising from the entity’s obligation in respect  
of its defined benefit plan is as follows:-                                                                                                                                                       ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation at end of the year  191.42  177.72 
 Fair Value of Plan Assets at the end of the year  -    -   
 Net Liabilities /(Assets) recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet  191.42  177.72 

 Movements in present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:-                                                                        ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Defined Benefit Obligation at beginning of the year  177.72  193.20 
 Current & Past Service Cost  54.53  51.01 
 Current Interest Cost  11.68  12.11 
 Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss  -6.53  -16.30 
 Benefits paid  -45.99  -62.29 
 Defined Benefit Obligation at end of the year  191.42  177.72 

 Movements in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:                                                                                                           ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Fair Value of Plan Assets at the beginning of the year  -    -   
 Expected Return on Plan Assets  -    -   
 Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss  -    -   
 Contributions from the employer  -    -   
 Benefits paid  -    -   
 Fair Value of the Assets at the end of the year  -    -   
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 Defined Benefit Plan-Gratuity
 The principal assumptions used for the purpose of actuarial valuation were as follows:                                                       

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Discount Rate (p.a) 7.20% 7.55%

Rate of increase in compensation levels 5.00% 5.00%

Expected Rate of return on plan assets NA NA

 Amount recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in respect of defined benefit plans are as follows:-        ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Service Cost: 
Current Service Cost  128.58  116.50 
Net Interest expense  70.60  66.50 

Components of defined benefit costs recognised in Consolidated statement of 
profit  and loss 

 199.18  183.00 

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability: 
Acturial (Gain)/Loss on Plan Obligations  13.28  39.76 
Difference between Actual Return and Interest income on Plan assets  (gain)/loss  -    -   
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in Other Comprehensive Income  13.28  39.76 

 The amount included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet arising from the entity’s obligation in respect  
of its defined benefit plan is as follows:-                                                                                                                                                       ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation at end of the year  1,141.32  1,032.32 
 Fair Value of Plan Assets at the end of the year  -    -   
 Net Liabilities /(Assets) recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet  1,141.32  1,032.32 

 Movements in present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:-                                                                        ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Defined Benefit Obligation at beginning of the year  1,032.32  970.85 

 Current Service Cost  128.58  116.50 

 Current Interest Cost  70.60  66.50 

 Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss  13.28  39.76 

 Benefits paid  -103.46  -161.29 

 Defined Benefit Obligation at end of the year  1,141.32  1,032.32 

 Movements in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:                                                                                                           ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 Fair Value of Plan Assets at the beginning of the year  -    -   
 Expected Return on Plan Assets  -    -   
 Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss  -    -   
 Contributions from the employer  -    -   
 Benefits paid  -    -   
 Fair Value of the Assets at the end of the year  -    -   
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35 Finance Costs                                                                                                                                                                                                                 ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(a)   Interest expense  54.61  168.76 
(b)   Interest on lease liabilities  38.04  42.25 

Total  92.65  211.01 
36 Depreciation and Amortisation Expense                                                                                                                                                               ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

Depreciation on property, plant and equipments  2,351.51  2,250.65 
Amortisation of other intangible asset  18.41  18.54 

Total  2,369.92  2,269.19 
37 Other Expenses                                                                                                                                                                                                              ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(a)   Power, fuel & water charges  1,197.54  1,070.63 
(b)   Consultancy charges  7,364.85  7,600.84 
(c)   House Keeping expenses  929.70  834.60 
(d)   Lab Test Charges  228.18  200.04 
(e)   Rent  133.59  126.88 
(f)    Repairs:

 - Buildings  100.34  80.29 
 - Machinery  918.58  816.54 
 - Others  78.24  109.13 

(g)   Insurance  25.95  25.36 
(h)   Rates and taxes  104.49  23.39 
(i)    Restaurant consumption  831.54  826.90 
(j)    Advertisement & Marketing expenses  472.30  387.47 
(k)   Printing and Stationery  162.83  227.81 
(l)    Payments to auditors (See Note: 37.1)  11.67  9.63 
(m) Provision for doubtful debts and doubtful advances  10.93  1,098.86 
(n)   Expenditure on Corporate Social Responsibility activities (See Note 37.2)  107.61  66.36 
(o)   Professional Charges  152.76  165.72 
(p)   Bank Charges  58.65  56.61 
(q)   Security Charges  217.89  177.05 
(r)    Miscellaneous expenses  367.81  360.80 
(s)   Net loss on foreign currency transactions and translation  11.65  79.18 

Total  13,487.10  14,344.09 
37.1 Payment to Auditors                                                                                                                                                                                                    ` in Lakhs

For statutory audit  6.25  5.25 
For taxation matters (including tax audit)  1.00  1.00 
Tax on above  1.30  1.13 
For other services  2.71  1.88 
Reimbursement of expenses  0.41  0.38 

Total  11.67  9.63 

37.2 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) : As per Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, a company, meeting the applicability threshold, needs to 
spend at least 2% of its average net profit for the immediately preceding three financial years on CSR activities. The areas of CSR activity includes 
promoting education, art and culture, healthcare, Social Empowerment, etc., and those specified in Schedule VII of the Companies Act 2013. CSR 
committee has been formed by the company as per the Act. The utilisation of CSR funds are done as per the recommendations of CSR committee. 
Details of amount required to be spent and the amount utilised are given below:  
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  ̀  in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2024

 For the year ended 
31.03.2023

(i)       Amount required to be spent by the company during the year  107.61  66.36 
(ii)      Amount of expenditure incurred  66.11  60.86 
(iii)     Shortfall at the end of the year  41.50  5.50 
(iv)    Total of previous years shortfall  -   

(v)      Reason for shortfall

Rs 41.50 lakhs transferred 
to separate bank account 
to spend for the on-going 

projects. 

Rs 5.50 lakhs transferred 
to separate bank account 
to spend for the on-going 

projects. 

(vi)     Nature of CSR activities

Education, Preventive 
Healthcare, Urban  

development, Support to 
elders, Support to homeless, 

Promotion of Arts etc.

Education, Preventive 
Healthcare, Urban  

development, Support to 
elders, Support to homeless, 

Promotion of Arts etc.
(vii)   Details of related party transactions  -    -   
(viii)  Movement in the provision made with respect to a liability incurred by entering  
          into a contractual obligation  -    -   

38 Earnings per Equity Share                                                                                                                                                                                         ` in Lakhs

Particulars  For the year ended 
31.03.2023

 For the year ended 
31.03.2022

Net Profit after tax  4,387.25  5,751.88 
Number of Equity Shares  100,000,000  100,000,000 
Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) ( in `)  4.39  5.75 
Face value per equity ( in `)  10.00  10.00 

39 Contingent Liabilties, Contingent Assets And Commitments                                                                                                                                                                                 

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023 Brief Description of the nature and obligation (` in Lakhs)  (` in Lakhs) 
A CONTINGENTLIABILITY (To the extent not provided for) 

(a) Other money for which the company is contingently liable

1

Employees Provident 
Fund and  
Miscellaneous  
Provisions Act

 129.84  129.84 

Demands raised under EPF Act, 1952 amounting to Rs 129.84 lakhs (Rs.129.84 
lakhs). The Company filed two appeal(s) before the Industrial Tribunal –cum-Labour 
Court. As directed by the Tribunal, company deposited a sum of Rs.64.72 lakhs 
(Rs.64.72 lakhs); and the recovery of balance demand is stayed till the disposal of 
appeal. Appeal No. 657/2019 was dismissed by the Tribunal on 28.03.2022 and the 
Company has filed writ petition WP(C) NO 23816/2022 before the Hon’ble High 
Court of Kerala against the said order. The court vide order dated 13.06.2024 has 
granted stay till 13.09.2024. The company is legally advised that the demands will 
not be sustainable and in the opinion of the management no provision in this regard 
is considered necessary at this stage and the amount deposited is carried over as 
receivables and disclosed under the head “Deposits” under other non-current assets.

2 Service tax  62.96  62.96 

The demand for Service tax amounting to Rs.62.96 lakhs (Rs. 62.96 lakhs) 
including penalty of Rs.23.42 lakhs (Rs.23.42 lakhs) on amounts received from 
Medical companies for clinical research activities was disputed on appeal before 
the Commissioner of Customs, Central Excise & Service Tax (Appeals).  Out of this 
the appeals for certain years involving demands of Rs.39.54 lakhs (Rs.39.54 lakhs) 
and penalty of Rs.23.42 lakhs (Rs. 23.42 lakhs) was decided against the company 
as per proceedings of the Appellate Authority.  The company has filed a second 
appeal before the Central Excise & Service Tax Appellate Tribunal.  As per the advice 
obtained by the management from the Service Tax consultants, the above referred 
amounts are exempt services and not liable for Service tax and in the opinion of the 
management, no provision is considered necessary at this stage.

28TH ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 2 3 - 2 0 2 4

128



3 Value Added Tax  655.73  655.73 

The demand for Value Added Tax amounting to Rs. 655.73 lakhs (Rs. 655.73 lakhs) 
including penalty of Rs.487.21 lakhs (Rs. 487.21 lakhs) for the period 2008-09, 
2009-10, 2010-11, 2011-12 and 2016-17 has been disputed by the Company and 
writ petition has been filed before the Hon. High Court of Kerala,  which is pending 
disposal. The Company received a stay order dated 09.06.2017 from Hon. High Court 
of Kerala. As per the advice obtained by the management from the consultants and 
in the opinion of the management, no provision is considered necessary at this stage.

4 Goods and Service tax  1.08  1.08 

The company received notice under Section 50(1) of GST Act for belated filing of GSTR 
3B with a demand of Rs. 1.08 Lakhs. Company has filed the reply along with copies of 
GSTR 3B,Electronic cash ledger and workings. No provision is considered necessary at 
this stage.

5 Income Tax  26.41  26.41 
The demand for Income tax amounting to Rs.26.41 lakhs for Assessment year 2011-
12, has been disputed and appeal was filed by the Company against the order with 
Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), no provision is considered necessary at this stage.

 221.05  221.05 

As per the assessment order for AY 2016-17, AO concluded that there exists an 
employer - employee relationship with consultant doctors and tax must have been 
deducted at source u/s 192 instead of 194J .Appeal was filed by the Company against 
the order with Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) on 24.08.2023. Hon’ble High 
Court of Kerala granted stay vide order dated 07th June 2023 and directed the CIT(A) 
to consider and pass orders. No provision is considered necessary at this stage.

 119.94  -   

With respect to AY 2017-18, AO concluded that there exists an employer - employee 
relationship with consultant doctors and tax must have been deducted at source u/s 192 
instead of 194J .Appeal was filed by the Company against the order with Commissioner of 
Income Tax (Appeals) on 23.04.2024.

 148.61  148.61 
The demand for Income tax amounting to Rs.148.61 lakhs for Assessment year 2018-
19, has been disputed and appeal was filed by the Company against the order with 
Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), no provision is considered necessary at this stage.

 96.15  96.15 

The demand for Income tax amounting to Rs.97.78 lakhs for Assessment year 2018-
19, has been disputed and appeal was filed by the Company against the order with 
Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals). Provision of Rs. 1.63 lakhs has been recognised 
in the books. No provision is considered necessary at this stage for the balance amount.

 311.87  -   

With respect to AY 2022-23, Assessing Officer made an ad-hoc disallowance of Rs. 
870.21 being expenses claimed under the head ‘Other Expenses’ alleging that the 
company could not submit the sufficient details and explanation. Appeal was filed 
before Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) on 19.04.2024. Hon’ble High Court of 
Kerala granted stay vide order dated 10.06.2024 till disposal of the stay petition filed 
along with the appeal.

6

Legal cases for  
compensation/ 
claims filed against the 
company

 564.82  530.67 
Legal cases for compensation/claims filed against the company amounts to 
Rs.564.82 lakhs (Rs.530.67 lakhs). In the opinion of the management, the cases are 
not sustainable and hence no provision is considered necessary at this stage.

7 Tide Water  821.90  821.90 

A case filed against the company in an earlier year for non-compliance with the contract 
terms amounting to Rs. 821.91 lakhs (Rs 821.91 lakhs), which was under arbitration 
as per the order of the Honourable High Court of Kerala, was partly decided against 
the company. As per the arbitration award, an amount of Rs. 257.30 lakhs (Rs 257.30 
lakhs) was determined as payable to the claimant. The company has been legally 
advised that the order of the Arbitrator is not to be accepted and had filed an appeal 
before the District Court, Ernakulam, challenging the arbitration award. Later, the case 
has been transferred to the Special Court constituted for hearing the commercial 
disputes. The arbitration OP filed against the order of Arbitrator was dismissed by the 
Commercial Court, Ernakulam vide order dated 05.12.2023. The Company have filed 
an appeal before the District & Sessions Court, Ernakulam against the said order as 
Arb. Appeal No.10007/2024.  In the opinion of the management, having regard to the 
legal advice obtained, no provision is considered necessary at this stage.
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8

Kerala Shops and 
Commercial  
Establishment 
Thozhilali Kshema 
Nidhi Board

 -    19.54 

The Company has received notice from Kerala Shops and Commercial Establishment 
Thozhilali Kshema Nidhi Board regarding non-payment of the amount due u/s 12 of 
the Kerala Shops and Commercial Establishment Workers Welfare Fund Act, 2006 
and interest thereon (for the period from 1-8-2008 to 31-8-2014), aggregating to 
Rs.19.54 lakhs. The Kerala Private Hospitals Association, of which the Company is a 
member, has filed a Writ Petition No. 23684/2008 before the Hon’ble High Court 
of Kerala against the said demand. The High Court vide order dated 26th March 
2024 quashed the demand made by the above board and allowed the writ appeals 
since the employees of the company are covered under the Employees Provident 
Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and ESI Act, 1948.

9
Payment of 
Bonus(Amendment)
Act 2015

 245.00  245.00 

During the financial year 2015-16, consequent to the amendment of the Payment 
of Bonus (Amendment) Act 2015, the ceiling of salary for the computation of 
bonus was increased with retrospective effect from 1-4-2014. The Company 
filed a writ petition before the Hon’ High Court of Kerala, and vide order dated 13th 
October 2016, the Hon’ High Court had granted an interim stay on the retrospective 
application of the amendment. The additional liability for the financial year 2014-15 
is estimated by the company at Rs.245 lakhs (Rs.245 lakhs). Based on the interim 
stay and as per the legal advice obtained, the management is of the opinion that no 
provision is considered necessary at this stage. 

B COMMITMENTS (To the extent not provided for)

1

Estimated amount of 
contracts remaining to 
be executed on capital 
account and not 
provided for:

 523.25  175.02 

2 Bank Gurantees  567.29  606.71 
Bank guarantee issued on behalf  of the company for EPCG scheme, KSEB, ECHS 
& Cochin Shipyard.

3 EPCG Scheme  1,787.65  173.17 

In respect of capital equipments imported at concessional rate of duty under the 
Export Promotion Capital Goods Scheme, the company has an export obligation of 
Rs. 1787.65 Lakhs (Rs. 173.17 Lakhs) which is required to be fulfilled at different dates 
until 2029. In the event of non fulfilment of the export obligation, the company will be 
liable for the customs duties and penalties as applicable.

40 Litigation : The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims, in the ordinary course of business. The Company’s Management does not reasonably 
expect that these legal actions, when ultimately concluded and determined, will have material and adverse effect on the Company’s results of operation.

41 Related Party disclosure as per Ind AS 24
 A. Related parties and nature of relationship

Nature of relationship Name of related parties
(a)   Key Managerial Personnel: Dr. Shamsheer Vayalil Parambath - Chairman

P.M. Sebastian - Vice Chairman
S.K. Abdulla - Managing Director
R. Narayanan - Chief Financial Officer (resigned w.e.f. November 15,2023)
R. Muraleedharan - Company Secretary
K.N. Prabhakaran Nair - Director
Dr. K.V. Johny - Director
P.D. Mathew - Director
A. Janardhana Pai - Director (resigned w.e.f  March 31,2024)
M.M. Mathai - Director
Job Varghese - Director
V Venugopal - Director (appointed w.e.f. March 31, 2022)
Dr K Chitrathara  - Director (appointed w.e.f. March 31, 2022)
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(b)     Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their 
relatives exercise significant influence/control/joint 
control 

VPS Healthcare Private Limited
Burjeel Hospital, Oman
Welcare Hospital
Dynamed Healthcare Solutions Private Limited
Humming Tree

 Note 1 : Post-employment benefits comprising gratuity and compensated absences are not disclosed, except when paid as full and final settlement, 
as these are determined for the Company as a whole.

 Note 2 : Mr E. Gireeshkumar has been appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the company with effect from 13-05-2024

 B. Summary of transactions and outstanding balances with above related parties are as follows:                                ` in Lakhs

Particulars 2023-24 2022-23
(i)       Sale of Services - Other Healthcare services   

Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives exercise  
significant control

Burjeel Hospital, Oman  -    -   
(ii)     Sale of Services - Laboratory & Diagnostic services

Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives exercise 
significant control
Welcare Hospital  4.63  3.38 

(iii)     Other Operating Revenue - Income from Restaurant
Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives exercise  
significant control
Dynamed Healthcare Solutions Private Limited  3.48  3.53 

(iv)    Employee benefit expenses
Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel
S.K. Abdulla - Managing Director (appointed as MD wef 18.07.2022)  341.09  188.31 
R. Narayanan - Chief Financial Officer (resigned w.e.f. 15.11.23 )  14.74  32.25 
R. Muraleedharan - Company Secretary  29.30  25.89 

(v)     Sitting Fee
Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel
A. Janardhana Pai - Director (resigned w.e.f March 31,2024)  4.13  3.75 
V Venugopal - Director  5.90  3.75 

(vi)    Consultancy charges
Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel
Dr K Chitrathara - Director  104.45  108.36 

(vii)    Trade Receivables - Considered good
Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives exercise  
significant control
Welcare Hospital  0.26  1.09 
Dynamed Healthcare Solutions Private Limited  0.88  3.26 

(viii)   Other Non Current Financial Assets - Deposits
Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives exercise  
significant control
VPS Healthcare Private Limited  40.26  40.26 

(ix)    Capital Advances
Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives exercise  
significant control
Humming Tree  -    20.95 

(x)     Creditors for Capital goods
Enterprises where key managerial personnel or their relatives exercise  
significant control
Humming Tree  2.76  -   
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42 Lease arrangements                                                                                                                                                                                                   ` in Lakhs
Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

a)     Towards lease rent
Not later than one year  161.64  108.97 
Later than one year and not later than five years  418.98  511.96 
Later than five years  -    82.89 

43 Segment Reporting
 Based on the guiding principles given in Ind AS- “Segment Reporting”, the company has only one reportable segment i.e. “Hospital Activities”. During 

the period there are no customers who is contributing more than 10% of revenue from operations.

44 Capital Management     
 The company’s objective when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern so that they can continue to provide 

returns for shareholders and maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.     

 For the purpose of capital management, capital includes issued equity capital and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company. The company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.     

 Management monitors capital on the basis of return on capital employed as well as the debt to total equity ratio.
 ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Borrowings including current maturities  2.65  1,302.40 
Borrowings as a percentage of Total Capital 0.01% 3.37%
Equity Share Capital  10,000.00  10,000.00 
Other equity  30,022.23  27,344.92 
Total Equity  40,022.23  37,344.92 
Total equity as a percentage of Total Capital 99.99% 96.63%
Total Capital (Equity and Borrowings)  40,024.88  38,647.32 

 No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. 

45 Financial instruments: Fair value and risk management    

 A. Accounting classification and fair values
  The fair value hierarchy is based on inputs to valuation techniques that are used to measure fair value that are either observable or unobservable 

and consist of the following three levels:    

  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date

  Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly. 

  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

  The following table summarises financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and financial assets that are not 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

 As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                                                                                   ` in Lakhs

Financial assets/ financial liabilities Amortised Cost
Fair Value hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial Assets
Non Current

(i)     Others  1,602.83  -    -    -   
Current

(i)     Trade Receivables  2,687.14  -    -    -   
(ii)    Cash & Cash equivalents  993.28  -    -    -   
(iii)   Bank Balances other than (ii)  6,672.41  -    -    -   
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(iv)   Loans  2.48  -    -    -   
(v)    Others  675.32  -    -    -   

Total Financial Assets  12,633.46  -    -    -   
Financial Liabilities
Non Current

(i)    Borrowings  -    -    -    -   
(ii)   Lease liabilities  361.15  -    -    -   

Current
(i)    Borrrowings  2.65  -    -    -   
(ii)   Lease liabilities  66.94  -    -    -   
(iii)  Trade Payables  3,279.49  -    -    -   
(iv)  Other financial liablities  2,979.80  -    -    -   

Total Financial Liabilities  6,690.03  -    -    -   

 As at March 31, 2023                                                                                                                                                                                                  ` in Lakhs

Financial assets/ financial liabilities Amortised Cost Fair Value hierarchy
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets
Non Current

(i)     Others  1,321.66  -    -    -   
Current

(i)     Trade Receivables  1,998.89  -    -    -   
(ii)    Cash & Cash equivalents  3,663.15  -    -    -   
(iii)   Bank Balances other than (iii)  6,178.19  -    -    -   
(iv)   Loans  5.58  -    -    -   
(v)    Others  986.13  -    -    -   

Total Financial Assets  14,153.60  -    -    -   
Financial Liabilities
Non Current

(i)    Borrowings  723.56  -    -    -   
(ii)   Lease liabilities  427.46  -    -    -   

Current
(i)    Borrrowings  578.85  -    -    -   
(ii)   Lease liabilities  54.47  -    -    -   
(iii)  Trade Payables  3,539.38  -    -    -   
(iv)  Other financial liablities  3,521.04  -    -    -   

Total Financial Liabilities  8,844.76  -    -    -   

B. Financial risk management    
  The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk.

  i.  Credit risk
   Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligation under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to 

financial loss. The credit risk arises principally from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its investing activities, 
including deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments.

   Credit risk is controlled by analysing credit limits and creditworthiness of customers on a continuous basis to whom credit has been 
granted after obtaining necessary approvals for credit. The collection from the trade receivables are monitored on a continuous basis by 
the receivables team.

   The Company establishes an allowance for credit loss that represents its estimate of expected losses in respect of trade and other 
receivables based on the past and the recent collection trend. The maximum exposure to credit risk as at reporting date is primarily from 
trade receivables amounting to Rs.4725.95  Lakhs (previous year: Rs. 4026.78 Lakhs). The movement in allowance for credit loss in 
respect of trade and other receivables during the year was as follows:
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                ` in Lakhs

Particulars  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

Opening balance  2,027.89  929.03 

Expected credit loss recognised/(reversed)  10.92  1,098.86 

Less: Bad debts written off adjusted  -    -   

Closing balance  2,038.81  2,027.89 

   No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the revenue as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. There is no significant 
concentration of credit risk.

   Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited as the Company generally transacts with banks and financial institutions with high 
credit ratings assigned by international and domestic credit rating agencies.

  ii. Liquidity risk
   Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that 

are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, 
that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. In addition, the Company maintains line of credit as stated in Note 20.

 The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as of March 31, 2024:                                                                                                                                           
                                                                                                                      ` in Lakhs

Particulars Less than 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years Total

Borrowings (including current maturities)  2.65  -    -    2.65 

Lease liabilities  66.94  350.93  10.22  428.09 

Trade payables  3,279.49  -    -    3,279.49 

Other financial liabilities (excluding current maturities)  2,979.80  -    -    2,979.80 

 The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as of March 31, 2023:
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   ` in Lakhs

Particulars Less than 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years Total

Borrowings (including current maturities)  578.85  723.56  -    1,302.41 

Lease liabilities  54.47  304.71  122.75  481.93 

Trade payables  3,539.38  -    -    3,539.38 

Other financial liabilities (excluding current maturities)  3,521.04  -    -    3,521.04 

  iii. Market risk 
   Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, 

such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates.

   (a) Foreign currency risk
   The Company undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations 

arise. The Company is mainly exposed to US dollar and Omani Rial.    

   The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting 
date are as follows:

Particulars
 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

(USD in Lakhs) (OMR in Lakhs)  (USD in Lakhs) (OMR in Lakhs)
Trade receivables  -    -    -    -   

Trade payables  -    -    (7.01)  -   

Net assets/(liabilities)  -    -    (7.01)  -   
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   (b) Sensitivity analysis
   The sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in exchange rates arises mainly from foreign currency denominated financial instruments.

                                    ` in Lakhs

Particulars Impact on profit or (loss) before tax
 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

USD Sensitivity
INR/USD - Increase by 1%  -    (5.76)
INR/USD - Decrease by 1%  -    5.76 
OMR Sensitivity
INR/OMR - Increase by 1%  -    -   
INR/OMR - Decrease by 1%  -    -   

   (c) Interest rate risk
   The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which expose the Company to cash flow 

interest rate risk. The exposure of the Company’s borrowing to interest rate changes at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
                                    ` in Lakhs

Financial liabilities (bank borrowings)  As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023
Variable rate long term borrowings including current maturities  -    1,302.41 

   (d) Sensitivity                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               ` in Lakhs

Particulars Impact on profit or (loss) before tax
 As at 31.03.2024  As at 31.03.2023

1% increase in MCLR rate  -    (13.02)
1% decrease in MCLR rate  -    13.02 

 The interest rate sensitivity is based on the closing balance of secured term loans from banks and financial institutions.

46 Additional information pursuant to paragraph 2 of Division II of Schedule III to the Companies Act 2013 - ‘General instructions for the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements’

 As at / For the year ended 31 March 2024                                                                                                                                                      ` in Lakhs

Name of the entity in the group

Net Assets, i.e., total  
assets minus total liabilities

Share in profit  
and loss

Share in other  
Comprehensive income

Share in total  
Comprehensive income

As % of  
consolidated 

net assets
Amount

As % of  
consolidated 

profit and 
loss

Amount

As % of con-
solidated other 
comprehensive 

income

Amount
As % of total 

comprehensive 
income

Amount

Parent
Lakeshore Hospital And  
Research Centre Limited 100.02%  40,030.52 100.01%  4,388.58 100.00%  -9.94 100.03%  4,378.64 

Subsidiary
Indian subsidiaries
Lakeshore Food And Beverages 
Private Limited -0.02%  -8.29 -0.01%  -1.33 0.00%  -   100.03%  -1.33 

Total 100.00%  40,022.23 100%  4,387.25 100%  -9.94 100%  4,377.31 

 As at / For the year ended 31 March 2023                                                                                                                                                      ` in Lakhs

Name of the entity in the group

Net Assets, i.e., total  
assets minus total liabilities

Share in profit  
and loss

Share in other  
Comprehensive income

Share in total  
Comprehensive income

As % of  
consolidated 

net assets
Amount

As % of  
consolidated 

profit and 
loss

Amount

As % of con-
solidated other 
comprehensive 

income

Amount
As % of total 

comprehensive 
income

Amount

Parent

Lakeshore Hospital And  
Research Centre Limited 100.02%  37,351.88 100.01%  5,752.36 100.00%  -28.18 100.01%  5,724.18 
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Subsidiary
Indian subsidiaries
Lakeshore Food And Beverages 
Private Limited -0.02%  -6.96 -0.01%  -0.48 0.00%  -   -0.01%  -0.48 

Total 100.00%  37,344.92 100%  5,751.88 100%  -28.18 100%  5,723.70 

47 The Company has made adequate provision towards material foreseeable losses wherever required, in respect of long term contracts. The Company 
do not have any long term derivative contracts for which there were any material foreseeable losses. 

48 The Code on Social Security, 2020 and Code on Wages, 2019 relating to employee benefits during employment and post-employment benefits has 
received Presidential assent in September 2020. The Code have been published in the Gazette of India. However, the date from which the Code will 
come into effect has not been notified. The Ministry of Labour and Employment (Ministry) has released draft rules for the Code on November 13, 
2020 and has invited suggestions from stake holders which are under active consideration by the Ministry. The Company will need to assess the 
impact of the above. The impact will be recorded in the first period after the Codes become effective. 

49 Additional Regulatory Information:
49.1 Ratios:

Ratio Numerator Denominator 31  March 24 31  March 23  % change
(a)   Current Ratio Current assets Current liabilities  1.80  1.76 2%
(b)   Debt-Equity Ratio Total Debt Shareholder’s Equity  0.00  0.03 -100%
(c)   Debt Service Coverage    
         Ratio

Earnings available for debt 
service Debt Service  42.17  9.83 329%

(d)   Return on Equity Ratio Net Profits after taxes Average Shareholder’s 
Equity  0.11  0.16 -31%

(e)   Inventory Turnover Ratio Cost of goods sold Average Inventory  9.67  9.26 5%
(f)    Trade Receivables  
         Turnover Ratio Net Sales Avg. Accounts Receivable  16.91  20.89 -19%

(g)   Trade Payables Turnover Ratio Net Purchases Average Trade Payables  3.27  3.26 0%
(h)   Net Capital Turnover Ratio Net Sales Working Capital  7.20  6.79 6%
(i)     Net Profit Ratio Net Profit Net Sales  0.11  0.14 -19%
(j)     Return on Capital  
         Employed

Earning before  
interest and taxes Capital Employed  0.14  0.22 -36%

(k)   Return on Investment Income generated  
from invested funds

Average invested funds 
(excluding investment in 

subsidiaries)
NA NA NA

 Explanation for change in the ratios by more than 25%:
 a. Since loan has been pre-closed during the current financial year,  the debt equity ratio is Zero for the year
 b. Better DSCR at 42.17 on account  of reduced borrowings and healthy cash flows
 c. ROE at 11% on account of decrease in PAT during the year.
 d. Return on capital employed decreased due to fall in profitability 

49.2 Other statutory information     
 a. The Company does not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Company for holding any 

Benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.

 b. During the year the company has preclosed a term loan and is currently in the process of completing the necessary documentation to satisfy 
the charge registered with ROC

 c. The Company has not traded or invested in Cryptocurrency or Virtual Currency during the year ended March 31, 2024.

 d. The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other persons or entities, including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with 
the understanding that the Intermediary shall:

  (i) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company 
(Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

  (ii) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

 e. The Company has not received any fund from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding 
(whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Company shall:
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  (i) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party 
(Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

  (ii) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

 f. The Company does not have any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as 
income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of 
the Income Tax Act, 1961).

 g. The Company do not have any transactions with companies struck off.

 h. The Company has not been declared as a Wilful Defaulter by any bank or financial institution or Government or any Government authority.

 i. Quarterly returns/statements of Inventory and Trade Receivables filed by the Company with banks are in agreement with the books of 
accounts.The company has also availed working capital loans secured against fixed deposits. The company is not required to file quarterly 
returns or statements for such loans.

 j. The title deeds of all the immovable properties (other than properties where the Company is the lessee and the lease agreements are duly 
executed in favour of the lessee) are held in the name of the Company.

 k. The company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets during the year.

50 Previous year figures have been regrouped and classified wherever necessary to conform to the current year presentation.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached

For M/s Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 001488S

sd/-
C.R. Rema
Partner
Membership No: 029182

Place : Kochi
Date : 08.08.2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

sd/-
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer
Chairman
DIN: 02371712

sd/-
S.K. Abdulla
Managing Director
DIN: 09627792

sd/-
E. Gireeshkumar
Chief Financial Officer

sd/-
Hari Mohan H
Director
Din: 10650876

sd/-
R. Muraleedharan
Company Secretary

28TH ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 2 3 - 2 0 2 4

137









DIVIDEND

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

INTERNATIONAL PATIENTS

INPATIENTS (IP)

INCOME

CONSULTATION (OP)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Dr. Vayalil Parambath Shamsheer

Chairman

Mr. P.M Sebastian
Vice Chairman

Mr. S K Abdulla
Managing Director

Mr. K.N Prabhakaran Nair
Dr. K.V Johny

Mr. P.D Mathew
Mr. A. Janardhana Pai

Mr. M.M Mathai
Mr. Job Varghese

Dr. K Chithrathara 
Mr. V Venugopal 
Mr Hari Mohan

Mr Reuben Joseph

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Mr. Gireesh Kumar E

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. R Muraleedharan

REGISTERED OFFICE & HOSPITAL
XV/612, Maradu, Kanayannur Taluk

Nettoor P.O., Ernakulam
Kochi - 682040

STATUTORY AUDITORS
M/s. Krishnamoorthy & Krishnamoorthy

Kochi - 16

INTERNAL AUDITORS
M/s. Varma & Varma

Kochi - 19

SECRETARIAL AUDITORS
M/s. BVR & Associates Company Secretaries LLP

Kochi - 16

COST AUDITORS
M/s. BBS & Associates

Kochi - 35

BANKERS
HDFC Bank Ltd.
AXIS Bank Ltd.

Federal Bank Ltd.

LEGAL ADVISORS
M/s. Menon & Pai

Kochi - 18

M/s. Thomas & Thomas
Kochi - 18

M/s. Dandapani Associates
Kochi - 35




